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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present, as the chairman of the board (the “Board”)
of directors (the “Directors”) of GR Life Style Company Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), the report
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”).

During the Year, the Group principally engaged in (i) the provision of
property management services in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”), and (ji) property development and investment in the PRC,
the United States of America (the “USA”) and the United Kingdom
(the “UK”).

In recent years, the Group’s (i) property development and investment
projects including Guorui Square Block B in the PRC, Juxon House
in London, the Santa Monica project and Culver City project in
Los Angeles; and (i) property management business in the PRC,
brought significant contributions to the development of the Group.
The management team demonstrated a dynamic and professional
business style. The main direction for the management team is
to build on the Group’s longstanding experience and excellent
track record in property development and investment industry
worldwide, in order to channel its capabilities in new directions that
will create greater value for the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”).
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Looking ahead, the Group will continue to focus on property
development and investment, as well as relevant asset management
services, to create value for the shareholders. As in the past,
when considering investments in the international markets such
as the USA and Europe, the Group will continue to follow the
development blueprint and maintain a prudent attitude in capturing
investment opportunities so as to provide a reasonable return to the
shareholders. In the past few years, other than capturing investment
opportunities to establish the position and engage in the property
market in Los Angeles and London for income generating real
estates with potential for capital appreciation in the long term and
re-development in the future, the Group’s focus also continued to
be on the execution of existing projects, achieving goals including
but not limited to enhancement of operating performance as well
as facilitation of project development. Besides, the Group will not
rule out any possibilities to divest its investment with decent return.
The Directors believe that after the acquisitions in the past few
years and through execution of existing projects, the Group will be
able to broaden its income base through the stable rental incomes
generated from the properties.

In addition to the Group’s property investments in the PRC, the
USA and the UK, the Group will increase its investment in property
management and other services in core cities around the world
in the future. The Group will fully utilise its core strengths in asset
management, property management and community operation to
build an integrated ecosystem that encompasses “intelligent real
estate and digital healthcare”. It will focus on family doctors, in-
home elderly care, chronic disease management and community
healthcare services, aiming to develop healthy living solutions for
families.
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| would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude
to the fellow members of the Board, and on behalf of the Board,
the management and entire staff of the Group for their diligent work
and contribution in the past year. Last but not least, | would like to
extend my sincerest appreciation to the investors and Shareholders
for their continuing confidence in and support for the Group over the
years. In 2025, the business portfolio of the Group will continue to
be optimised and rationalised in order to motivate the Company’s
future development and business growth. We will devote our best
efforts to generate encouraging returns for our supportive investors
and Shareholders.

Yours faithfully,
WEI CHUNXIAN

Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2025
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”), the operations
of the Group were organised into business units based on the nature
of their products and services. There were two reportable operating
segments, including (i) the property management segment; and
(i) the property development and investment segment. The first
segment was carried out in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) whereas the second segment was carried out in the PRC,
the United States of America (the “USA”) and the United Kingdom
(the “UK”).

Beijing AOCEAN Property Management Company Limited* (3t %
SRS EAR AR, (‘(AOCEAN”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, provides property management services for
office buildings, residential properties and car parks. As at 31
December 2024, AOCEAN managed 18 major residential and
commercial property projects, which were located in the PRC.
The services provided by AOCEAN under the management
agreements thereof include, inter alia (i) provision of heating supply
and maintenance services of heat exchange stations and pipeline
network; (i) provision of management services to car parks such as
maintenance of various facilities and equipment in the car parks; and
(iii) provision of property management services to vacant properties
and general management services such as repair and maintenance
of buildings and fire safety equipment and facilities for residential
and commercial property projects.

Adhering to the principle of being human-oriented, and perceiving
the market from the perspective of customers and market needs,
AOCEAN has been improving and perfecting its management
system and continues to provide professional services to its
customers.
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During the Year, the Group carried on its property development and
investment business in the USA, the UK and the PRC.

Santa Monica project

The Santa Monica project, located in Santa Monica, the
County of Los Angeles, State of California, the USA, has a
total site area of approximately 40,615 square feet (the “US
Complex”). According to the land title, the development
for the site is a mixed-use three stories development.
Total rentable/saleable floor area is approximately 25,000
square feet for commercial use and 38,000 square feet
for residential use and there are 190 on-site subterranean
parking spaces. Approximately average of 91% of the
commercial area and average of 97% of the residential
area have been leased out, respectively, during the Year.
The plan for the Santa Monica project is to lease out all the
commercial units and the residential units.

Culver City project

Culver City project is a 36,319 square feet redevelopment
site located at the south corner of Washington Boulevard
and Motor Avenue in Culver City, Los Angeles County,
California, the USA. The land title allows for the development
of 139 residential units, of which 14 units would be income
restricted for residents at the extremely low income level,
and 1,969 square feet of ground floor would be commercial
space. Its construction started since September 2021.

The Directors consider the Culver City project to be an
attractive investment opportunity to diversify the Group’s
property development operations in the USA, as this land
is located within walking distance to the heart of Culver
City, Los Angeles, which is the hub of a number of motion
pictures and other production studios and is within well-
established transportation network. Culver City project is
expected to further cement the Group’s foothold in the
western USA and enhance the Group’s overall geographical
diversification of business.
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Juxon House

Juxon House is located at 100 St Paul’s Churchyard,
London, the UK. It is situated in a prominent location on
the northwest side of St Paul’s Cathedral, with St Paul’'s
Churchyard at its south, Ave Maria Lane at its west and
Paternoster Square to the east, which is a prime professional
and financial district with the London Stock Exchange and
some multinational organisations having offices in the near
vicinity. Juxon House is a grade A commercial building with
a net lettable floor area of approximately 123,781 square
feet, among which the office accommodation, the retail
accommodation, and the ancillary and storage area have
a net lettable floor area of 100,774 square feet, 20,083
square feet and 2,924 square feet respectively. Juxon House
comprises a lower ground floor, a ground floor and five
upper floors, basement storage and 20 car park spaces.
Juxon House was let to two office tenants and two retail
tenants, which contributed approximately £5.8 million rental
income to the Group for the Year.

Guorui Square Block B

The Group holds all units with a gross floor area of
approximately 68,685 square meters in Building No. 2 of
Kingdom Guorui (B ${e &), No.1 Ronghua South Road,
Daxing District, Beijing, the PRC (“Guorui Square Block B”),
which are for office use.

The Company planned to sell or lease certain units of Guorui
Square Block B, subject to market conditions in Yizhuang (7i
#), Beijing, the PRC. Currently, certain units were leased out
to tenants under medium or long term leases.
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Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
BE-Z-MmF BHE_T_=F
t=A=+—H t-A=1+—H
IHFE IEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue WA 310,017 352,640
Loss for the year AFERIE (919,344) (129,307)
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
R-ZE-MF RZEZ=F
+=ZA=+—H +=-A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Total assets BEEE 5,423,471 6,412,623
Total liabilities BEEE 3,290,961 3,310,331
Net assets BE T 2,132,510 3,102,292
Net debt” ERERR" 2,412,335 2,345,272
Capital liquidity ratio** BN L 0.15 0.26
Gearing ratio” BEBER: 110.7% 74.5%
" The amount represented bank and other borrowings less cash and ~ * ZHIEERITREMERRE S MRS EE
cash equivalents )
b The ratio represented cash and cash equivalents divided by current ~ ** L ERERSRBESSEYHRIATBAE
liabilities
# The ratio represented net debt divided by equity attributable to  *# LRI E R FRARR AR A R IR (L

VAR K A ATHARR B A ) B B ER D

shareholders of the Company and liability component of perpetual
convertible bonds
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During the Year, the Group generated revenue of approximately
HK$310,017,000 (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$352,640,000). The property management segment reported
segment revenue of approximately HK$169,816,000 (31
December 2023: approximately HK$204,622,000). The property
development and investment segment reported segment revenue of
approximately HK$140,201,000 (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$148,018,000), contributed by the rental income from the
operating leases of certain portion of units in the US Complex,
Juxon House and Guorui Square Block B. The Group recorded a
loss for the Year of approximately HK$919,344,000 (31 December
2023: approximately HK$129,307,000). The increase in loss is
mainly attributable to (i) the increase in fair value loss of investment
properties of approximately HK$618,718,000 during the Year; and
(i) the decrease in remeasurement gain upon transfer of certain
properties held for sale to investment properties of approximately
HK$189,303,000 during the Year.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding balance of bank and
other borrowings was approximately HK$2,605,486,000 (31
December 2023: approximately HK$2,650,828,000), of which the
balance mainly consisted of (i) two bank loans of approximately
HK$1,523,803,000 (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$1,572,637,000) secured by Juxon House, certain portion
of Guorui Square Block B and lease receivables; (i) other loans
of approximately HK$1,080,382,000 (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$1,075,105,000) secured by the US Complex and
its lease receivables and rights to future lease receivables over the
Culver City project; and (i) lease liabilities balances of approximately
HK$1,301,000 (31 December 2023: approximately HK$3,086,000).

For details of bank and other borrowings, please refer to note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements in this report.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had available cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$193,151,000 (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$305,556,000).

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2024 was 110.7% (31
December 2023: 74.5%). The increase in the gearing ratio was
mainly due to the decrease of net assets.
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During the Year, the Group’s business operations were principally
located in the PRC, the UK and the USA and the main operational
currencies are Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), Renminbi (“RMB”),
Pound sterling (“€”) and United States dollars (“US$”). The Group’s
transactions were mainly denominated in RMB, £ and US$. The
majority of its assets and liabilities are denominated in HK$, RMB,
£ and US$. Any significant exchange rate fluctuations of foreign
currencies against HK$ may have financial impact to the Group.
The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy at
present. However, the Group will closely monitor the exchange
rate movement trend and take corresponding measures in a timely
manner to reduce foreign currency exchange risk and exposure.

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of employees of the
Group (excluding Directors) was 428 (31 December 2023: 315).
Most of them were located in the PRC.

The total remuneration of the employees of the Group for the
Year was approximately HK$86,742,000 (31 December 2023:
approximately HK$73,376,000).

The emolument of each of the Directors and the employees of the
Group was determined on the basis of their merit, qualification,
competence and experience in the industry, the profitability of the
Group as well as remuneration benchmarks from other local and
international companies and prevailing market conditions. Executive
Directors and employees also participate in bonus arrangements
which are determined in accordance with the performance of the
Group and the individual’s performance.

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained an appropriate
liquidity position throughout the Year. The Group strives to reduce
exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit evaluation of
the financial condition of its customers. To manage liquidity risk,
the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

The Board resolved not to declare any final dividend for the Year (31
December 2023: Nil).
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had investment properties
and properties held for sale amounting to approximately
HK$4,603,293,000 in total (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$5,483,381,000) to secure bank and other borrowings and
financial guarantee contracts. Such bank and other borrowings
comprise of loans presented in the section headed “Financial
analysis” of this report on page 11.

As at 31 December 2024, certain trade and lease receivables of
approximately HK$61,324,000 (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$48,031,000) in total were pledged to secure bank and other
loans granted to the Group.

To secure a bank loan and a loan from a financial institution
granted to the Group, bank deposits amounting to approximately
HK$118,155,000 (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$184,693,000) has been classified as restricted cash and no
principal-protected deposit (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$17,261,000) has been maintained as at 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities (31 December 2023: Nil). As at 31 December 2024,
the Group had contracted but not provided for commitments for
construction in progress for an investment property amounting to
approximately HK$59,439,000 (31 December 2023: approximately
HK$70,301,000). The details of the information of the Group's
contingent liabilities are set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements in this report.
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The Group had not made any significant investments, acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during
the Year.

30,000,000 share options were granted to an employee on 28
April 2023 under the Company’s share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”), which were vested on 28 April 2024 and can be
exercised within 3 years from the date of grant to 27 April 2026. The
exercise price of the share options is HK$0.922 per share. Further
details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 28 April
2023 and note 34 to the consolidated financial statements in this
report.

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of outstanding share
options under the Share Option Scheme is 30,000,000, representing
approximately 0.9% of the total number of issued shares of the
Company. The total number of shares that may be issued in respect
of share options granted under all schemes of the Company during
the Year divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue
for the Year was approximately 0.9%. The total number of share
options available for grant under the scheme mandate of the Share
Option Scheme as at 1 January 2024, 31 December 2024 and 31
March 2025 were 289,937,398, 289,937,398 and 289,937,398,
respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no share option was
exercised or cancelled that, as at 1 January 2024, 31 December
2024 and 31 March 2025, the total number of shares available for
issue under the Share Option Scheme (i.e. the 10% limit of shares
to be issued less shares exercised or cancelled under the Share
Option Scheme) were 319,937,398, 319,937,398 and 319,937,398,
respectively, representing 10% of the total number of issued shares
of the Company.

There is no plan for making material investments or acquiring capital
assets as at the date of this report.

*

for identification purposes only
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Looking ahead, the Group will continue to focus on property
development and investment, as well as relevant asset management
services, to create value for the shareholders. As in the past,
when considering investments in the international markets such
as the USA and Europe, the Group will continue to follow the
development blueprint and maintain a prudent attitude in capturing
investment opportunities so as to provide a reasonable return to the
shareholders. In the past few years, other than capturing investment
opportunities to establish the position and engage in the property
market in Los Angeles and London for income generating real
estates with potential for capital appreciation in the long term and
re-development in the future, the Group’s focus also continued to
be on the execution of existing projects, achieving goals including
but not limited to enhancement of operating performance as well
as facilitation of project development. Besides, the Group will not
rule out any possibilities to divest its investment with decent return.
The Directors believe that after the acquisitions in the past few
years and through execution of existing projects, the Group will be
able to broaden its income base through the stable rental incomes
generated from the properties.

In addition to the Group’s property investments in the PRC, the
USA and the UK, the Group will increase its investment in property
management and other services in core cities around the world
in the future. The Group will fully utilise its core strengths in asset
management, property management and community operation to
build an integrated ecosystem that encompasses “intelligent real
estate and digital healthcare”. It will focus on family doctors, in-
home elderly care, chronic disease management and community
healthcare services, aiming to develop healthy living solutions for
families.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold, redeemed or cancelled any of the Company’s listed securities
during the Year.

The audit committee has reviewed the annual results and has
no dissenting view on the accounting policies of the companies
adopted by the Group and on the Group’s internal controls and risk
management, accounting and financial reporting functions.

As at 31 December 2024, the audit committee comprised three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tung Woon
Cheung Eric (chairman of the audit committee), Ms. To Tsz Wan
Vivien and Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming.
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This is the 9th Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
Report (the “Report”) of GR Life Style Company Limited (“GR Life
Style” or the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”
or “we”) issued to stakeholders, which aims to provide a balanced
representation of the efforts made by the Group on corporate social
responsibility and sustainable development during the year ended
31 December 2024 (the “Year” or “2024”). The Report was prepared
in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) in Appendix C2 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Group has two major operating segments based on the
nature of its products and services, which include: (i) the property
management business in the mainland (“Mainland China”) of
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”); and (i) the property
development and investment business in Mainland China, the
United Kingdom (the “UK”) and the United States of America (the
“US”). The reporting scope has been determined primarily by the
Group’s management based on its assessment of the operating
performance of Group’s segments and its allocation of resources,
which includes the entities that represent the Group’s major source
of revenue during the Year. Therefore, the Report covers the entities
involved in the Group’s property management business in Mainland
China and the property development and investment business in
Mainland China, namely the North Garden project* (Jt7EEIIER),
the Kingdom Guorui project* (Bl§% e £ 788 H), the Fortune Street
project* (B4m#E ), the ChengdianManTi project” (2484278 R),
the Guorui Plaza project” (B8} /&3518 B ), the Yigou project” (518
H), the In Beijing project* (Ink 338 B), the Golden Tower project* (&
K%ZIER), the Sanya project” (=258 H), the Chengdu Qingbaijiang
project * (Ax & & {8 H) and the Guangzhou Guorui Science City
Future Technology Valley project™ (BN B $5 Rl E25 R R BHE A IE H)
(the “Reporting Scope”).

° The English name is an unofficial translation for identification purpose
only.
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The Report summarises the ESG performance of the Group.
Information set out in the Report is derived from the official
documents and statistics of the Group, as well as monitoring,
management and operational data compiled by its subsidiaries in
accordance with the Group’s relevant systems. The Report has
complied with the mandatory disclosure requirements and “comply
or explain” provisions of the ESG Reporting Guide. A complete index
is provided in the last section of this Report for easy reference. In
the process of preparing the Report, the Group also attaches great
importance to the reporting principles of “materiality”, “quantitative”,
“balance”, and “consistency”, and has applied them in accordance
with the ESG Reporting Guide as follows:

Materiality: Material ESG issues identified have been made the
focus of the preparation of the Report. The materiality of various
material ESG issues has been reviewed and confirmed by the
board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) and the ESG
working group of the Company (the “ESG Working Group”). For
further details, please refer to the sections headed “Stakeholders
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment” in the Report.

Quantitative: The Report compares the quantitative key
performance indicators (“KPIs”) as appropriate, and sets out the
standards, methods, assumptions used in calculating the relevant
data and the sources of key conversion factors in the explanatory
notes.

Balance: The Report provides an unbiased picture of the Group’s
performance and avoids selections, omissions, or presentation
formats that may inappropriately influence a decision or judgment
by the reader.

Consistency: The approach adopted for the preparation of the
Report is basically the same as last year, except for the changes in
certain factors regarding GHG emissions and energy calculations.
Any changes in the factors affecting the actual comparative results
or any of the calculation methods are specifically explained in the
Report.

We highly value opinions of each stakeholder and treat them as
the cornerstone for the development of the Group. If you have
any opinions or suggestions on the Report and our sustainable
development performance, please send us your comments via email
at info@grlifestyle.com.hk.

\

ABEBAAEERNRE - G RERKRA -
AEREFHERRENEENE 7 XAFMG
B - AREWMBARREASEREEGEE
BHETR - BEEMEERE  c ARENEIR
B e REIAWE RS AR B I EE B 5K
[ NETIEE R - ABENRE —BAT
EMABTRS > MEEBEREESMH - AREE
REAREREETNSEERERE - B
FaEM—EE - AREKERE  HERER
WEESIER T ELERRA - FIBWOT

ERM  EHEIANERE HEREREAZA
BRREARENER - TREARE - HE
MERBENERZUERAARREER([ES
B RARRIRE - & REATIFMANIR
B e MERTFA]EMNER - GR%
—FHIE FEEARSFNHESE |RE
R I FEh -

Bt : AREEESNIBER TR T E(CmRE
RAEPUER ([ FARAENIER]) - WERBEMER
B SIRR T R ERBEEIERNRE 75 - R
R AREEZHBRZHRIR o

T AR HAEE 2 KRBT EL
Al L EUTIRENRIE R L2 WS
HIEEE -

— 3 BRERBHM MR ESTEE
THEENEEI  AREWRHEE EFE
A—H  BEEAZEHENERLERRN
REHEAAEENEC - ARET SRR
A8 o

BMERE—ERHENEREHEEER - R
ZRAEEMMBEENER - BTHAR
ERAREENARFEERRRATMNERSKE
# 115 8 E Binfo@grlifestyle.com.hka 1
PR o

FHH 2024 BBEFERATF



The Board assumes full responsibility for the Group’s ESG issues,
and sets out ESG management approach, strategy, priorities and
objectives. The Board is diverse in its composition and the members
are equipped with the appropriate technical capabilities, experience,
knowledge and perspectives required to oversee and supervise the
ESG matters of the Group. In order to better manage the Group’s
ESG performance, the Board discusses ESG issues collectively,
evaluates and determines ESG-related risks and opportunities
of the Group, reviews the materiality of ESG issues, as well as
reviews the Group’s performance against ESG-related targets at
least once a year. To demonstrate its commitment to transparency
and accountability, the Group has established the ESG Working
Group, which has clear terms of reference that set out the powers
delegated to it by the Board.

The ESG Working Group consists of senior management and
general staff members from various departments of the Group such
as operation, human resources and finance. The ESG Working
Group reports at least annually to the Board and is responsible
for implementing the ESG measures of the Group, collecting and
analysing ESG data, advising the Board on ESG issues, as well
as reviewing ESG-related issues of different departments in the
Group. On the other hand, the Board is responsible for ensuring
that the management is provided with all the appropriate tools and
resources to oversee the implementation of relevant strategies so as
to create long-term ESG value.

The Group has established a CSR Policy in order to commit to
the highest standards of corporate governance, and aims to
integrate CSR into the Group’s business strategy and management
approach. CSR is viewed as a business philosophy that creates
shared sustainable value with its stakeholders in the economic,
social and environmental dimensions. The Group’s CSR vision
and CSR Policy guide the Group’s business and operational
decisions. The CSR Policy describes our long-term approach to
specific issues in the four basic aspects: marketplace, workplace,
community and environment, which is instrumental in enabling our
business to operate in a sustainable manner. Within each of the
basic aspects, core principles and pragmatic objectives provide
guidance on practicing CSR in our daily operations. In response
to PRC government’s goal of “achieving carbon neutrality” and
to fulfil stakeholders’ expectations of the Group in the materiality
assessment, we have set environmental targets for the first
time in 2021, which cover areas such as emissions reduction,
waste management and resource conservation. The progress of
implementation and performance of such targets are duly reviewed
by the Board at least annually. If our performance fails to meet the
targets, the Board will conduct improvement work through the ESG
Working Group.
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SUSTAINABILITY

Sustainable development is a long-term commitment of a responsible
enterprise, and is deeply rooted in our people-oriented business.
We have been implementing the sustainable operational strategy to
bring a better life for the public, through our continuous efforts to
enhance the sustainability of the environment, ensure high quality
services, build an outstanding and strong service team, conduct
rigorous supply chain management, maintain a high level of ethics
and integrity, and care for disadvantaged groups in the community,
etc.
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RIR - HEREAHS

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group endeavours to create sustainable growth and long-term
value for its stakeholders, including the Group’s shareholders and
investors, employees, property owners and households, suppliers
and business partners, government and the local community. We
continue to interact with our stakeholders on an ongoing basis in
order to understand their views and collect their feedback.

Our channels of daily communication with stakeholders are as
follows:
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Qualification review Employee meeting Direct communication
BENE BIgH HEBA
Meeting Training On-site inspection
B il RIFER
Direct communication Annual meeting Regular review
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Local community Shar:eholders and
O investors
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Website Shareholders’ meeting
Huh R &E
Social media Annual report, financial statement
FERR RS and announcement
Mass media FR - MBRERDE
RBEE Social media
Visit FERR RS
REEE Website
Mobile application 48uh
FierAREN Mass media
RBEE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

We conduct materiality assessment in order to better understand
the opinions and expectations of our stakeholders. We ensure that
we utilise various platforms and communication channels to reach
out and listen to major stakeholders and respond to their opinions.
Feedback received from stakeholders enable us to make better
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informed decisions and to assess and manage the resulting impact It ESHISZE -
of such decisions more effectively.

The specific steps of the materiality assessment are as follows: SEMHOER TELENT -

Identification &5l

Based on industry standards and the results of the Group’s materiality assessment in the previous year, the Group
identifies and confirms material ESG issues, which cover the areas of “quality of working environment”, “environmental
protection and green operations”, “operational practices”, “product and service responsibilities” and “contribution to
communities”. If there is no material change in the development of the Group's business and its industry, the materiality
assessment results in the previous year will be applied. Otherwise, the Group will conduct materiality assessment based
on the updated list of material ESG issues.
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Assessment (&

If the list of material ESG issues is updated, the Group will prepare questionnaires for the materiality assessment based
on the material ESG issues identified, and invite stakeholders of the Group to assess the materiality of each ESG issue.
After collecting, compiling, and analysing the questionnaires, the Group ranks the material ESG issues by the order of
their materiality and establishes a materiality matrix.
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Verification &% &

The results will be reviewed and approved by the Board and the ESG Working Group annually.
FHERBEFRERRLRE - e RERTEESMRIE -
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RIR - HERERKRSE

The Group reviews and confirms the material ESG issues annually
to ensure that such issues can reflect its business development and
industry standards. Considering there is no material change in the
development of the Group’s business and its industry, the issues
for materiality assessment in the previous year will be applied in
2024. The following is a matrix of the Group’s material ESG issues
contained in the Report:
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Materiality Assessment Matrix

6. Employment remuneration and benefits
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14. Prevention of child and
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7. Diversity and equal opportunity
ESM(V ST {4

8. Occupational safety and health
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Significance of Economic, Environmental and Social Impacts
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1. Emissions and pollution control

PPl 3

2. Waste management
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3. Energy conservation
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The Group is eminently devoted towards promoting
a sustainable working and living environment through
continuous emissions reduction and effective use of
resources. Beijing AOCEAN Property Management
Company Limited* (It FURFEYIZEE IR BR A A, one of our
subsidiaries, has obtained 1ISO14001:2015 Environment
Management Certificate and 1ISO9001:2015 Quality
Management Certificate, and formulated the Quality,
Environment and OHS Management Manual to actively
reduce our impact on the environment, especially in terms of
energy saving and waste reduction.

The Group persistently strives to operate its business in
an environmentally friendly manner, making every effort to
achieve environmental conservation. Our main emissions
are greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions from the energy
consumption and non-hazardous waste generated in our
daily operations. Due to our business nature, the Group’s
operations do not involve a significant amount of air
emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous waste. Therefore, the Group considers the
relevant emissions to be immaterial, and thus the relevant
information is not disclosed in the Report and corresponding
targets are not set for air emissions and hazardous waste.

GHG Emissions

Our GHG emissions are mainly direct GHG emissions
caused by the petrol and diesel consumed by vehicles and
the consumption of natural gas for heating and cooking as
well as energy indirect GHG emissions caused by the use of
purchased electricity and heat.
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During the Year, the Group’s GHG emission intensity per RAFE  AEENSFHFRKKER
m?2 of chargeable area decreased from 12.68 kg of carbon SR EREENBEEN T -_=ZFH
dioxide equivalent (“kg CO,e”) in 2023 to 11.83 kg CO,e 126827 —akixEgs  RPEZF
in 2024. The performance in relation to the Group’s GHG “HFEMISIATH _ElmEE -
emissions is as follows: REERAERBHNERIREOT -
Percentage
increase/
GHG emissions’ Unit 2024 2023 (decrease)
#m,/ (f)
BEREHER B —E-MmE kSt = BAl
Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions? tonnes of carbon dioxide 139.05 156.84 (11%)
equivalent “(tCO.e")
gE1: ERAERET M-StiREE
Scope 2: Energy indirect tCOe 19,601.22 19,361.33 1%

GHG emissions?
HE2 : gEHEAZRBNE B -&iRkEE

Total GHG emissions tCO.e 19,740.27 19,518.17 1%
(Scope 1+Scope 2)

REREHHES W_ftiEE
(BE1+8E2)

GHG emissions intensity*

RERBHEREBE

Average by number of households kg CO,e/household 1,226.94 1,306.96 (6%)
FPETY DF-ElkiRESs /P

Average by area kg CO.e/m?2 11.83 12.68 (7%)
[EL a2 A ZEtikE R/ Fhk
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GHG emissions data are presented in CO,e, with reference
to, but not limited to: the “Greenhouse Gas Protocol:
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standards” published
by the World Resources Institute and the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development, the “How to Prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix Il: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock Exchange,
the “Global Warming Potential” published in the Fifth
Assessment Report (AR5) by the Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change in 2014, and “Carbon Dioxide Emissions
Accounting and Reporting Requirements for Service
Industry” published by Beijing Municipal Bureau of market
supervision and Administration.

Scope 1 refers to direct GHG emissions from operations
that are owned or controlled by the Group.

Scope 2 refers to energy indirect emissions resulting from
the generation of purchased electricity and heat consumed
within the Group.

GHG emissions intensity is calculated by dividing the total
energy consumption by (1) the number of households; and
(2) the total chargeable area for the property management
segment.

o For the property management business, the
total chargeable area for 2024 and 2023 were
approximately 1,668,350.55 m2 and 1,539,316.41
m?2, respectively.

o For the property management business, the
number of households in 2024 and 2023 were
approximately 16,089 units and 14,934 units,
respectively.

RIR - HERERKRSE
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In view of the growing concern over air pollution and climate
change, the Group will continue to monitor GHG emissions
and work towards setting a new target. It targets to host at
least one relevant GHG emission control activity in the year
ended 31 December 2022 (“2022”) to increase employees’
awareness of GHG emissions reduction.

To achieve its emission reduction target, the Group
actively adopts energy-saving measures to reduce its
GHG emissions. Such measures include the strict control
over the use of air-conditioners, the lighting system, and
electrical devices in the office. Details of these measures will
be discussed in the section headed “Use of Resources”.
In addition, the Group also encourages employees to
communicate over telephone calls or web conferences in
place of face-to-face meetings, in order to reduce carbon
emissions generated from business travels. Through the
adoption of the above measures, we have raised the
awareness of carbon reduction among our employees.
In addition to the reduction in vehicle usage, the Group
successfully controlled electricity consumption in our offices
through the implementation of telecommuting measures.

Waste Management

The operation of the Group’s business does not produce
significant amounts of hazardous waste, while non-
hazardous waste is mainly general waste collected from
various property projects, as well as waste papers from
our offices. The Group has engaged third-party waste
management companies to collect and dispose of its non-
hazardous waste in an appropriate manner. Whenever
hazardous waste is generated, the Group will promptly hire a
disposal company to handle such waste.
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The Group has established a waste reduction target for
the first time in 2021, which aims to reduce the non-
hazardous waste intensity (kg/1,000 m2) for 2026 by at least
2% as compared with the level in 2020 (i.e. approximately
14.69 kg/1,000 m?). During the Year, the Group generated
approximately 5.04 kg/1,000 m2 of non-hazardous waste,
representing a decrease from approximately 5.40 kg/1,000
m2 in 2023. The Group will continue to monitor the intensity
of non-hazardous waste and endeavour to organise activities
related to waste reduction at least once a year in order to
raise employees’ awareness in this regard.

The performance in relation to the Group’s non-hazardous
waste generation is as follows:

-___—_-——-§-§§“-

AEER T - —FH5RRERERHE
man EEHE AT B RNEEERE

A/ FEFRBE_ZT=_F
¢7J<J?(Eﬂi’314.69 N/ FERK) A
HERDBA2% - RAFE - KREBE
ETHB04R T/ FEAANESRESE
Y BT ZFNHN5A0R T TF
FATE - NEEBEEEITEERESE
YEE  ARORESFE D8R —KH
REERRENES - UIREE TR AE
HEH o

AEERBEEEZMRRLOT

Percentage
increase/
Non-hazardous waste® Unit 2024 2023 (decrease)
%m//m¢
EEEREYS By —E-mE —E-= B2
Total amount of non-hazardous waste ~ Tonnes 8.41 8.32 1%
EEEEYEE NI
Non-hazardous waste intensity
BEEZNEE
Average by number of households kg/household 0.52 0.56 (6%)
EPHTY NI
Average by area kg/1,000 m? 5.04 5.40 (7%)
EiEFH DT/ FERK
Notes: it
5. The non-hazardous waste data did not include waste 5. ﬁ%@%%%{ﬁiﬁxﬁ%miﬁﬁ

generated by owners in the property management segment,
only the amount of waste generated in offices and public
areas were accounted for.

MO ETELENEEY - Bt
RERRNHISRELHNEZEYE
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RIR - HERERKRSE

To achieve its target of waste reduction, the Group
encourages its employees to classify different types of waste
and requires contractors or builders to separate construction
waste generated during renovation or maintenance work
from general refuse for treatment and timely transferal.
Meanwhile, the Group is committed to enhancing employees’
awareness of waste reduction, and encourages them to
use electronic channels for communication, adopt double-
sided printing and recycle paper as much as possible, in
the hope of achieving a “paperless” office. Other than the
abovementioned, the Group is also committed to promote
its external stakeholders’ awareness of waste reduction.
The Group promotes the practice of waste reduction at
the source to owners, households, and customers, by
encouraging them to use environmentally friendly bags
instead of plastic bags, classify general refuse and recyclable
waste, donate unused items to others instead of discarding
them, and choose environmentally friendly products, etc.

The Group encourages its employees to use their best
endeavours to reduce waste and emissions, with a view
to contributing to the community and the environment. We
have implemented the following environmental protection
policies to reduce emissions and increase efficiency of
resource usage, which include green management, the use
of environmentally friendly equipment and the promotion of
environmental awareness.

Category
Col R{RETE

Environmental Protection Measure

SERASERENER  AEETE
BTN RO BRI - RTINS
EENEE R EIEBIZP IELHZE
WPNFRA—RERDT - BESH
RREIW R FEE - EFRE - AKEN
HAMNIERE THRESE - SE I
ERAETLEBER BEMNAEmI
Y ZEMEHFRAR  FLERNE
AACIHRAE o B Ltz - R
SETRB AR BN & BpRE
B AEERET - EPAEPHE
WRBERENTTE - SEREFERRR
RMTELBE - #—ARBR A B
BEEWMETHE  SEEVRBE T
AMTEERE  VERRRERSS -

AEBRBETIFENRDERY LB
Mo RtEERBEMEER - RIERE
A TRBREBE - LB BERA RS
BRAMAME  BEGEERE  EAR
REBEASARBIRIRE R

Green management e Establish plans and guidelines for energy and water saving

mEeEE o HIEENKIREIR M ARKR T FR M dE Sl

Organise monthly energy consumption analysis meeting to discuss and analyse
the energy consumption data, status of indicators, and the remaining energy
consumption quota

T RO EE - HTERERRUE - BRBEA N ERTREEET O
Cooperate with local suppliers as far as possible to reduce carbon emissions
caused by transportation

FEEXHBEESE - R ERBIZATTS R

Maintain the temperature of air conditioning in office and public area at 26°C in
summer and 22°C in winter

B AZEMARRIENZEFREERR - ER2GBRE - LR2BXE
Regularly inspect and repair equipment to reduce energy and water wastage
caused by damage

FHRERERE  BREERE L EBEEMREKE

Organise promotion and training activities to raise awareness of environmental
protection

BRSEIFIED - LIRS RREH
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R - HEREAWRE

Category Environmental Protection Measure

il BRRIEH

Environmentally e Encourage employees to use their best endeavours to take public transport during
friendly equipment business trips

RIRR e HEBIMHEHMESRLAATATA

e Reuse office stationeries (e.g. envelopes, folders and double-sided printing and
recycling paper)

o BEMAMAXA (FIIEE - XK - SmEFEN R EIKAR)

e |nstall voice or infrared sensors to control the level of regional lighting

o LRBIESAIMGREERS - 1EHIEEE KL

e Replace ordinary lamps in the garages of each project with LED lamps

e NLEDBEERZEEEBEANLEEE

e Require project management teams to adjust time switches in a timely manner so
that the lighting system in the workplace and sign boards on the roofs are turned
on/off based on the level of sunlight

o ERIARYERRARSL - BIERSFRE B RIS M FHRR A

e Purchase appliances with at least Grade Two Energy Label as far as possible

o RUBLHBEIR AR EAIRIRER

e Replace boiler burners to increase operational efficiency and reduce emission

o EIIRIEIEERS - IRSETTRAE ROREBE

e Use central control system for energy management, and adjust such system
seasonally to save energy

o EBPARRGEREIRNEA  RMATEETARE  UBHERR

e Adopt rainwater recycling system for garden irrigation

o EBFUKEI RSB RKEITIERER

e Use non-negative pressure fresh water supply system to save energy

o ERMEBEAKHERL - BHEIR

e Adjust the running time of the elevators based on peak and non-peak hours

o RIBEREDIFEEIERRFEEHBHNITRE

e Equip electricity controllers for air conditioners in the employees’ dormitory

o BIEFHNZEAMREAEESS

Environmental e Provide environmental protection training for employees to raise their awareness
awareness to environmental protection issues, and require them to apply energy saving
RREH measures into their daily work, including considering the necessity of energy

dissipation and water consumption, turning off lights, powering off when leaving,
keeping an eye on water and electricity wastage caused by equipment damage,
and arranging maintenance in case of any damage

o REIRHRMEMEI  RAHRBEREFTENET - X8 TILHEER
ABEIEEY  BREZEREAKNLEN  BEFER  THEK IE8LES

REFEEBZMREKENER - MEFHRE

e |nstall sub-meters and implement “user/polluter-pays” policy to encourage water
and electricity savings

o FRLWEKEHEK RE [ I5EAN] ORA - SBEFHHRELAK

e Promote environmental awareness and provide guidelines to encourage better

behaviours
o SEEIRREM - BMIES]  HENRETABE
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Energy Consumption REEFE
Our energy consumption includes purchased electricity and FME BV EERE B FESNEE N AR
heat, petrol and diesel consumed by vehicles and natural BHEFOEENTAU L BIEHEMER
gas consumed for heating and cooking purposes. ST EERNRARR °
During the Year, the Group consumed approximately 17.43 RARFE  REBSGTEHARKBEE
MWh of energy per 1,000 m2 chargeable area, as compared SERET O17 43K EREMEER M-
to approximately 18.44 MWh/1,000 m2 in 2023, representing T FEERETAE T A K18.44KE
a decrease of approximately 5%. The performance in relation BEHEER - MBELR A 45% « NEEH
to the Group’s energy consumption is as follows: BERHFERIRAOT ¢

Percentage

increase/
Energy consumption® Unit 2024 2023 (decrease)
12, GR4)

HER H ¥Ee By —E-ME —T_=fF BotE
Direct energy consumption
BEERERER
Petrol MWh 10.84 25.27 (567%)
YU JKELRF
Diesel MWh 5.31 15.91 (67%)
Seh JKELBF
Natural gas MWh 675.02 733.18 (8%)
RAR JK LB
Total MWh 691.17 774.36 (11%)
BE JEELBF
Indirect energy consumption
e IR HFE
Purchased electricity MWh 19,332.06 19,456.98 (1%)
SNEE N JKFLBF
Purchased heat MWh 9,052.35 8,150.52 11%
INERR R JK LB
Total MWh 28,384.41 27,607.50 3%
B JK LI
Total energy consumption MWh 29,075.58 28,381.86 2%
HBEEIRERE JKEL
Energy consumption intensity
BERHERE
Average by number of households ~ MWh/household 1.81 1.90 (5%)
FRETH JKELBE B
Average by area MWh/1,000 m2 17.43 18.44 (5%)
EETFH KRR FFIK
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Notes:

6. Energy consumption is calculated with reference to, but not
limited to: the “How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix
Il: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published
by the Stock Exchange, and “Carbon Dioxide Emissions
Accounting and Reporting Requirements for Service
Industry” published by Beijing Municipal Bureau of market
supervision and Administration.

Energy consumption is an important matter for environmental
protection. In 2023, the Group set a target of organising
activities related to energy consumption control once a year
to raise the awareness of employees in reducing energy
consumption and emissions. The Group has organised
relevant energy consumption and emission reduction
promotional activities in 2024 and monitored the energy
consumption. In the future, the Group will continue to
monitor its energy consumption and strive to save energy
by organising activities related to the control of energy
consumption emissions at least once a year in order to raise
the awareness of energy saving among its employees.

In order to improve our energy efficiency, we introduced
an Internet of Things system to control our lightings using
artificial intelligence. Meanwhile, we have formulated
the Energy Conservation and Environmental Protection
Management Policy to strengthen and standardise the
management of energy conservation and emission reduction
in properties, including regular inspection, cleaning and
maintenance of equipment and facilities such as units,
cooling towers and air conditioning systems, so as to
effectively control energy consumption and avoid energy
wastage.

6. BERBRNETEMZENENRRE
EARR « B2 P8 O AR ) 2248
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BEEDRY— IRERREFEPE RS
ERIREE) - RSB THOMREER -

BT RITRERME - IS T WS
R MATESIEHRA - A - &
MR EE X H E(HERREE
(128 DRIIIE: R 2% TE=87/E L0011 712
EETE  BREEHRE  BRNEE
BIEREREIHAE - LA - =RE
F - ABRUE S REREA & R REIROR

o

=

W

\

FHH 2024 BBEFERATF



Water Management

The Group recognises that water resources management
is one of the material aspects of preserving the natural
environment. With respect to water usage, we collect
rainwater for irrigation through the rainwater recycling
system, install automatic faucets in public washrooms, adjust
the amount of flushing water, and use non-negative pressure
fresh water supply system to reduce water consumption.
Water consumed by the Group on a daily basis comes
from the municipal water supplied by the local water supply
department, and the Group has not experienced any
material issues in sourcing water that is fit for purpose and
such sourcing has no impact on the groundwater or water
resources in the natural environment.

The Group has established a water conservation target
for the first time in 2021, which aims to reduce the water
consumption intensity (m3/1,000 m2) for 2026 by at least
2% as compared with the level in 2020 (i.e. approximately
83.45 m¥/1,000 m2). During the Year, the Group consumed
approximately 130.67 m3 of water per 1,000 m2,
representing a decrease of around 6% from approximately
139.19 m3/1,000 m2 in 20283. However, the Group will
continue to monitor water consumption and implement
relevant measures in order to achieve the target set.
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The performance in relation to the Group’s water

\
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RIR - HERERHRSE

AEENFKEEUERBOT ¢

consumption is as follows:

Percentage
increase/
Water consumption Unit 2024 2023 (decrease)
#h,/ i)
KRR B L ARt
Total m3 218,004.00 214,252.00 2%
HE SR
Water consumption intensity
FKEBE
Average by number of households ~ m?3/household 13.55 14.35 (6%)
EFETH NHKRSP
Average by area m?/1,000 m2 130.67 139.19 (6%)
EETH AR FERK

We closely monitor the water consumption of our properties
and implement various water conservation measures,

HPEEZEYENFKE - LERIUA
TEREHIKER - BR/RERRR -

including but not limited to the following:

North Garden
project
tEREEE

Kingdom
Guorui project
Bl# » £TEIEH

Yigou project
ZBEE

Golden Tower
project
$RZEE

Adjusted the time of water use for greening purposes to
consume water at intervals

TR L K HY B R A 20 BR AR 7K

Equipped a water card system in public toilets to control the duration
of water consumption to reduce waste
AHFEBLEKRKRRE - ZE5AKER - BORE

Installed a pressure reducing valve to control the water volume
2 ROREE R LAE K 2

Upgraded the cooling towers to control the water flow
RAMESEITHRBCGE TR - 1FHIERE

FiR 2024 BESHEZBRAT
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The Group will continue to devote on-going efforts to
promote energy and water-saving measures under its overall
environmental management agenda.

Use of Packaging Materials

As the Group’s business operations are not directly involved
in any industrial production, nor do we use any factory
facilities, we did not generate a significant amount of
packaging materials for product packaging.

We strictly comply with all environmental laws and
regulations and strive to building a green community. We
actively integrate the elements of energy conservation and
emissions reduction into operations to reduce the carbon
footprint of our operations, so that our next generation can
continue to live and work in peace and contentment in the
community.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any incidents
of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group relating to air and GHG
emissions, discharges into water and land and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, including but not
limited to the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the
Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China.

The Group continues to protect the environment and
achieve sustainable development, focusing on the impact
of its business on the environment and natural resources.
In addition to complying with environmental regulations and
international standards, and appropriately protecting the
natural environment, the Group has also adopted a number
of measures in an effort to reduce, minimise and control the
impact of its daily operations on the environment and the use
of resources. The relevant environmentally friendly policies
and measures are detailed in the section headed “Use of
Resources”. On the other hand, the Group actively provides
environmental education to its employees to raise their
awareness in this regard.
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As extreme weather events become more frequent and
severe, tackling climate change has become a global
consensus. The Group has realised that climate change will
affect its business operations in various aspects. Therefore,
we have established a comprehensive set of procedures to
identify, monitor and manage ESG issues, including climate
change. Based on such procedures, we have identified the
following climate-related risks.

Physical risks

First, climate change has resulted in more frequent and
severe extreme weather events such as typhoons, floods,
and storms etc., which may pose physical damage to
properties owned and managed by the Group and increase
the Group’s costs for maintenance and disaster response.
In extreme conditions, the Group’s normal operations may
be affected, and the personal safety of building managers
and users may be threatened. The Group’s reputation may
also be adversely affected if it fails to properly handle such
events. In the long run, the rise of sea level and the resulting
floods may cause damage to the facilities in our properties,
resulting in increased cost for repairing damaged facilities.

To address the above-mentioned physical risks, the Group
has formulated contingency plans for handling emergencies
in order to reduce or avoid losses if extreme weather
conditions were to affect the property facilities owned and
managed by the Group. Moreover, the Group has purchased
insurance for its staff and relevant properties to protect the
relevant interests and reduce potential financial losses. We
believe that by making adequate preparations for extreme
weather events, the potential financial impact of such events
can be minimised.
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Transition risks

In addition to the above-mentioned physical risks, the Group
also faces the risk arising from the transition to a low-carbon
economy. Currently, more and more aggressive climate
policies and regulations are available to support the vision of
global decarbonisation. For example, the Stock Exchange
has required listed companies to strengthen climate-related
disclosures in their ESG reports. The PRC has also made
a solemn promise of achieving “carbon peaking” by 2030
and “carbon neutrality” by 2060, and promulgated relevant
action plans and policies. If existing compliance procedures
and business operations fail to fully comply with the new
laws and regulatory requirements, the Group may incur
additional compliance costs, which may affect its reputation.
Moreover, tenants and customers are gradually turning to
enterprises that incorporate the concept of sustainability
into their operations. If the Group fails to incorporate
such sustainability concept into its operations in time and
effectively address problems arising from climate change, it
may lose market competitiveness.

To cope with policies as well as legal risks and reputational
risks, the Group monitors existing and emerging climate-
related trends, policies and regulations on a regular basis
and is prepared to inform senior management when
necessary to prevent cost increase, fines for non-compliance
or reputational risk arising from delayed response. In
addition, we set qualitative or quantitative targets for GHG
emissions, energy consumption, waste management,
and water resource consumption to advance the Group’s
sustainability process.
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Employees are an integral part of any organisation and
the corresponding labour management practices play a
requisite role in affecting a company’s culture, success and
reputation. Our goal is to create a working environment
that encourages diversity and respect for all while enabling
each employee to exhibit individuality and creativity. With
the aim to institute a favourable work environment, the
organisation took several steps which included maintaining
a workplace culture of equality and diversity, developing the
competencies of employees, recognising, motivating and
rewarding talent, ensuring the well-being and safety of all
individuals.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with the relevant labour laws and regulations in
its operating locations, including but not limited to the Labour
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China. The Group
was not aware of any material and concluded violations of
the above laws and regulations.

Employment

Our employees lie at the core of our business operations and
form the firm foundation of our success and development.
The Employee Handbook and the Compilation of Human
Resources System of the Group set out clear regulations on
the employment, attendance, compensation, and benefits
of employees in detail to protect their interests. The Group
also reviews, from time to time, its policies relating to
recruitment and promotion, compensation and dismissal,
equal opportunity and anti-discrimination, training and
development, working hours, rest periods and other benefits
and welfare of the employees, based on policy changes and
feedback on the policy implementation during the previous
year.

The Group strives to create a positive work-life balance
culture that provides reasonable working hours and
organises teambuilding activities on a regular basis. In
order to cultivate a strong cohesiveness and team spirit,
we organise a wide range of activities, such as sports
competition and holiday celebration activities, all of which
have been a great success, enabling our employees to
strengthen their sense of belonging to the Group while
relaxing themselves.
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To recruit and motivate potential employees, the Group
offers competitive remuneration and welfare packages.
We provide our employees with reasonable remuneration,
benefits and compensation at the market level, in sufficient
consideration of their needs. The additional benefits given to
the employees range from meal and accommodation, annual
leaves, communication and transportation allowance, holiday
allowance and gifts, social insurance and housing provident
fund contributions in accordance with local regulations. With
this robust system of motivating the employees with enticing
rewards and support, the Group strives to retain talent and
envision the development of all the staff members.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 428
employees within the Reporting Scope (as at 31 December
20283: 305), all of whom covered in the Report were
employees in Mainland China and Hong Kong. The employee
turnover rate” for the Year was approximately 52.80% (2023:
approximately 15.08%).

Employment Data Overview

EfREESE
Number of Employees by Gender
BURAENEEAH
2023
—EBZ=F

[ Male B Female

S goglid
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Number of Employees by Employee Category
RESERIENEEAR

2023 2024
—s-=# =—E-@mF

12 5

251 343
[ Senior Management M Middle-level Management Ordinary and Technical Personnel
BRERE PRETRE —MEFEMAE
Number of Employees by Age
RERIFENEIEAR
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Employee Turnover Rate by Gender’
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Employee Turnover Rate by Age’
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Notes:

7. The employee turnover rate is calculated as follows: total
number of employees (or by category) who left the Group
during the financial year/total number of employees (or by
category) at the end of the financial year*100.

Health and Safety

The Group aims to provide a healthy and safe working
environment for its employees to create a sustainable
corporate culture. The Group aims to provide a healthy
and safe working environment for its employees to create
a sustainable corporate culture. Our subsidiary Beijing
AOCEAN Property Management Company Limited* (1t 728
T EE IR AR A F]) has obtained the OHSAS18001:2007/
GB/T28001-2011 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System Certificate and formulated the Quality,
Environment and OHS Management Manual according
to requirements of the certificate, to strengthen the safety
management of the work environment.

In the past three years (including this Year), the Group did
not identify any work-related fatalities. During the Year, the
number of days lost due to work injuries was 180 days
(20283: 98 days). During the Year, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations in relation to health and safety that have
materially affected the Group, including but not limited to the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Treatment of Occupational Diseases.

7. BIRAENGERZR  WBF
EREARNEENE T (SIRER S
DIBAE THEFEERE T (IR
FERIEIS ) EAE100

BEHZR
AEEBRAREBRHERERELZEZMNT
EIRIR - LBEEAIIFEN D E UL o
HFOMB AT R ESES
IR A & © BX 18 OHSAS18001:2007/GB/
T28001-201 1B R EL 2 BRI RR
o WREBEREFERGIT T(EEZE IR
B BEERELE2ERFM) - AMNE
THERBENLZEERE -

BE=ZF(BEAFE) AEELE
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The health and safety measures undertaken by the Group
include the following:

To ensure the physical health of employees, physical
checkups are conducted annually to avert the
occurrence of infectious and occupational diseases.

The Group often organises production safety
education and training, and promotes safety
awareness. Our employees are required to execute
the Employee Safety Production Liability Statement
under which they are committed to complying with all
safety requirements.

We provide personal protective equipment based
on the position and work nature of employees, such
as insulated shoes, gloves, safety helmets, safety
reflective jackets etc., so as to reduce the risk of
accidents. The property management department
provides frontline staff with anti-heatstroke or cold-
proof equipment according to seasonal changes,
so as to protect the safety of employees working
outdoors.

The Group carries out fire drills every year and
inspects all fire-fighting and electronic equipment
regularly to ensure environmental safety.
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Development and Training

We believe that employees are one of our most valued assets
and a motivated workforce could play a vital role in sustaining
competitive advantage and providing the best service
experience to our customers. Our Compilation of Human
Resources System has specific chapters on development
and training, which set out the employee training system
and training operation procedures. For the sustainable
development of the Group, we search for multiple facets of
employee development and training activities.

The Group is committed to creating a diversified and
discrimination-free workplace and continuously improving the
career development ladder. In order to effectively evaluate
their performance, we have a performance management
system, pursuant to which we carry out monthly, quarterly or
annual performance assessments of employees, the results
of which are taken into consideration in determining the
performance pay and adjusting the salaries and positions of
our employees.

With regard to training, we provide abundant training
opportunities to our employees. Our human resources
department issues employee training needs surveys regularly
to formulate annual training plans and adjust the training
content based on actual needs. A vigorous and appropriate
training development framework was developed as per the
requirements of different staff members working at different
positions. New joiners will receive orientation training
covering corporate culture, regulations and system, safety
training, environmental health and safety training, job skills
and work procedures. Training provided to the employees
of the property management project including but not
limited to the customer service, security management, skills
for communicating with owners, equipment maintenance,
emergency and fire safety. Moreover, the Group continuously
monitors the implementation of development and training
measures to ensure their effectiveness, and regularly reviews
and updates relevant measures. During the Year, 100% of
the Group’s staff received training (2023: 100%), with an
average training hourg of approximately 32.07 hours (2023:
approximately 36.00 hours).
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During the Year, employees that fall within the Reporting
Scope were trained as follows:

WAERE - RPN BE B Tl
AR -

Percentage of trained employees to total number of trained employees (%)

FERZIETHAZINE T LA (%)

2024 2023 2024 2023
—BomE —To—F —BomE —To—F
By gender By employee category
BRI 85 RETERE S
Male 67.06 64.59  Senior management 1.17 3.93
St SREEE
Female 32.94 35.41 Middle-level management 18.69 13.77
g hRERE
Ordinary and technical personnel 80.14 82.30
—REEMET
Average training hours per employee (hours)?
BT AGZHIRFE()NEF)8
2024 2023 2024 2023

—EIME —T-=F

—EINE —T-=F

By gender By employee category
BRSNS RETERESD
Male 32.99 36.00 Senior management 30.80 36.00
S SRERE
Female 30.20 36.00 Middle-level management 34.65 36.00
ey hREIERE
Ordinary and technical personnel 31.49 36.00
—MEEMET
Notes: f&5E
8. The average training hours per employee is calculated 8. BIAAZISHENAERER -

as follows: the total number of training hours received by
employees (or by category) during the financial year/the total
number of employees (or by category) at the end of financial
year.
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Labour Standards

We strictly comply with all employment-related laws and
regulations, so that all employees are protected by law,
including but not limited to the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Social Insurance Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Provisions on Special Protection of
Minor Workers, the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using
Child Labour, and other laws and regulations relating to
occupational safety, as well as disability, gender, family
status, and racial discrimination.

The Group strictly prohibits the employment of child labour
or forced labour. In accordance with the requirements under
the Employee Handbook and the Compilation of Human
Resources System, the Group requires candidates to
provide true and accurate personal information and identity
documents during the hiring process. Our recruiters will
then thoroughly review the relevant documents and conduct
background checks. The hiring procedures are also regularly
reviewed and inspected to prevent the use of child labour
in our operations. If it is found that child labour is employed
by mistake, the Group will immediately terminate their
employment and follow up on the situation. Moreover, to
avoid forced labour, the Group has set clear requirements
for working hours in the employment contracts. The Group
would not force any employees to work overtime against
their will in any form. When the violation case is confirmed,
the Group will immediately investigate and address overwork
issues. Disciplinary actions against any staff members who
are responsible for the cause of the incident would be taken,
if any.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
breaches of employment labour laws and regulations
related to child and forced labour mentioned above and
other benefits and welfare concerning its employees in its
operations.
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Supply Chain Management

Effective supply chain management can reduce cost and
improve quality, and help reduce social or environmental
risks that an organisation may face. The Group formulated
a set of strict Procurement Management Rules that require
us to adopt a comparative selection system when selecting
new suppliers, including the requirement to carry out on-site
assessments to review their licences, qualifications, service
quality, business management, material management,
the degree of support, reputation and otherwise. During
the procurement process, we require suppliers to sign
the Integrity Commitment, emphasising to them that the
Company attaches great importance to integrity and disallow
any corruption, bribery and other illegal activities, and require
them to undertake to comply with laws and regulations when
producing products and providing services. Besides, we also
conduct regular review of existing suppliers in our Qualified
Supplier List every year to ensure their supply quality and
service level can be maintained.
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In addition, the Group takes full account of the social, ethical
and environmental performance of suppliers during the
procurement process. The Group is required to review the
following factors during its regular supplier review process:

° Suppliers are aware of environmental, social, and
ethical issues relevant to their business operations,
and have established minimum standards for these
issues;

° Major suppliers and suppliers with higher risks
have management systems in place to address
environmental and social issues and risks;

° The Group should ensure the accuracy of information
provided by suppliers by conducting reviews, third
party verifications or similar procedures; and

o All other conditions being equal, the Group should
give priority to suppliers that are environmentally
and socially responsible or suppliers that promote
environmentally friendly products and services.

During the Year, the Group had a total of 131 major
suppliers (2023: 125), all of which were located in Mainland
China. All major suppliers have passed the above-mentioned
evaluation during the Year. In 2024, the Group was not
aware of any significant negative impact on business ethics,
environmental protection, human rights, or labour practices
that was brought about by its major suppliers.
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Product Responsibility

The Group values each client and strives to continuously
improve its products and services. Each of our business
operation is subject to strict quality standards and
traceability.

For our property management business, we have a sound
environment, occupational health and safety, and quality
management system. We have established the Quality,
Environment and OHS Management Manual to perfect
our management system and define responsibilities of
the management and each department, and Beijing
AOCEAN Property Management Company Limited (it
TORAYEEIEAR A A, one of our subsidiaries, has
passed the 1ISO14001:2015 environmental management
system, OHSAS18001:2007 occupational health and
safety management system and 1SO9001:2015 quality
management system certifications. We spare no effort to
maintain the quality of our services and protect the health
and safety of the households, tenants and employees.
The Company regularly reviews and inspects for the
quality, environment and occupational health and safety
management system. The external expert confirmed that
we have complied with relevant requirements of the three
standards, namely GB/T19001-2015 Quality Management
System Requirements, GB/T24001-2015 Environmental
Management Systems — Requirements with Guidance for
Use and GB/T28001-2011 Occupational Health and Safety
Management System Specifications. We are committed to
the sustainable development of the enterprise, environment
and society by strengthening the management of daily
operations.
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The quality checking procedures of the Group are as follows: AREENEERTEBENT :

Quality inspectors from various departments carry out inspections twice a week and
supervise the rectification of problems in respective departments, summarise the

Depa_rtment"f“ problems identified, prepare quality inspection reports and submit them to the HR
Self-inspection Department.
HEIER SHPIERYESERNE B NFIET MRS ERMBEY - HER0MEES

ViRBERBE - LRXANERE -

The Service Quality Department, together with quality inspectors from various departments,

review the contents of quality inspection and safety reports every week, so asto ensurethat ~ Service Quality
problems are rectified properly. Department Recheck
REEEBEHESHFINERIETALER  T2HRENDETES  BAPEER REREPER

E2 vA

Inspections, follow-up actions, communications and supervision work are carried

Key Department out every week for key inspection departments, so as to improve the quality of

Inspection services.

EXBMRE FRYEHEHRENMRARARNRE - RE BB  BRNOIHE  NEASER
B R -

The Service Quality Department summarises the inspection results and prepares a
report, which will be sent to department directors, who are required to respond with Service Qualit
proposed rectifications, within 3 working days, including recording the rectified items in Yy
photos, or indicating the time needed for rectification. Department Summary
RIEEENSEREBERELRES - EXEEPPIBETERFSAIMFEIEANEE REEENESL
BERERETEE - BESEERO T ARG AT ERNCEAEMERME -
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Contacting Customers

We have always advocated the service philosophy of
“customer first”, and are committed to providing the most
complete and considerate service for owners, households
and surrounding residents to make them feel at home.
There are customer service specialists for all of the Group’s
property projects to take care of the customers’ needs at all
hours, including repair requests, comments on the services
or complaints. If necessary or in case of any problems,
owners and households can contact their corresponding
customer service specialists through the 24-hour service
hotline, the on-site customer service centre of the property
project or the “Aocean Life” online service.

We have set up the “EFE#Z AOCEAN” WeChat Official
Account, where owners of the Aocean property can apply
for repairs online, track the progress of services, contact
service specialists, pay property fees, and make comments
and suggestions on property management online.

With regard to customer complaints, we have formulated
the Complaint Management Policy, pursuant to which
we shall respond to a complaint in the system within 4
hours, an oral complaint within 1 working day and a written
complaint within 3 working days. In order to ensure that all
complaints are handled in the most appropriate manner to
the satisfaction of customers, we follow up with customers
by telephone or in person, which shall cover all customers
every year. In addition, we carry out at least one customer
satisfaction survey each year to collect customer feedback
and suggestions on the property projects and the quality
of services, so as to continuously improve the quality
of our services and “create high-quality products and
provide prominent services”. In order to better understand
customers’ views about us, we have specially added a
“criticise and praise” function to the“J®78%) % AOCEAN”
WeChat Official Accounts application, allowing customers to
instantly upload photos and give a praise or suggestion for
improvement so that our service team can make immediate
response.

During the Year, the Group did not receive any major
complaints regarding our products and services.
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Health and Safety

As a constructor of the community, we must shoulder
the responsibility to protect the safety of the community,
and are committed to protecting the lives and properties
of the public. In accordance with the Safety Production
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Regulations on
the Reporting, Investigation and Handling of Work Safety
Accidents, and the Safety Production Regulations of Beijing,
we have formulated the Safety Production Management
Manual to identify various kinds of safety risks and formulate
appropriate response plans, so as to strengthen our safety
production management. We also carry out adequate safety
training and publicity activities to raise the awareness among
our staff and residents in safety issues. According to the
principle of “safety first”, the Group endeavours to respond
to different safety risks.

As the Group is principally engaged in the property
management, and property development and investment
businesses, it did not engage in the sales of products during
the Year. The disclosure of the total number of products sold
or shipped that were subject to be recalled for safety and
health reasons is not applicable to the Group.

Fire Safety
With regard to fire safety, for the property management

business, we have improved the maintenance and repair
system for firefighting equipment, including daily inspection
of the alarm system and fire-fighting equipment room,
monthly random inspection of smoke detectors, temperature
detectors, audible and visual alarms, monthly inspection
of fire-fighting facilities, equipment, escape routes, safety
exit and otherwise, and testing water supply pumps to
ensure normal operation, and annual inspection of water
conveyance and drainage systems. In addition, the safety
officers of each property project regularly check the status of
fire hydrants, pumps, fire controllers and other equipment to
ensure that all facilities and equipment are in good condition
and will not pose a safety risk.
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For improving the fire prevention awareness of residents and
their ability to deal with emergencies, we have developed
fire drill plans and carried out fire training. Not only did these
measures enhance everyone’s awareness of fire safety,
but also improved the ability of each project staff to put out
fire at an early stage, and familiarised every staff with the
property project’s fire-fighting and evacuation plan and their
respective duties during evacuation in the event of a fire.

Elevator Safety
To further strengthen the elevator safety management, the

property management business has put forward the idea
of “building intelligent elevators with Internet of Things”
to improve the safety and quality of elevators. The Yigou
property management project continued to use the installed
Cloud Elevator system, including the Cloud Elevator
Internet of Things system, Cloud Elevator big data analysis
platform, apps, management and operation platform. The
Cloud Elevator system takes a positive role as a 24 hours
electronic housekeeper to monitor the elevator running state
and predict the elevator failure statistically, and intelligently
manage the elevator daily operation, discourage and record
unsafe and uncivilised elevator behaviour.

Hygiene

For the property management business, environmental
officers of each property project carry out centralised
cleaning and maintenance work in each area, beautifying
the environment of the community and improving the
appearance and image of the community every day, in
accordance with the green maintenance standards. In
addition, we engage a third-party testing agency to inspect
the drinking water in projects every year to ensure that the
water quality meets relevant requirements of the Hygienic
Standards of Drinking Water and that drinking water is not
contaminated or harmful to health.
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Privacy Matters

In respect of privacy and confidentiality protection, the Group
strictly complies with and makes reference to the Personal
Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China
in the appropriate use and proper handling of stakeholders’
personal data. The Group’s employees are obligated to
retain in confidence all data obtained during the course of
their employment, including but not limited to trade secrets,
know-how, customers’ data and personal data, supplier
information and other confidential information. We strictly
comply with all laws protecting data privacy and formulated
privacy protection guidelines to instruct our employees to
properly handle and store data of employees and customer
data, with an aim to avoid any unauthorised editing, use and
resale or use of personal data for other purposes. We also
provide trainings to our staff regularly in order to increase
their awareness in privacy protection.

During the Year, there were no violations or data leakage-
related cases involving us, or substantiated complaints from
any external parties or regulatory bodies about the Group’s
failure to protect the privacy of customers and loss of
customer data.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

The Group actively responds to the protection of intellectual
property rights and strictly complies with relevant laws
and regulations including the Patent Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and the Trademark Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and encourages its employees to protect
the intellectual property rights of third parties. We ensure the
use of authorised software in our business operations. For
materials involving patents and intellectual property rights
of third parties, we will obtain licences and use them with
caution within legal limits to reduce the risk of intellectual
property infringement.
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Advertising and Labelling

During the Year, all advertising and publicity activities are
in strict compliance with the advertising and promotion
laws and regulations enforced in regions where we operate
our businesses, including but not limited to the Advertising
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer
Rights and Interests. In developing a promotion plan, we
did not publish any advertisement with false statement that
would bring damage to customers.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance of laws and regulations in relation to advertising
and labelling, including but not limited to the Advertising Law
of the People’s Republic of China.

Anti-corruption

The protocols and laws concerned with bribery, privileges,
and political contributions are closely followed by the Group,
and strives to create a law-abiding and honest corporate
culture. To ensure the ethical behaviour and conduct of our
employees in the business environment, the Group requires
directors and employees to participate in anti-corruption
and/or business ethics training corresponding to their
positions at least annually, and to strictly abide by all relevant
laws and regulations. During the Year, we provided anti-
corruption training materials to directors and employees for
their self-learning. Topics covered in the training, including
but were not limited to, how to undertake and practice anti-
corruption responsibilities, and disclosure requirements
for anti-corruption in the ESG report. By going through the
relevant training, our directors and employees of different
categories could have a better understanding of their
corresponding roles and responsibilities in the areas of anti-
corruption and business ethics, as well as important matters
regarding compliance in operations.
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The Group has an Anti-Corruption Policy, an Anti-Fraud
and Whistle-Blowing Policy, and a Whistle-Blowing Policy
in place that provide employees with whistle-blowing
channels and guidelines, and encourage them to report any
improper behaviours that the Group has been or may be
engaging in, including but not limited to corrupt or criminal
activities, violations of legal and regulatory requirements,
misjudgments, and behaviours that threatens the health and
safety of individuals. The Whistle-Blowing Policy also ensures
that the identities and personal information of whistle-blowers
are kept confidential. Employees are ensured that they will
not be subject to any form of intimidation, retaliation or
improper disciplinary action as a result of reporting any of the
above issues. The Group endeavours to handle all disclosed
information in a confidential and prudent manner, and to
investigate and handle each reported issue as appropriate to
its nature and the relevant circumstances.

During the Year, the Group was not involved in any
concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against it or its employees. The Group was also not aware of
any material non-compliance with the laws and regulations
that would have a significant impact on the Group relating
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including
but not limited to the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Interim Provisions on Prohibition of
Commercial Bribery.
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Community

The Group proactively fulfils its corporate social responsibility
to the communities in which it operates and where its
employees live. To perform as a responsible corporate
citizen, we inspire employees to render support to the
charitable organisations and also encourage them to
participate in the charitable activities of the Group itself. We
have been active in charitable activities, community culture
building, environmental and health protection education, and
meeting labour needs. We have formulated a Community
Investment Policy that sets out the core principles, objectives
and management approach for community investment, to
allow our community to achieve sustainable growth. The
Group also makes in-kind donations to various charity
causes such as disaster reliefs, care funds for the elderly,
child and youth development, education, and environmental
protection.

Festival Care

The Group has had deep roots in the community and
provided services for the community for years. We take
community engagement as an opportunity to contribute to
the humanistic concern of these local communities.

We sent warmth to community residents on Laba Festival. In
order to carry forward the traditional culture of the Chinese
nation and create a warm and happy atmosphere on Laba
Festival, AOCEAN organized a series of colourful festive
activities on 19 January 2024.

On Double Ninth Festival, warmth spread the autumn day.
AOCEAN spreads love and warms the heart with love. On
21 October 2024, AOCEAN and owners held a Double Ninth
Festival-themed activity to weave a warm picture of love and
companionship. Warmth shines gently in the heart of every
elder like the sunshine of an autumn day.

Community Communication

On 16 December 2024, AOCEAN'’s Fortune Street Project
Department, in conjunction with Taipingzhuang South
Community, held a unique winter warmth activity for
deliverymen and takeaway riders serving the community.
This enables these silently dedicated city “vanguards” to feel
the care from AOCEAN.
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Aspects, General
Disclosures and

KPIs

BE - —REER
BRRERIEE

KPIA1.1
BRI AR MR IRAL 1

KPIA1.2
FARAERUEIRAL2

KPIA1.3
RS RURIRALS

KPIA1.4
RRIRAABUEIRAL 4

KPIA1.5
FRSHAENIEIRALLS

KPI A1.6
FRIRAERUEIRAL6

i

Description

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

B iR iE RARRE TR A R o

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse
gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

B (8EN) RepRMHEE (8E2) R =R BHENE (CABEST
B)R(ER)BE(MAGES SN - BEREAHE) ©

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).
FRELR EREENA
ESHM - BIER

B8 (LAREETE) k(2@ ) & E (A=
SRt E) -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).

FREABEEREEYAE (UNETE) R(ER)BE (1AE

ERBA - §ERGHE)

Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

ALFTR] SLAVBE N E B R RAE RS L B R ERENA P8R

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.
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Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EHEA2 : ERER

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI A2.1
AR AARURIRA2.1
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FASAABUIRIRA2.2

KPIA2.3
BASAABUIEIRA2.3
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BASAABUIEIRA2.4

KPI A2.5
RIS RIEIRA2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials.
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Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (KWh in *000s) and intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).
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Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
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Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
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Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
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Total packaging material used for finished products
(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.
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Aspects, General
Disclosures and

KPIs

B —REER
BRENER

Description

i

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
[EEAS : RIERAAREIR

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the

— R ER environment and natural resources.
WREIT A IR RAAERENERXZERBUR -
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the

environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.
HMEBZDEIRERARERNEATZEREHKNMER
B ENITH -

FRB A IEIRAS. 1

Aspect A4: Climate Change

[EEA4 : RIREL
General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
—pR iR related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.
BRI MEHE LR AR H R T AEEFENEARIRE
BEEHBE -
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which
AR EWIEIEAL A have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer,

and the actions taken to manage them.
BN WRTAELER ENERRRARE
B REHTH -

Aspect B1: Employment
EBEB1 : EfE

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

BRI RERE - BREEEA - TERE - RE - TE5H%
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General Disclosure
—RR IR

@ B &
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Description

i

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example,
full- or part-time), age group and geographical region.
ZUER - EERE (R BEGRE) - FEER KRSl D
HE B4R -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.
MR - FlieBR R REIDEBIRKLLE -

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

[EEB2 : @RERZE

General Disclosure

—MRIE

KPI B2.1
RS AR B IRB2.1

KPI B2.2
FARAABIEIRB2.2

KPIB2.3
BASAARUIEIRB2.3

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing
a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.

BARELZ 2 TFRERREEES#HEBELEEZN

(@ BEE: &

(o) BFHEITABEAZENEBEREIIROINER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each
of the past three years including the reporting year.

BEZF(BRERFE)SFRTUTHMABSLLE -

Lost days due to work injury.

ATBEATIEEE -

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.
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T e

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EEB3 : & NE

General Disclosure

—RIKE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
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Disclosures and

KPIs

B —REER
BRENER

KPI B3.1
RRS ARSI IEB3.

KPI B3.2
FASAARUEIRB3.2

Description

i

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

RERIREERI(NSREERE  PRERE)EDHNT
JEEBDLL

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.

BRI EBERE D - BREETHIIN TR -

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

[EEB4 : &5 TR

General Disclosure
—ARH R

KPI B4.1
RS IA IB1ZB4 .1

KPI B4.2
FASRIARUIEIRB4.2

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing
child and forced labour.

BRAPTIEE Tekaahl& T ¢

@ BUR: &

(b) BFHEHETAEERZENHEERZRROIBNER -

Description of measures to review employment practices to

avoid child and forced labour.

AR BB E AR R E T REHIST -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.
MBI B RIS N B BB U ERERE T8 -

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EEBS : trEsER

General Disclosure
—AHE

KPI B5.1
RS IEIEBS. 1

KPI B5.2
RS E NIEIEBS.2

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.
ERHEENRE It g RREK -

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

miEE s HERHA -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

A R EEEES - mERITERIEGINHRER
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LLabour Standards
ST AR

LLabour Standards
25 T 20

Supply Chain Management
HrEEER

Supply Chain Management
HrEEER

Supply Chain Management
HrEEER



Aspects, General
Disclosures and
KPls

BE - —REER
BREENER

KPI B5.3
RS A M IE12B5.3

KPI B5.4
RIS BIEIRBS.4

Description

i

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are

\

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR - HEREAHS

Section/Declaration

BB

Supply Chain Management
HrEEER

implemented and monitored.
Ha G B R R G EIRE R IR IR At R B e B Bl -
AR ABRERIT M B R 0% o

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,

Supply Chain Management
HEEEER

and how they are implemented and monitored.
Fe A PR BRI R (£ 2 FIRIREE fn R ARTS VBB - JA
NABRAIT MBI TA -

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EEB6 : EmEE

General Disclosure

—MRIKE

KPI B6.1
RS IR IRB6.1

KPI B6.2
ISR RIEIRB6.2

KPI B6.3
BB IE N IE1RB6.3

KPI B6.4
FASRARRUIEIRB6.4

KPI B6.5
BRI A BIEIRB6.5

Information on:
(@) the policies; and

Product Responsibility
EmAE

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of

redress.

BRMREHERMBSOEREELZS - B

EEHUARFERER
(a) BER : &

b) BTHEITARE

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.

REMEBTELZ2REZFIEHMALRKNE

E’%‘JZE
L e

Number of products and service-related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

SELAE

FENRMERIRDINER -

Not applicable — Explained
A — 5T

Product Responsibility
EmEE

BRBENEmMRFHRFH B AMEE X -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.
ERRBABERAANED -

Fi it R

Description of quality assurance process and recall

procedures.

Product Responsibility
EmAE

Product Responsibility
F A= nn B TE

ill'E ST BT R EMRDBBIER

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.

Product Responsibility
EmEE

TR B B ERURE MBI - A SARRBITT B 70% -
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Aspects, General
Disclosures and

KPIs

B —REER
BRENER

Description

i

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

EEB7 : RE)S

General Disclosure

—MRIEE

KPI B7.1
RABEAE N IEIERT .1

KPIB7.2

RASAE MIE1RBT .2

KPI B7.3
RS ENIEIERT.3

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BB ILRERE - R - HGFROEREER -

@ BUR: &

(o) BTHEHBETAGERZENRMERIROINER o

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees during
the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
RERAAHZHTASEEERETEEENETHAR
eV B MR AARER o

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

fai By 8 e M B AR T - U RARRERT RERTTE -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors
and staff.
fatmEE & 8 TIRENRETE -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EMEBS : HERE

General Disclosure
—AH

KPI B8.1
RRSE ARSI 1RB8 1

KPI B8.2
FASRIARUIEIRBS.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to
ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’
interests.

BT B2 ER T REEMEMETEMBRELERE
PeEZEitENRBR -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
HIERER(HE  BREE LIHFTRK BE X
£ 85)-

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus
area.

HEEIREMPAER (WS EXEH) -
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Mr. Wei Chunxian, aged 61, was appointed as an executive
Director, the chairman of the Company on 17 February 2014
and was appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company
on 1 April 2021. He also acts as the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Wei Chunxian is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. In addition, he is also the
president of GR properties USA Inc. and East Pacific Properties LLC
(each a US subsidiary of the Company).

Mr. Wei Chunxian graduated from the Department of Architecture,
Beijing University of Civil Engineering and Architecture (1t RiEZE
TF2EP) in 1985 and was conferred a Bachelor of Engineering
degree in architecture. Thereafter, Mr. Wei Chunxian obtained the
senior engineer qualification in 1995. Mr. Wei Chunxian has more
than 10 years of management experience in the real estate sector.

Mr. Wei Chunxian is a director of Gang Rui International Investment
(HK) Limited and Beijing Guorui Real Estate Development
Co. Limited* (AL B $HF i EFEHFR A F]), the substantial
shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Wei Chunxian is a shareholder of Beijing Guorui Holdings
Company Limited* (It RESHIZ=RE R A F]), a substantial
shareholder of the Company while Mr. Sun Zhongmin is also the
shareholder of that company.

Mr. Sun Zhongmin, aged 58, was appointed as an executive
Director on 17 February 2014.

Mr. Sun Zhongmin has been involved in the real estate sector
since 1992. He has been engaged in preliminary work of real
estate projects and is conversant with the procedures for various
formalities and the relevant requirements. Mr. Sun Zhongmin is
currently a director of Beijing Guorui Holdings Company Limited* (1t

REISIERARAR).

Mr. Sun Zhongmin is a director of Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (3t B EHEFRZEBR A F]), a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Sun Zhongmin is a shareholder of Beijing Guorui Holdings

Company Limited* (1t 7 B #{#2f% A FR 2 /1) while Mr. Wei Chunxian
is also the shareholder of that company.

* The English name is an unofficial translation for identification purpose only
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Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric (“Mr. Tung”), aged 54, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 17 February
2014. He also acts as the chairman of the Company’s audit
committee and a member of each of the Company’s remuneration
committee and nomination committee.

Mr. Tung graduated from York University, Toronto, Canada with
a bachelor’s honours degree in administrative studies. Being an
experienced Hong Kong certified public accountant and a U.S.
certified public accountant (practising), he has gathered many years
of experience in the financial and capital markets. Mr. Tung has
been appointed as an executive director, company secretary and
authorised representative of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 392) since 1 January 2025 and has also served as
the chief financial officer since 1 July 2021. Mr. Tung also served
as an executive director, the chief financial officer and company
secretary of Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 371),
an independent non-executive director of South China Financial
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 619), an independent non-executive director
of Jinke Smart Services Group Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 9666) as well as
the company secretary of Biosino Bio-Technology and Science
Incorporation (a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 8247).
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Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien (“Ms. To”), aged 54, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 14 February 2018. She also
acts as a member of each of the Company’s audit committee and
remuneration committee.

Ms. To is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA Practicing) and
Certified Tax Adviser (CTA). She has over 30 years of experience
in finance and accounting field and over 20 years of management
experience in information technology audit, computer system,
finance and administration. Ms. To is the owner of a Hong Kong
accounting firm which provides extensive management and
consultancy services of accounting, audit, company secretary and
taxation for the subsidiaries of listed companies from Europe, China,
Southeast Asia and Hong Kong. She is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong.

Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming (“Mr. Leung”), aged 42, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director and member
of the audit committee and nomination committee and chairman
of the remuneration committee of the Company on 9 February
2020. Mr. Leung is an independent non-executive director of
Future Data Group Limited (a company listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 8229) as well as an independent
non-executive director of Mabpharm Limited (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2181). Mr.
Leung was the financial controller and company secretary of AL
Group Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 8360) from September 2019 to May 2022. Mr. Leung
was a chief financial officer and company secretary of Prosperous
Future Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Child Care
Corporation Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1259) from June 2017 to May 2019
and from January 2018 to May 2019 respectively.

Mr. Leung holds a bachelor degree of Science in Quantitative
Finance from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2004. He
has been a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountant since 2008 and has over 10 years of experience
in accounting and auditing for Hong Kong listed and private
companies.
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The Board is committed to maintaining and ensuring high standards
of corporate governance practice. The Company stresses the
importance of maintaining the quality of the Board by ensuring that
the Directors possess a wide range of expertise and the effective
implementation of an accountability system, so as to ensure that
business activities and decision making processes are regulated in
a proper manner. The Company’s corporate governance practices
are based on the principles and code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

In the opinion of the Board, the Company had complied with all
code provisions set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules during the Year except the deviation of code
provision C.1.6 and C.2.1 stated in the paragraph headed “Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer” on page 71 and the paragraph headed
“Directors’ Attendance Record of Board and General Meetings” on
pages 75 to 76.

The Company will seek to improve its management and raise its
control level to enhance the Company’s competitiveness and
operating efficiency, to ensure its sustainable development and to
generate greater returns for the Shareholders.

The primary role of the Board is to maximise long-term
Shareholder’s benefit. It assumes the responsibility for
providing effective and responsible leadership and control of
the Company, and directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs in the pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

The executive Directors and the management of the
Company are responsible for the day to day operations
of the Company whereas the independent non-executive
Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard of
financial and management reporting to the Board and the
Shareholder as well as to provide a balanced composition in
the Board so that there is a strong independent element on
the Board.
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At present, the Board comprises two executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors. The Directors as
at the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric

Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien

Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming

The biographical details of the current Directors are set out
on pages 65 to 67 of this report. The Board possesses a
balance of skills and experience which are appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. The opinions
raised by the independent non-executive Directors in the
Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices. All independent non-executive
Directors have the appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting and related financial management expertise
as required by Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. A balanced
composition of executive and independent non-executive
Directors also generates a strong independence element on
the Board, which allows independent and objective decision
making process for the best interests of the Company.
The Company will review the composition of the Board
regularly to ensure the Board possesses the appropriate
and necessary expertise, skills and experience to meet the
developmental needs of the business of the Group.

The letters of appointment of the independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric, Ms. To Tsz
Wan Vivien and Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming, entered with
the Company expired on 16 February 2025, 13 February
2025 and 8 February 2025 respectively and their letters of
appointment had been extended for one year commencing
on 17 February 2025, 14 February 2025 and 9 February
2025 respectively.

The service agreements of the executive Directors, namely
Mr. Wei Chunxian and Mr. Sun Zhongmin, entered with the
Company expired on 16 February 2025 respectively and
both of their service agreements had been extended for one
year commencing on 17 February 2025.
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In compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three independent non-executive
Directors, representing more than half of the Board. Other
than their directorships with the Company, all independent
non- executive Directors are free from any business or other
relationship with the Company. The Company has received
from each independent non-executive Director, who were
in the Board during the Year, an annual confirmation of his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and the Company considers the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

The Board’s primary functions are to set corporate policy
and overall strategy for the Group and to provide effective
oversight of the management of the Group’s business and
affairs. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board
also approves the strategic plans, key operational issues,
investments and loans, reviews the financial performance of
the Group and evaluates the performance and compensation
of senior management. These functions are either carried
out directly by the Board or through committees established
by the Board. The Board is also responsible to maintain
effective risk management and internal control systems.

Save as disclosed in the section of “Directors’ Biographies”,
there is no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship among the members of the Board.

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year
to approve the annual and interim results, and to review the
business operation and the internal control system of the
Group. Apart from these regular meetings, Board meetings
are also held to approve major issues. At least 14 days’
notice of each regular meeting is given to all Directors.
Agendas and accompanying Board papers are sent not
less than three days before the date of Board meetings
to ensure that the Directors are given sufficient time to
review the same. Draft minutes of Board meetings and
Board committee meetings are circulated to Directors for
their review and comment. All the said minutes are kept by
the company secretary of the Company and are open for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by
any director.
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According to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code,
the roles of the chairman and the chief executive should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

During the Year, Mr. Wei Chunxian acted as the chairman
and the chief executive officer of the Company. Given all
major decisions are reserved to the Board, the Company
considers that there is an adequate balance of power and
authority in place between the Board and the management
of the Company.

The procedures and process of appointment and removal
of directors are laid down in the Company’s Articles of
Association (the “Articles”).

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
have entered into service contracts or letters of appointment
(as the case may be) with the Company for a term of one
year, which is terminable by either party by giving no less
than three months’ or one month notice in advance to each
other (as the case may be), subject to retirement from office
by rotation and re-election at annual general meeting.

Pursuant to Article 81 of the Articles, at every annual general
meeting one-third of the directors for the time being or,
if their number is not a multiple of three, then the nearest
number to but not less than one-third shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to Article 83 of the Articles, a retiring director shall
be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Articles 81 and 83 of the Articles, Ms. To Tsz
Wan Vivien and Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming will retire by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to the code provision B.2.3 in the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules, if an independent non-executive director serves an
issuer for more than nine years, any further appointment
of such an independent non-executive director should be
subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the
shareholders. As Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric has served
as an independent non-executive Director for more than
nine years since his appointment in February 2014, his re-
appointment will be subject to separate resolution at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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The latest version of the board diversity policy was adopted
by the Board and became effective on 1 January 2022 (the
“Board Diversity Policy”). The Board Diversity Policy aims to
set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.

When determining the composition of the Board and in
particular, the selection of candidates for Board membership,
the Company will consider board diversity in terms of,
among other things, gender, age, experience, cultural and
educational background, expertise, skills and know-how. All
Board appointments will be based on merits, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection
of candidates will be based on the Company’s nomination
policy and will take into account the Board Diversity Policy.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board, having
due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board and also
the needs of the Board without focusing on a single diversity
aspect.

The Board will take opportunities to increase the proportion
of female members over time when selecting and making
recommendation on suitable candidates for Board
appointments. The Board would ensure that appropriate
balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference
to stakeholders’ expectation and international and local
recommended best practices, with the ultimate goal of
bringing the Board to gender parity. The Board also aspires
to having an appropriate proportion of directors who have
direct experience in the Group’s core markets, with different
ethnic backgrounds, and reflecting the Group’s strategy.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy, the following measurable objectives were adopted:

1. The Company should comply with the requirements
on board composition under the Listing Rules from
time to time.

2. The number of independent non-executive Directors
should be not less than three and one-third of the
Board.
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3. At least one of the independent non-executive
Directors must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

4. At least one Director should be the professional or
have intensive experience of the industry in which
the Group operates.

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives under
the Board Diversity Policy for the Year.

The Board has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and its
effectiveness for the Year.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) will conduct regular assessment of the gender
diversity profile, including the gender balance at the Board
level and progress towards achieving gender diversity
targets.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy at least on an annual basis, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board
for consideration and approval.

The details of workforce composition were disclosed under
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report in this
report.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 428 employees
(within the reporting scope under the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report), approximately 67.1% of whom
were male and approximately 32.9% of whom were female.

The Board regularly assesses the Group’s diversity profile
of all levels of employees and considers the diversity policy
to attract, retain and motivate employees from the widest
possible pool of available talent. The Board considers that
the gender ratio of the workforce of the Group, including the
Board and the senior management, is appropriate for the
operations of the Group and will strive to maintain the gender
diversity of the workforce.
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As at the date of this report, the Board comprises four
male Directors and one female Director. The Nomination
Committee considered that the Board had achieved gender
diversity and possessed skill and expertise and a diverse
mix appropriate for the business of the Company and will
review the composition and diversity of the Board annually to
ensure its continued effectiveness.

Measures to develop a pipeline of potential successors to
achieve gender diversity:

° The Board will identify potential successors internally,
having regard to the industry expertise, leadership
skills, decision making capabilities, communication
skills and professional qualification of the staff.

° The Board will also consider outside sources such as
head hunter and referral.

The Board is not aware of any factors or circumstances
which make achieving gender diversity across the workforce
(including senior management) of the Group more
challenging or less relevant.

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

Reading materials on relevant topics have been issued to
Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to
attend relevant training courses. Newly appointed Director
has received formal and tailored induction and training
on his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has
appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
the relevant regulatory requirements.
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According to the records maintained by the Company, the RIBR AR FTRTF 8 - RAFE -
Directors received the following training with an emphasis on BR(DEEARTRNERBIFERZEERE
the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed issuer ZHE  EBEEIUTEI  ERE
in compliance with the requirements of the CG Code on BELAAREENAR  BEEREE:

continuous professional development during the Year:

Attended

seminars/

Read briefings
materials HEWHE

Directors 2= BB R JSENE

Executive Directors HiTEF

Mr. Wei Chunxian Diaestt 4 v

Mr. Sun Zhongmin BRHREE v v/

Ms. Li Bing TR T v v/
(resigned on 11 December 2024) (RZFZpuF+ = A+—HEF)

Independent Non-executive Directors B ITESE

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric BERES A 4 4

Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien MEELZL v v/

Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming RIS A v/ v

During the Year, all Directors confirmed that they have RAFE  AESHER  KEHEE

complied with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code. S EERTRD 2 FRHEXEC .4

16k o

There were nine Board meetings and two general meetings REAFE  BRITNAREERGHLM

held during the Year. The attendance of the Directors at the RERRE - BEEFHFEEREENMK

Board meetings and the general meetings was as follows: RREHBERWAT -

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure of
the Directors

EETHRALE
BITERREY
Board General
meeting(s) meeting(s)
Directors BE EEREE BRAE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Wei Chunxian BRAbE A 9/9 2/2
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) — (F/EF#7TE#a#)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin BRHREAE 9/9 2/2
Ms. Li Bing TR+ 9/9 2/2
(resigned on 11 December 2024) (R=—ZFE—pF+—H+—HEFT)
Independent Non-executive Directors BT IFNITEE
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric BREL A 9/9 1/2
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien MHERELZL 9/9 2/2
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming NS S A 9/9 1/2
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According to code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code,
independent non-executive Directors and other non-
executive Directors should attend the annual general meeting
and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. The independent non-executive Director of the
Company, Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien attended the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 2 February 2024
(the “2024 EGM”) whereas Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric and
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming, the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company, were unable to attend the 2024
EGM due to other business commitments.

All independent non-executive Directors of the Company
attended the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 28 June 2024.

The Board is committed to maintaining and ensuring high
standards of corporate governance practice. The Company
stresses the importance of maintaining the quality of the
Board by ensuring that the Directors possess a wide
range of expertise and the effective implementation of
an accountability system, so as to ensure that business
activities and decision making processes are regulated in a
proper manner.

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out
in the CG Code throughout the Year except the deviation
of code provision C.1.6 and C.2.1 stated in the paragraph
headed “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” on page 71
and the paragraph headed “Directors’ Attendance Record of
Board and General Meetings” on pages 75 to 76.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry to all Directors,
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
Year.
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The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance functions set out in provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the compliance of the Model Code and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code.

The latest version of the nomination policy was adopted by
the Board and became effective on 1 January 2022 (the
“Nomination Policy”).

The Nomination Policy aims to set out the approach to
guide the Nomination Committee in relation to the selection,
appointment and re-appointment of the Directors. The
Nomination Policy aims to ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and
recommend candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by
giving due consideration to criteria including but not limited
to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(@) Diversity in aspects including but not limited to
gender, age, experience, cultural and educational
background, expertise, skills and know-how;

(b) Sufficient time to effectively carry out their duties; the
number of listed and non-listed companies they serve
should be limited to reasonable numbers;

(€ Qualifications, including accomplishment and
experience in the relevant industries the Company’s
business is involved in;

(d) Independence;

(e) Reputation for integrity;

® Potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring
to the Board; and

9 Commitment to enhance and maximize Shareholders’
value.
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The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board
for the appointment of a Director in accordance with the
following procedures and process:

(@) The Nomination Committee will, giving due
consideration to the current composition and size
of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills,
perspectives and experience at the outset to focus
the search effort;

(b) The Nomination Committee may consult any source it
deems appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as referrals from existing Directors,
advertising, recommendations from an independent
agency firm and proposals from Shareholders with
due consideration given to the Criteria;

() The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the
candidates, such as interviews, background checks,
presentations and third-party reference checks;

(d) Upon considering a candidate suitable for the
directorship, the Nomination Committee will hold
a meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to,
if thought fit, approve the recommendation to the
Board for appointment;

(e) The Nomination Committee will thereafter make
the recommendation to the Board in relation to
the proposed appointment and the proposed
remuneration package;

) The Board will have the final authority on determining
the selection of nominees and all appointment of
Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the consent
to act as Director of the relevant Director (or any
other similar filings requiring the relevant Director to
acknowledge or accept the appointment as Director,
as the case may be) to be filed with the Companies
Registry of Hong Kong;
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(9 In order to be eligible to be elected as Director
at any general meeting, the candidate should be
recommended by the Board; or a notice in writing
by a member of the Company given his intention to
propose such candidate, and also a notice in writing
by the candidate of his willingness to be elected.
These notices should be given to the company
secretary of the Company within the lodgment period
specified in the relevant Shareholder circular (a) a
written nomination of the candidate, (b) a written
confirmation from such nominated candidate of
his or her willingness to stand for election, and (c)
biographical details of such nominated candidate
as required under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
Particulars of the candidate so proposed will be sent
to all Shareholders for information by a supplementary
circular; and

(h) In the context of re-appointment of retiring Directors
by giving due consideration to the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring Director(s)
including the attendance of Board meetings and,
where applicable, general meetings, and the level
of participation and performance on the Board;
and whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to
satisfy the criteria, thereafter recommend retiring
Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment. The
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then
make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of
the proposed re-election of Director(s) at the general
meeting.

The Nominations Committee should include in its
recommendation to the Board for consideration the
justifications for re-appointing a member who has completed
three consecutive terms of service (each of three years). For
an independent non-executive director who has completed
more than three consecutive terms of service (i.e. nine
years), the recommendation for re-appointment should
state why the Nominations Committee believes he/she is
still independent and should be re-appointed, including the
factors considered, the process and the discussion of the
Nominations Committee in arriving at such determination,
and such Director’s further appointment should be subject
to a separate resolution to be approved by Shareholders.

——__—_-——_-§-~§“-

@  RAEBNEMBRAE L2E
REFE REAEBRAEEHMHE
B RARAKBEHLEERE
A URTRERERAZIREANE
B8 - iz iR iE A TRE A E R A
NRREBESE - RFBAE
RABBIR A X ERRAR T
AR RRIWE @ZIEREAZ
EHREE - ORREREAKR
RESEBEZEHER  RO)L™
BRI 1351 RFTARTE 2 %1
ZIRENEANER - WAL EZED
REAFBREBAZERRE
BHABRNTAHRESE K

h  WEBREREREES Blexo
ERREEFHARANESR
BRIERY  BRELFEESR
SR (EE)BRAGHIER
UhEEZRTH2EREREK
B MRIEFEREENTSE
A ERAESRHEEHLERS -
REZEGN HEEFRANK
RA® LABRREBE SR
JBIRIE(E -

REZEGENERREEZREANE
ZTREENREDEEREH =EE
H(BEETHR=F)KEMNEH - HRX
BRI = EES(BDNF) B
EMITES  RENEEREREHAR
H2REERARRENBILILEEHNZ
T BREFLZREREBNHEER -
BELREZBENNH  MEARTE
BERNBIDRERTABRREAR
i3 e

FHH 2024 BBEFERATF



Details of the retiring members who are to stand for re-
appointment at an annual general meeting, including their
personal particulars and the Board’s recommendations,
will be included in a circular to be sent to the Shareholders
for consideration in accordance with the applicable Listing
Rules.

The Board will be ultimately responsible for the selection,
appointment and re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee will launch a formal process to
review the Nomination Policy periodically to ensure that it
is transparent and fair, remains relevant to the Company’s
needs and reflects the current regulatory requirements
and good corporate governance practice. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of potential legal actions against its directors and
officers.

As part of good corporate governance, the Board has set
up an audit committee, a nomination committee and a
remuneration committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been
established with defined written terms of reference, which
are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. All the Board committees should report to the
Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

The Board set up the audit committee in July 1999 with
specific written terms of reference (which have been revised
subsequently to cope with changes) (the “Audit Committee”)
which clearly deal with its authority and duties. The Audit
Committee’s role is to review the Group’s financial reporting,
internal controls and corporate governance issues and to
make relevant recommendations to the Board.
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During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
members of the Audit Committee have been and are:

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric (Chairman)
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming

The corporate governance functions performed during the
Year included the following:

(@)

to develop and review an issuer’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and directors; and

to review the issuer’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

In discharging its responsibilities, the Audit Committee has
performed the following tasks during the Year:

)

(i)

reviewed the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with the applicable standards;

reviewed the draft interim and annual financial
statements and the related draft results
announcements;

reviewed the auditing and financial reporting matters,
including the key audit matters of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December
20283 which are set out in the annual report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023,
with the external auditor of the Company;
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(iv) reviewed the audit planning for the Year;

(v) reviewed the change in accounting standards and
assessed the potential impacts on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements with external
auditor of the Company;

(vi) discussed with the management the relevant issues
including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions and ensured
that the management has discharged its duty to
have an effective internal control system including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programmes and
budget;

(vii) reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit
functions of the Group;

(vii)  reviewed the continuing connected transactions
of the Company with the external auditor of the
Company; and

(ix) made recommendation on the appointment or
reappointment of the external auditor and approved
their terms of engagement.

Each member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted
access to the auditor and all senior management of the
Group. During the Year, the Audit Committee had met twice
with the external auditor of the Company.

The audit committee has reviewed the annual results and
has no dissenting view on the accounting policies of the
companies adopted by the Group and on the Group’s
internal controls and risk management, accounting and
financial reporting functions.

All members of the Audit Committee possess in-depth
experience in their profession. All of them possess
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise as required under
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
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The Audit Committee held four meetings during the Year
under review and the attendance of its members was as
follows:

\

REBEFERNERTOAEZEZESS
& o AR EMHEERET

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the Directors

EETHREES
Directors 2= BIGERHY
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric (Chairman) &3 504 (/) 4/4
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien Ti‘%‘ii'éﬁi 4/4
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming JEIS ST 4/4

The Board set up the Nomination Committee in March
2007 with specific written terms of reference (which have
been revised subsequently to cope with changes) which
clearly deal with its authority and duties. The Nomination
Committee’s roles are principally to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes; identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and make recommendations to the Board
in this regard; and assess the independence of independent
non-executive Directors.

In compliance with Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules, the
Nomination Committee is chaired by the chairman of the
Board and comprises a majority of independent non-
executive Directors.

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
members of the Nomination Committee have been and are:

Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman)
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming
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The work performed by the Nomination Committee during
the Year included the following:

(i) to review the structure, size and diversity (including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of services)
of the Board and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

(ii) to assess on the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; and

(iii) to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors and to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the
Year under review and the attendance of its members was as
follows:

RAFE REZBEEMETZIER
EAT&IE

() WA EERZRE - ABRKE
L L(BRENRRIER - F
i XIERHBESS Rk &
FRE - Keg - MBRRBE
) IR ERRESARRR
B MRS E=BIEL 2 2B

2 .
e

(i) AHZIBN FEMITES 2B
M

(i) MEEZEZEXNEREZE - UK
EFEIFTIMNESRIRLE
Fo U AEaEERIEE
EFEERKEZATLT o

REBFERRRT—IRELZEES
& o EREMHEBRIT

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the Directors

EEFHREE
Members of Nomination Committee EHZZE5E€HKE BTERREY
Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman) BB E(EE) 11
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERELsE 11
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming PSS 11

The Board set up the Remuneration Committee in May
2005 with specific written terms of reference (which have
been revised subsequently to cope with changes) (the
“Remuneration Committee”) which clearly deals with its
authority and duties. The Remuneration Committee’s role is
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy and structure for directors and senior management
and to ensure that they are fairly rewarded for their individual
contribution to the Group’s overall performance, having
regard to the interests of the Shareholders. The principal
duties of the Remuneration Committee include determining
the specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors
and senior management with reference to corporate goals
and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time. No
Director or any of his/her associates may be involved in any
decisions as to his/her own remuneration.
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In accordance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, the
Remuneration Committee is chaired by an independent non-
executive Director and comprising a majority of independent
non-executive Directors.

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the members
of the Remuneration Committee have been and are:

Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during
the Year included the following:

(i) determined the remuneration policy of the executive
Directors;

(ii) assessed the performance of the executive Directors;

(iii) approved the term of the executive Directors’ service
contracts;

(iv) reviewed and/or approved matters relating to the
share option scheme of the Company;

(v) reviewed and recommended the remuneration
package of the independent non-executive Directors;
and

(vi) reviewed and recommended the remuneration
package for the executive Directors and management
of the Company.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed
and considered the grant of share options to an employee
of the Company taking into consideration the requirements
set forth in Rules 17.03F, 17.06B(7) and 17.06(8) of Listing
Rules. Save as disclosed, there was no other material
matters relating to the share option scheme of the Company
which required review or approval by the Remuneration
Committee.
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The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the
Year under review and the attendance of its members was as
follows:

REBEFENGRT-AFHNEESS
& o AREMHEERNT

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the Directors

Members of EEFEHREE
Remuneration Committee FHEEERE BITGERE
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming (Chairman) — 2844 (/%) 11
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERAESE 11
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien HEELL 1/1

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the accounts which were prepared in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. A statement by the auditor about their reporting
responsibilities is set out on pages 135 to 142 of this report.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The Board is responsible to maintain an effective risk
management and internal control systems, in order to
safeguard the interest of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole. However, the risk management and internal
control systems were designed to manage rather than
eliminate all risks exposure of the Group. It does not provide
an absolute shield against inherent limitations such as
unpredictable risks, uncontrollable events such as natural
catastrophes, fraud, and errors of judgement, but it may
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatements or losses.

The Company established an Enterprise Risk Management
framework in order to implement effective risk management.
Our risk management structure is simple and clear, which
has categorical duties.
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Board of Directors

The Board plays an important role in the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Board is
responsible for establishing the risk management framework
and risk management policies, and the relevant policies
are aiming to assess and determine the Group’s business
strategies and defining the risk tolerance. The Board,
with assistance from the Audit Committee, monitors risk
management and internal control systems in an on-going
manner and reviews, at least annually, the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems.

Audit Committee

Audit Committee stands at the highest level of the risk
management and internal control systems below the Board.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in overseeing the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems by
providing advice and support in respect of all risk matters,
including on-going monitoring of the implementation of
risk management procedures, reviewing the Group’s risk
register, reviewing and approving the internal control review
plans and results.

Management

The management of the Group is responsible for identifying
and continuously monitoring strategic, operational, financial,
reporting and compliance risks associated with the daily
operations of the Group. The management reports to the
Board and Audit Committee on the relevant risks and their
changes. The management also formulates various internal
control measures to mitigate the risks, and rectifies internal
control deficiencies they identified in a timely manner.

Independent Professional Internal Control Advisor

To ensure the independence of the internal control review,
the Group has outsourced the internal audit function to an
independent professional internal control advisor (the “Internal
Control Advisor”), whose work scope includes reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management procedures
and effectiveness of the internal control systems. The Internal
Control Advisor formulates the internal control review plan
based on risk assessment and gets approval from Audit
Committee, and will communicate with the Audit Committee
about the review results directly.
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EEERRE

The Group has established the Enterprise Risk Management
framework so as to effectively manage all kinds of risks faced
by the Group. The Enterprise Risk Management framework
defined the procedures for identifying, assessing, responding

AEBEY T EERRERERAER
wEBEARBAEYNSERR - &1
EEREEERTEE T ARERZR - ¥
fly ~ RSB AEDR AR K H# LR

REEE B TE BT A hnoR B BAL siF &
HEREIEMNRHE - KMmEE 8T
R R R FE SRR - R A KB ERE

to and monitoring risks and their changes. Through
regular discussion with each operating function, the Group
strengthened the understanding of risk management so that

all employees will understand and report the risks timely IERIBES]
which enhanced the Group’s ability to identify and manage
risks.

Identify

potential risks —p
BB R

N e

Formulate
responding measures

R R R EE

In the course of risk identification, the management liaises
with each operating function, collect significant risk factors
that affect the Group from the bottom to the top, in various
aspects including strategic, operational, financial, reporting
and complying aspects. After establishing risk assessment
scope, the management will assess the potential impact
and possibilities of the risks and prioritise the risks, and
appropriate internal control measures will then be developed
to mitigate the risks identified and monitor the changes of
risks in an on-going manner.

Maintain an effective internal control system

(operational level)

o Establish clear internal control policies and
procedures, clearly define the responsibilities,
authorities and accountabilities of each key position;

o Establish code of conduct, convey to all employee
the Group’s requirements on integrity and ethic;
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° Establish whistle blowing mechanism, encourage
employees to report incidents of misconduct or fraud;

° Establish appropriate level of information technology
assess rights, avoid leakage of price sensitive
information;

o Establish inside information disclosure policy,

including reporting channels and responsible person
of disclosure, unified response to external enquiries
and obtain advice from professional financial advisors
or the Stock Exchange, if necessary.

o Establish policies and systems to promote and
support anti-corruption laws and regulations.

The Board reviews the effectiveness of its risk management
and internal control systems over the financial year annually.
In 2024, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the
internal control policies and procedures of the Group,
including those related to financial reporting and Listing
Rules compliance and the management also conveyed
confirmation of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems to the Board and the Audit
Committee. The Board has considered the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions during the evaluation and
consideration of the effectiveness and adequacy of the
review of risk management and internal control systems.

On-going risk monitoring (risk management level)
Based on the risk management framework and risk
management policies established by the Board, the
management communicates with each operating function
in order to understand the significant risk factors that affect
the Group from the bottom to the top. The Group has
established a risk register to record the risks identified and
the management will assess the potential impact of each
major risk and develop relevant internal control measures.

In 2024, the management conducted evaluation of the risk
management structure and procedures of the Group and
submitted a risk assessment report to the Board and Audit
Committee, including a 3-years internal control review plan,
to enable the Board and Audit Committee to effectively
monitor the major business risks of the Group and know
about how the management should respond to and mitigate
such risks.
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Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

We established appropriate level of information technology
assess rights, avoiding leakage of price sensitive information.
We also establish inside information disclosure policy,
including reporting channels and responsible person of
disclosure, unified response to external enquiries and obtain
advice from professional financial advisors or the Stock
Exchange, if necessary, in order to ensure compliance
with the Listing Rule requirements regarding handling and
dissemination of inside information.

Independent review

The Group has engaged an external Internal Control Advisor
to conduct an internal control review on the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and to submit the internal review report to the Audit
Committee.

The Internal Control Advisor has completed the internal
control review work during the Year. The review covered
transactions incurred by the Group during the period from
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024, and the scope of
the review included the effectiveness of the internal control
measures at the corporate level and operational level. The
Internal Control Advisor has reported the results of the
internal control review work to the Audit Committee.

The management has established remediation and
improvement plan for internal control weaknesses identified.
Nothing has come to the Audit Committee’s or Board’s
attention that the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are inadequate or ineffective.
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The following are the principal risks and uncertainties faced

by the Group and their changes during the Year:

—_—___——-----“‘-

TR EARERN T ERR R THE
M R R E N BEIER

Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
B b TERRERER 25
Economic  Affected by economic downturn, the number of - Regularly analyse overall No change
downturn people who are able to purchase or rent property economic changes, adjust 30
T decreased. We may need to lower the selling business strategies, and
price or rental rate of our properties or may even communicate promptly with
not be able to sell or lease them. We might also managers in business areas
be unable to increase our property management/ through video conferencing
other additional service fees due to the overall to implement recommended
worsen economic conditions. improvements.
RICE TR E - Bae NBERAENENA - THOMEBLCEES  #/EX
B BASFETAYRNEENES  EE BEE  UBBREGESRIRE
BRI E S o TRAT B AR B AT A 1 B DA EEBREEEABBREER
REVMEERE /HaBINRBHNER - BTk
- Conduct due diligence and
understand local economy and
property market outlook before
acquisition of new property
investment projects.
- WSRO YR EEBRETSR
BT - THREMSERDED
BREIR -
Human Insufficient staff or incompetency of our staff - Be close to the market pay No change
Resources  might affect our ability to provide quality service dynamics, control staff turnover &L,
ADER to meet our customers’ demands. In addition, rate.

labour costs in mainland China are expectedto -
increase which might also decrease our profits or
competitiveness. -
BT ABTRHENTRAGFERMRHEE
RISARREFRREEGEN B0 - hBIAES -
S8 R TRERSE AN AT AL & HII S5 B PR B0 IS
HFHEFEN ©

ZREHBTIHEIRE - HEEIRARK o
Recruitment planning every year,
timely replace departed staff.
BRETHRERE REBHRR
KAF

Provide adequate training for staff
to improve staff service standards.
REIRHEFREN  RABT
PRI
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
B it TERERERER 25
Brand Name If we fail to maintain our service level in customer - Regular self-review to maintain No change
HiE service, engineering, cleaning or security, and enhance the quality of service &t

customers may lose confidence which will have
a negative impact on our Company’s reputation
and image.

SEEREEFREKT  EEPRE - Ti2E
B FRYRZIEPHREAMRE  REFX
EfEE - BARBBREREXBAEENY

2,

Outsourcing  Failure by service providers and contractors to
oM progress projects to their completion on time
and on the unsatisfactory quality of the work may
incur extra cost to the Group in order to complete
the work.
FRAG e AR A R ST T AT
{EmERINIRAS - AIae e BR P HBMRKH
MERE - XL BHMIFEBE MBI ATKE
I
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and engineering.
EHETIRGE S AR R
RARBAMIIZEEKE -

Investigate customers’ level of
satisfaction, monitor the latest
ratings for each project, follow up
timely on customers’ complaints.
FAEEFPREE  ERZEEN
B REREFPEIEE
HEITIRME -

Provide regular training for staff
to ensure that employees have
sufficient capacity to deal with
problems.
TEHISIIEL MREIAEHM
Lﬁ“é fﬁf@ﬁﬂi °

Conduct strict assessment and No change
follow due tender procedures L

in selecting outsourcing service

providers.

TEERIMD PRI R P R T TR
ERRHE MR IE -

Our project manager and legal
staff would review the terms of an
outsourcing agreement to ensure
the duty and responsibility of each
party therein are clearly defined
and stated.
HEKBNEBABREEINEE
UK » HERE 7 & 1630
B -

Evaluate and update performance
of outsourcing service providers
on regular basis to ensure their
service standards meet the
Group’s requirements.
THIEI M RS HER R
RERBKEREREESL
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
[ B ik TEERERER 25
Natural Inappropriate handling of emergency situations - Put in place various contingency ~ No change
disasters triggered by natural disasters (e.qg. fire, electric plans and strategies and have 30
BARAKE shock, traffic accident etc.) or epidemic outbreaks designated persons-in-charge
may lead to substantial/numerous claims and to deal with specific risks, and
liabilities against the Group and damage our conduct of regular disaster
reputation, in addition to human casualties and prevention drills.
direct losses on assets. - HEREBEERIEEHTREREE
AEETERBRINERE B AXF(HIIA AN EREHBEA - WEHME
K BE - RBEINEF)IELRREEEN B ISR -
ATRESIBA RS T REEEERKIN - TS
REFEH AR SERE  EREE  URB - Periodic checks on equipment
BERBRES - for emergency and regular
inspections would be conducted
so that any source of severe
hazards could be identified as
early as possible.
- TEHmERIGERE - AETH
BUE - RPEREAERIR
- Maintain third party liability
insurance to diversify our risk
exposure and review the scope
and amount insured regularly.
- BEF=EFEERBUSEE
B E BRI S ERRE
Occupational Failure by the Group to put in place appropriate —  Put in place various work safety ~ No change
healthand  emergency equipment, formulate and oversee procedures, strictly observe 3
safety the implementation of various safety procedures and implement precautionary
RS2  that result in injuries of our employees in work measures for all duties and
zF may incur liability to the Group against any procedures that are hazardous in

compensation, bring adverse effect to our
reputation and cause an outflow of talents.
SEERERESENERE  HITTEERE
ZERFHHT  SIBEIEIERRE &8
AESZALREST HATMNEEERAT
& AREIRATRE

nature. Designated persons would
be appointed to oversee the
implementation of such measures.
HIERETIERT  ZERITE
BEA RIS TEREGE AN
Prsgtait - WIRREBEABRE
HITHER -

Provide training on safety and
raise the awareness of our
employees on occupational
safety.

RHEZ 2 - BRETHEE
REHER

Conduct regular inspection on
safety equipment to ensure they
are in good working conditions.
THRERERE - HRREE
fEIEE o
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
B it TERERERER 25
Interest rate The Group holds borrowings on floating interest. - Closely monitor the interest rate,  No change
R=& This may increase the borrowing cost and have and report to the management mEL

an effect on profits due to the increase in interest timely on the interest rate

rates. changes.

SERENFBMESTENER I ERM - EYEEMNERR  RERAER

% LT FHETAENEEAA - FRFH - BERSHFFIER -

- Formulate policy and take
measures to reduce interest rate
risk.

- IR R REREE R A
RER o

Foreign The Group holds assets and liabilities - Actively monitor the fluctuation in -~ No change
exchange denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, foreign exchange rates, consider £,
rate US dollars and GBP. Foreign exchange rate all necessary actions (such as
fE & fluctuations may bring exchange losses to the reduce loan/investment, hedging).
Company. - FHEEREXRER - IEERR
SERENBT AR®  ETREFEHEZE —IBETE (WRPEE &
EREE - INEEXRBHE RARAHERERL & ZEENE) o
‘K-

- Perform sensitivity analysis to
quantify currency exposure.
- ETERESN - EEER

B o
Relevant Changes in policies, laws and regulations on real —  Actively monitor changes of laws ~ No change
politics, estate might increase our operating expenses. and regulations associated with ~ ZE&£{},
policies and  If we breach relevant regulatory and governing the business of the Group.
regulations  requirements, such as lack of ability to adjust - BREREAEEEKEREANE
on real estate the operational procedures timely, the Group EERE
AE#EME may incur losses due to penalty, suspension or
g9FERAEL interruption of operation. —  Consult legal staff or legal
A BORER  BEHCGK - ARREEEREEgeENEEE advisors to ensure the Group’s
R EBHY - AREERBEEAREEER(RE compliance with policy, regulatory
ARERBANLBERFER) I e S RE and governing requirements.
BERZ I - FRETSpE & ol BUak - - BREBABFEBERBRAR
SEREHE  ZHRKEEE
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Li Chenji.

During the Year, the company secretary of the Company has
taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company’s external auditor is Ernst & Young. The
remuneration paid/payable to Ernst & Young in respect
of audit services and permissible non-audit services for
the Year amounted to approximately HK$2,100,000 and
HK$501,000 respectively. The permissible non-audit services
of HK$501,000 comprised (i) agree-upon procedures on
interim financial information of approximately HK$400,000;
and (i) other non-audit and tax services of approximately
HK$101,000.

SHAREHOLDER'’S RIGHTS

Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, a general meeting of
the Company can be convened by a written request signed
by Shareholders holding at least 5% of the total rights of
all the Shareholders having a right to vote at that meeting,
stating the nature of the business to be dealt with at that
meeting, and deposited at the Company’s registered office.
Directors must call a general meeting within 21 days after the
date on which they become subject to the requirement and
the meeting so called must be held on a date not more than
28 days after the date of the notice convening the meeting.

The rights of Shareholders and the procedures for
demanding a poll on resolutions at Shareholders’
meetings are contained in the Company’s constitutional
documents. Details of such rights to demand a poll and
the poll procedures are included in all related circulars to
Shareholders and will be explained during the proceedings
of meetings.
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Poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange on the same day of the
Shareholders’ meeting.

The general meeting of the Company provides a forum
for communication between the Shareholders and the
Board. The Chairman, as well as the chairmen of the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee or in their absence, other members of the
respective committees, generally will attend the annual
general meeting and other relevant Shareholders’ meetings
to answer Shareholders’ queries at the meetings.

Separate resolutions are proposed at Shareholders’
meetings on each substantial issue, including election of
individual directors.

Shareholder(s) representing at least (a) 2.5% of the total
voting rights of all the Shareholders having the relevant
right to vote at the meeting; or (b) 50 Shareholders having
the relevant right to vote at the meeting, have the following
rights:

(1) such Shareholder(s) may, when an annual general
meeting is to be held, request the Company to
give, to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of an
annual general meeting, notice of a resolution that
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved
at that annual general meeting; and

2) if such Shareholder(s) would like to express their
views to a matter mentioned in a proposed resolution
or other business to be dealt with at a general
meeting, they can submit a written statement of not
more than 1,000 words with respect to that matter or
business and request the Company to circulate their
written statement to Shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the meeting.

For further details on the procedures and timeline in
connection with the above, Shareholders are kindly
requested to refer to Sections 580 and 615 of the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

GR LIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BRERRERERBRASE ARAR
) R Bt 52 P 48t TV o

ARABRRAE REREEZ RS
BEE TEMNERZZEE  EEEEB
erFHEZE ST FE(BERERE - Al
HEZEENEMKE) —REEFER
RBFRELEMABRRAE - U
PERARE EmMERRER -

BRAEL BREEFR(BEHEE
ERIEE)R2BIDRESE -

B A RREENEAS EFORMK
REBFORER D () 2.6%HBR + K
bEAs0RHERBEENERG LR
BRI AT RER

1)  ERFEFASNEERHE - %
PSR AT SN A A REURER A
RBFASBABRE LA
REZBERBFRE LEEPHE
BEZRBRAEBA R

@) IR R A ERREREARE LREH
HEBRERMOEEREAM
BRFREEBNER  AIgt%E
BEREBRX—HFHTIEZR
1,000FHEEMR - EKAR
BIREEE: TN F o) R
BB EEmpRLL o

B R L BRI M RO — PR
1% - BB RSERBED|FE6228( A
AMEDI)EFEE8015 K 61515 °



A Shareholder may propose a person (other than a retiring
Director) for election as a Director at a general meeting.
For such purpose, the Shareholder must deposit a written
notice at the Company’s registered office which identifies
the candidate and includes the signature of that candidate
confirming his/her willingness to be so elected and consent
of publication of his/her personal information. Such notice
must be lodged within the period commencing on the day
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting and
ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director are available on the website of the
Company (www.grlifestyle.com.hk).

The Company continues to enhance communication and
relations with its investors. Shareholders may send enquiries
in writing to the Company Secretary of the address of the
registered office of the Company set out in the section
headed “Corporate Information” in this report for such
enquiries and questions to be forwarded to the Board.
Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an informative and
timely manner.

The shareholders’ communication policy was adopted by
the Board and became effective on 1 January 2022 (the
“Shareholders’” Communication Policy”).

The aim of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy is to
provide Shareholders with information about the Company
to enable them to engage actively with the Company and
exercise their rights as Shareholders in an informed manner.

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-
going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular
for communicating with them and encouraging their
participation, through annual general meetings or other
general meetings, financial reports and other publications
and communications of the Company.

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of
the Company are primary forum for communication between
the Company and its Shareholders.
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The Company shall provide Shareholders with relevant
information on the resolution(s) proposed at a general
meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The information provided shall be reasonably
necessary to enable Shareholders to make an informed
decision on the proposed resolution(s).

In an effort to solicit and understand the views of
shareholders, the Company encourages Shareholders to
attend and participate in Shareholder’s meetings physically
and in the case of hybrid Shareholder’s meetings, physically
and online through designated platforms. Shareholders may
also appoint proxies to attend and vote at such meetings for
and on their behalf if they are unable to attend.

Where appropriate or required, the chairman of the
Board and other Board members, the chairmen of board
committees or their delegates, and the external auditors
should attend general meetings of the Company to answer
Shareholders’ questions (if any).

The chairman of the independent board committee (if any)
should also be available to answer questions at any general
meeting to approve a connected transaction or any other
transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’
approval.

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing
Rules refers to any document issued or to be issued by the
Company for the information or action of holders of any
of its securities, including but not limited to the following
documents of the Company: (a) the directors’ report, annual
accounts together with a copy of the auditor’s report and,
where applicable, its summary financial report; (b) the interim
report and, where applicable, its summary interim report; (c)
a notice of meeting; (d) a listing document; (e) a circular; and
(f) a proxy form.

The corporate communication of the Company will
be published on the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.hk) in a timely manner as required by the
Listing Rules.

Corporate communication will be provided to Shareholders
and non-registered holders of the Company’s securities in
both English and Chinese versions or where permitted, in a
single language, in a timely manner as required by the Listing
Rules.
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Shareholders and non-registered securities holders of the
Company should have the right to choose the language
version of corporate communications (Chinese version
or English version) or means of receipt of the corporate
communications (in hard copy or through electronic means).

The Company shall publish announcements (on price
sensitive information, corporate actions and transactions
etc.) and other documents (e.g., memorandum and articles
of association) on the Stock Exchange’s website in a timely
manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The website of the Company (www.grlifestyle.com.hk)
provides information on the Company, including
communication to Shareholders. In addition, financial and
other reports as well as announcements are available on the
Company’s website.

Corporate communications are posted on the Company’s
website as soon as practicable following their publication on
the website of Stock Exchange.

A dedicated corporate governance section is available on
the Company’s website. The corporate governance report
and the corporate governance policies and practices are
available and updated on a regular basis.

A wide range of Shareholder information is also available on
the Company’s website including financial highlights, share
price, financial calendar, press releases, presentations,
recordings of past webcasts as well as links that direct
Shareholders to the webpage containing the information of
other listed group companies.
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Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings and to the office to the Board in writing at the
Company’s registered office or by email as below:

Address: Unit 1802, 18/F, Ruttonjee House, Ruttonjee
Centre, 11 Duddell Street, Central, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the company secretary of
the Company)

Email: info@grlifestyle.com.hk

Shareholders and the investment community may at any
time make a request for the Company’s information to the
extent such information is of public domain.

The Company recognises that the protection of personal
data is fundamental to preserving the trust of Shareholders.
The Company is committed to safeguarding and protecting
the personal data of the Shareholders in compliance with
applicable data protection laws. Unless required to do so by
law, the Company will not disclose Shareholders’ information
without their consent.

The Board has reviewed the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy and its effectiveness for the Year. Taking into account
the various existing channels for communication and
participation, the Company is of the view that the existing
Shareholders’ Communication Policy is appropriate to the
Company and has been duly and effectively implemented.
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The independent views mechanism was adopted by the
Board on 1 January 2022 (the “Mechanism”).

An independent non-executive Director shall comply with the
“Chapter 3 — Authorised Representatives, Directors, Board
Committees” of the Listing Rules, as amended from time to
time. This includes that he/she must, in the performance of
his duties as a director:

(@) act honestly and in good faith in the interests of the
company as a whole;

(b) act for proper purpose;

(©) be answerable to the company for the application or
misapplication of its assets;

(d) avoid actual and potential conflicts of interest and
duty;

(e) disclose fully and fairly his interests in contracts with
the company; and

® apply such degree of skill, care and diligence as may
reasonably be expected of a person of his knowledge
and experience and holding his office within the
company.

The independence of an independent non-executive Director
will be subject to questioning if he/she does not comply to
the Listing Rules 3.13, as amended from time to time, or
he/she falls into at least one of the following circumstances:

(@) holds more than 1% of the total issued share capital
of the listed company;

(b) has received an interest in any securities of the listed
company as a gift, or by means of other financial
assistance, from a core connected person or the
listed company itself;
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is/was a director, partner or principal of a professional
adviser which currently provides or has within
two years immediately prior to the date of his/her
proposed appointment provided services, or is an
employee of such professional adviser who is or has
been involved in providing such services during the
same period, to:

(i) the listed company, its holding company or
any of their respective subsidiaries or core
connected persons; or

(ii) any person who was a controlling shareholder
or, where there was no controlling shareholder,
any person who was the chairman or a
director (other than an independent non-
executive director), of the listed company
within two years immediately prior to the date
of the proposed appointment, or any of their
close associates;

currently, or within one year immediately prior to the
date of the person's proposed appointment, has
or had a material interest in any principal business
activity of or is or was involved in any material
business dealings with the listed company, its holding
company or their respective subsidiaries or with any
core connected persons of the listed company;

is on the board specifically to protect the interests of
an entity whose interests are not the same as those
of the Shareholders as a whole;

is or was connected with a director, the chief
executive or a substantial shareholder of the listed
company within two years immediately prior to the
date of his/her proposed appointment;

is, or has at any time during the two years
immediately prior to the date of his/her proposed
appointment been, an executive or director (other
than an independent non-executive director) of the
listed company, of its holding company or of any of
their respective subsidiaries or of any core connected
persons of the listed company; and
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(h) is financially dependent on the listed company,
its holding company or any of their respective
subsidiaries or core connected persons of the listed
company.

() Years of working experience: 8 and above
(b) Education degree: Undergrad and above

(©) Possess professional qualification or strong industry
knowledge

(d) Current employment(s)/Job position(s)

(e) If the candidate or his/her family members has any
relationship with the Directors and employees

® If the candidate or his/her family members has any
financial interest, business engagement or other
activities with the Directors or employees within/
outside of the Group’s business

(¢)} Any previous or potential independent non-executive
Director position

(h) No criminal record in any country

The Board has reviewed the Mechanism and its effectiveness
for the Year and is of the view that the Mechanism is
sufficient and has been duly and effectively implemented.

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”)
was adopted by the Board and became effective on 1
January 2019.

The Dividend Policy is to ensure that the Board maintains an
appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the
dividend payment of the Company. The Board endeavors
to strike a balance between the Shareholders’ interests and
prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend
policy.
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The declaration and recommendation of dividends is subject
to the decision of the Board after considering the Company’s
ability to pay dividends, which will depend upon, among

other things:
o the Group’s financial results;
° the Group’s cash flow, liquidity and capital

requirements;

° the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

° the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Group;

° the Group’s shareholders’ interests;

° the Group’s current and future business operations,

conditions, cycle and strategies;
° the general market conditions;

° the shareholders’ and the investors’ expectation and
industry’s norm;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;

° statutory and regulatory restrictions;
° past dividend record; and
° any other factors the Board may deem relevant.
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The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a
dividend and the form of payment, subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong and the
Articles. Any final dividends declared by the Company must
be approved by an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at
an annual general meeting and must not exceed the amount
recommended by the Board. The Board may also consider
declaring special dividends from time to time, in addition to
the interim and/or final dividends. There is no assurance that
dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any given
period.

The Company shall review and reassess the Dividend Policy
and its effectiveness from time to time. Any revisions to the
Dividend Policy shall be considered and approved by the
Board.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

During the Year, the Company had not amended its
constitutional document.
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The Board hereby present its report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in the property development and
investments in the PRC, the USA and the UK, and the provision of
property management services in the PRC. Details of the principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group’s principal business activities are exposed to a variety
of key risks including credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk,
operational risk and market risk.

The Group’s business and profitability growth during the Year
is affected by the volatility and uncertainty of macro-economic
conditions in Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA and the UK. The
divergence of monetary policies in major advanced economies of
global nations is expected to continue to contribute partly to the
volatility of fund and trade flows and that of asset prices in Hong
Kong, the PRC, the USA and the UK.

In particular, the potential impact on economic activities and
real estate prices is also affected by political and economic
developments in Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA and the UK. The
long term business and profitability growth of the Group is expected
to continue to be affected by the changes in macro-economic
variables, including unemployment rates, real gross domestic
product growth, consumer and asset price indexes and credit
demand, and also qualitative factors such as political and economic
policy developments of Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA and the UK.

The Group’s profit for the Year and the Group’s financial position
as at 31 December 2024 are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 143 to 150.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for the

Year (2023: Nil). No interim dividend was declared for the Year (2023:
Nil).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Group for the Year has been stated in
Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 6 and Management Discussion
and Analysis on pages 7 to 15.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The environmental policies and performance of the Group are set
out in Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 16 to
64.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

An account of the key relationships of the Group with its employees,
customers and suppliers is contained in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report on pages 16 to 64.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and equity
of the Group for the last five financial years/period, as extracted
from the audited consolidated financial statements for the Year and
the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out on pages 279 to 280. This summary does not form
part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance. The Group has been
allocating system and staff resources to ensure ongoing compliance
with rules and regulations and to maintain strong working
relationships with regulators through effective communications.
During the Year, the Board is not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on the Group.
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Details of movement in the Company’s share capital during the Year
are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

On 17 August 2018, the Company completed the first completion
with the acquisition of 95% of the share capital of Wise Expert
Investment Limited, at a consideration of HK$1,464,254,000,
from Winluck Global Limited (a company wholly-owned by Mr. Wei
Chunxian) and Silky Apex Limited (a company wholly-owned by Mr.
Sun Zhongmin). The consideration was paid as to HK$361,260,800
by the allotment and issue of 451,576,000 consideration shares
at the issue price of HK$0.80 per consideration share and the
remaining HK$1,102,993,200 by the issue of convertible bonds
in the principal amount of HK$1,102,993,200 convertible into
1,378,741,500 shares at the initial conversion price of HK$0.80
per convertible share. By way of a summary, the conversion rights
underlying the convertible bonds may be exercised provided that
any such conversion (i) does not trigger general offer obligations
under the Takeovers Code on the part of the bondholder or parties
acting in concert with it; (i) does not result in the public float of
the shares of the Company being less than 25% or such other
percentages as the Listing Rules may prescribe, and that the
relevant bondholder complies with the procedures set out in the
conditions to the convertible bonds. Based on the market price of
the Company’s shares of HK$0.82 as at 17 August 2018, the share
capital of the Company was increased by HK$370,292,320 as a
result of the issuance of 451,576,000 consideration shares.

For the details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 30 May 2018 and 17 August 2018 and the circular of the
Company dated 20 July 2018.

On 3 September 2018, the Company allotted and issued 7,500,000
new shares pursuant to the exercise of the conversion rights
attached to the convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$6,000,000 at the issue price of HK$0.80 per share. Based
on the market price of the Company’s shares of HK$0.80 as at 3
September 2018, the share capital of the Company was increased
by HK$6,000,000 as a result of the issuance of 7,500,000 new
shares.
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For the details, please refer to the next day disclosure return of the
Company dated 3 September 2018.

On 7 May 2019, the Company allotted and issued 7,500,000
new ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of the conversion
rights attached to the convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$6,000,000 at the issue price of HK$0.80 per share. Based on
the closing market price of the Company’s shares of HK$1.41 as
at 6 May 2019, the share capital of the Company was increased
by HK$6,000,000 as a result of the issuance of 7,500,000 new
ordinary shares.

For the details, please refer to the next day disclosure return of the
Company dated 7 May 2019.

On 31 December 2021, the Company completed the second
completion with the acquisition of the remaining 5% of the share
capital of Wise Expert Investment Limited. The Company has issued
the second tranche convertible bonds with principal amount of
HK$70,130,060 to Wintime Company Limited (being the designated
nominee of Winluck Global Limited) and HK$6,935,940 to Mr. Sun
Zhongmin (being the designated nominee of Silky Apex Limited).

For the details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 30 May 2018, 17 August 2021 and 31 December 2021 and
the circular of the Company dated 20 July 2018.

On 14 January 2025, Wintime Company Limited disposed of
convertible bonds in the principal amount of HK$16,000,000
to an independent third party. On 25 February 2025, following
a conversion notice received from a convertible bondholder for
convertible bonds of a principal amount of HK$16,000,000, the
Company allotted and issued 20,000,000 convertible shares to such
convertible bondholder at a conversion price of HK$0.80 per share.

After the exercise of conversion rights of the convertible bonds
on 3 September 2018 and 7 May 2019 and the disposal of
convertible bonds on 14 January 2025, the remaining principal
amount of convertible bonds is HK$1,152,059,200, a maximum
of 1,440,074,000 new ordinary shares will be issued upon
full conversion of the convertible bonds. Upon full exercise of
the conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds, the
shareholdings of Mr. Wei Chunxian, the substantial shareholder
of the Company, will be changed from approximately 69.77% to
76.59% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as
enlarged by the issue of the shares of the Company upon the full
conversion of all the convertible bonds.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERBEE

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “SHARE OPTIONS” and
“SHARE CAPITAL” of this report, no equity-linked agreement was
entered into by the Company during the Year.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company had no reserve available for cash distribution/or
distribution in specie as at 31 December 2024 in accordance with
the provisions of section 291, 297 and 299 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity of the Group on pages 147 to 148 of this report
and in notes 35 and 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, less than 20%
of the Group’s revenue was attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers, and less than 20% of the Group’s purchases were
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers.

During the Year, the Group has related party transactions with
related companies (as disclosed in the note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements), including Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (Jt R EEFRZE AR A F]) and
bR BEE 2 AR A 7, which are controlled by Mr. Wei Chunxian
and Mr. Sun Zhongmin, the executive Directors. These related
companies are top 5 customers of the Group.

Except as disclosed per above, none of the Directors, or any of their
close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s top five customers
and suppliers.

* For identification purpose only
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS
During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
did not make any charitable donations.

DIRECTORS

The Directors as at the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric

Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien

Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming

In accordance with Articles 81 and 83 of the Articles, Ms. To
Tsz Wan Vivien and Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming will retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

In accordance with the code provision B.2.3 in the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules,
the further appointment of Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric will be
subject to separate resolution at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

The Company has received written annual confirmations of
independence from all independent non-executive Directors
and as at the date of this report all of them are considered to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 65 to
67 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to Shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance
and the results of the Group as well as the recommendation of the
Remuneration Committee.
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Further details of the Remuneration Committee are set out in the
corporate governance report on pages 84 to 86 of this report.

Other than the directors named under the paragraph headed
“DIRECTORS” above, no other person who have served on the
boards of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2024
and up to the date of this report.

The remuneration policy was adopted by the Board and became
effective on 1 January 2022 (the “Remuneration Policy”).

The Remuneration Policy aims to set out the approach to guide
the Remuneration Committee in relation to the setting up the
remuneration package of the Directors.

The Remuneration Committee will recommend to the Board for the
remuneration package of a Director in accordance with the following
procedures and process:

1. To make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

2. Having regards to salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment, responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere, to review the competitiveness of the
Company’s executive and management compensation
programs to ensure that:

(a) the Company is able to attract and retain suitable &
qualified executives;

(b) executives are motivated to achieve the Company’s
business objectives; and

(c) the interests of key employees are aligned with the
long-term interests of the Shareholders;
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To review trends in compensation, oversee the development
of new compensation plans and, when necessary, make
recommendations to the Board on the revision of existing
plans for:

() non-executive Directors;
(b) individual executive Directors; and
(©) senior management.

Any remuneration packages include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments for loss or termination of
their offices or appointments (Competitive packages needed
to attract, retain and motivate executive Directors and senior
management of the quality required in line with market
practices);

The Company generally should not grant equity-
based remuneration (e.g. share options or grants) with
performance-related elements to independent non-executive
Directors as this may lead to bias in their decision-making
and compromise their objectivity and independence;

To review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

To review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

To ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration;
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10.

11.

To assist the chief executive officer in the review of the
performance and remuneration of the executive management
team. In making any assessments, the Remuneration
Committee will consider:

(@ the Company’s performance and relative Shareholder
return;

(b) the compensation of chief executive officers at
comparable companies;

(@) the rewards given to the chief executive officer in past
years; and

(d) other factors as the Remuneration Committee
considers relevant;

To review and recommend to the Board the compensation
of all those corporate officers who are elected by the
Shareholders at appropriate time periods. The Remuneration
Committee will make recommendations to the Board as to
incentive compensation plans and equity-based plans;

To ensure that the performance-related elements of
remuneration from a significant proportion of the total
remuneration package of executive Directors and senior
management and are designed to align their interests with
those of the Shareholders and to give the Directors and
senior management incentives to perform at highest levels;

To review and recommend to the Board policies relating
to employment agreements, severance arrangements,
retirement arrangements, and any special or supplemental
benefits which may be adopted by the Company. For
the avoidance of doubt, compensation arrangements for
employees of the Company who are not members of the
Board or the chief executive officer, are the responsibility of
the chief executive officer subject to the adherence to the
broad policies adopted by the Remuneration Committee and
the Board;

To review and make recommendations as to long-term
incentive compensation plans — including the use of share
options and other equity-based plans are in accordance
with the Listing Rules or the employees’ incentive schemes
are in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, as
applicable;

GR LIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

10.

11.

BT A E R TR E R RR
KEMrE - FMEESHERIATE
= AMERHE ¢

@ AREHRERBERNESE

o
539d

RB 2 AR 1T AR ER B B A

T
o

©  TTREFBEFEERRM ;
K

(@ FMEZEeRREENEME
=

RIEE S Bte s P E R R
BRBENFMNTE  YREFHEH
B - FMZ B @A H AR 8 &
PRt BIE E BRI

ERERTEZ RS REE BN

B REABEREEKRLA - 5

FNMNmERRONE 2 BBES
BREEBARSRABBRUS

MERRE  BBTH  RATHRE
(A1 ) AT SRR AR B0 5 B S i BY 0 1R
SRMESBEEIEES - AR
B TBRRRESTEMESeNES
BERMHEZBENERT  BEAA
FRE GEEERRENTRER) NS
BB 2

SR N AB AT &) — B IR RS R R A
KEMBES  REFE EMARRIK
REHES  RENAEROERE
AR E R ) 1R BOER



12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

To operate the Company’s share option scheme or other
incentive scheme as they apply to, and recommend to
the general meeting(s) of Shareholders, grants of options
to be made to Directors and senior management. It shall
recommend to the Board the total aggregate amount of any
grants to employees (with the specific grants to individuals to
be at the discretion of the Board) and make amendments to
the terms of such schemes (subject to the provisions of the
schemes relating to amendment);

To liaise with the trustee of any employee share incentive
scheme which is created by the Company for the benefit of
employees, senior management or Directors;

To review the terms of executive Directors’ and senior
managements’ appointment letters from time to time;

To advise the Board in relation to the preparation of the
Board’s remuneration report (if any) to the Shareholders;

To have the authority to retain and terminate any
compensation consultant to be used to help evaluate
the compensation of Directors, the chief executive officer
and/or senior executives. The Remuneration Committee will
also have authority to obtain advice and assistance from
internal or external legal, accounting or other advisers;

To periodically review and reassess the adequacy of the
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee and
the Remuneration Policy and to recommend any proposed
changes to the Board for approval;

To be sensitive to market practice, including pay and
employment conditions within the Group and elsewhere in
the industry in which the Group operates, especially when
determining annual salary increase;

To advise Shareholders on how to vote in respect of any
service contracts of Directors that require Shareholders’
approval in accordance with the Listing Rules;

To periodically review and reassess the adequacy of the
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee and to
recommend any proposed changes in circumstances and
changes in regulatory requirements, including those under
the Listing Rules to the Board for approval; and
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21. To take up any other duties and responsibilities referred by
the Board.

The Remuneration Committee will assess and report annually,
for the remuneration of the Board, and launch a formal process
to monitor the implementation of the Remuneration Policy as
appropriate.

The Remuneration Committee will launch a formal process to review
the Remuneration Policy periodically to ensure that it is transparent
and fair, remains relevant to the Company’s needs and reflects the
current regulatory requirements and good corporate governance
practice. The Remuneration Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.

Article 137 of the Articles provides that every director, executive
director, manager, secretary, officer and auditor of the Company
shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company against
all liabilities incurred by him as such director, executive director,
manager, secretary, officer and auditor in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, to the extent permitted by the
Companies Ordinance. The Company has also maintained directors
and officers liability insurance during the Year.

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, the Company
has not entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body
corporate to manage or administer the whole or any substantial part
of any business of the Company during the Year.

Details of the continuing connected transactions and significant
related party transactions are disclosed in this report and in note
39 to the consolidated financial statements. Save for the above, no
Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which
the holding companies of the Company, or any of the Company’s
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company and their
associates in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (a) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing
Rules, were as follows:
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ordinary underlying number of
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Mr. Sun Zhongmin Beneficial owner 136,752,350 (L) 117,756,660 (L) 7.91%
BMRESE EnEA
(Note 3)
(H15£3)
Mr. Wei Chunxian Interest of controlled corporation 2,246,160,464 (L) 1,322,317,340 (L) 110.84%
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Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Wintime Company Limited is interested in 1,434,421,537 shares
and 1,322,317,340 underlying shares of aggregate principal amount
of convertible bonds of HK$1,057,853,872 issued by the Company
at conversion price of HK$0.80 per share on 17 August 2018 and
31 December 2021. Wintime Company Limited is wholly-owned
by Widewealth Company Limited, the holding vehicle incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands used by Trident Trust Company (B.V.l.)
Limited, the trustee of a discretionary trust, namely St. Heliers
Trust, of which Mr. Wei Chunxian is the settlor and a beneficiary.
Accordingly, each of Widewealth Company Limited and Mr. Wei
Chunxian is deemed to be interested in the shares and underlying
shares held by Wintime Company Limited under the SFO.

811,738,927 shares are held by Gang Rui International Investment
(HK) Limited. Gang Rui International Investment (HK) Limited
is owned as to 90% and 10% by Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (It R EMEF AR A F)) and
Future Glow Ventures Inc. respectively. Future Glow Ventures Inc.
is wholly-owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian. Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (b R E §% E it ZE FA 25 AR A 7)) is directly
wholly-owned by Beijing Guorui Holdings Company Limited* (1t 51
42 A R A 7)), which is in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Qingquan
Ruiyuan Business Management Co., Ltd.* QL 75 REHEFIE SRR
R A ®]), which is in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Ruilong Business
Management Co., Ltd.* (It REEEEmESIEAR A R]), which is
in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Guorui Enterprise Management
Group Co., Ltd.* (b REH M EE R EBARAF), which is in turn
wholly-owned by Beijing Gangrui Enterprise Management
Development Co., Ltd.* QbR EE R R FR A 7)), which is
in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Yiyue Business Management Co.,
Ltd.* Qt R EMEEEE AR A7), which is in turn wholly-owned
by Well Hero Holdings Ltd (B & B AR A F]), which is in tun
wholly-owned by Wish Diligence Ltd (£2£)F R A 7)), which is
ultimately owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian (through Fair Development
Holdings Ltd, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian), Mr.
Sun Zhongmin and an independent third party as to 82%, 9% and
9%, respectively. Each of Wish Diligence Ltd (22 £h5FR A 7)), Fair
Development Holdings Ltd and Mr. Wei Chunxian is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Gang Rui International Investment
(HK) Limited under the SFO.

Mr. Sun Zhongmin is interested in 117,756,660 underlying
shares pursuant to convertible bonds in the principle amount of
HK$94,205,328 issued by the Company at the conversion price of
HK$0.80 per share on 17 August 2018 and 31 December 2021.
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BROHARARAR=ZZ—NF/A
++EtAR=ZZE=—F+=ZA=+—HU
BRRHKH0BOB T HIMEEITHAS
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (a) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein; or (c) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, as at 31 December 2024,
the following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions
in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336
of the SFO:

\

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERBEE

BREXFEREEIN R_ZF_MFE+_-A
=t+—R  ARBEERESTRAEBHER
ARm R EMREE(EERES KB ED
EXVER) 2 Betn ~ R R EREFPHEEX
WREHE : (QRIBEFESFMEIROIFEXVEEFR
TRF8D EAME AN A R R P 2 AL A4
FAR (BRERERESF MAEGRDZZFHEX
WEFIWRIERB ZERIARR) » KOR
15 E 5 R H S 16D 58 35216k 7R T iC ARZ G XX
MELM 2 EARRIAR  LORBELTR
ISR E T RIZAME AR R SR B 32 2
AR R

FERRRHEMA TR RHER
R zERRRE

BRI R -_WE+_-_A=+—H "
LT ARRERRTESITHRAB NG AL -
TERRAD R ARBERR D P HE B SR A A = ok
KA - it S OR B RIRE S K HE &
FEXVELE2 R EID FAM AR 7 KB X BT
AR RIRIEE S KBS 4525336
IEME TS CMATE RS

Total interests
as percentage

Number of Number of of the total

ordinary shares underlying number of

Name Capacity held shares held  issued shares

B

RENRE  GHEBROTRG

8 g} BREERREAE RHEE BYZEDL

Wintime Company Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 1,434,421,537 - 44.56%
Wintime Company Limited (#7521) ExEAA

Beneficial owner - 1,322,317,340 41.07%

EEhBA
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Total interests
as percentage

Number of Number of of the total
ordinary shares underlying number of
Name Capacity held shares held  issued shares
BREHE
BENHE  FERTRO
£1 54 RELERYA R #E BHZEDL
Widewealth Company Limited (Note 1) Interest in Controlled Corporation 1,434,421,637 - 44.56%
Widewealth Company Limited(#7:#7) XErECER
Interest in Controlled Corporation - 1,322,317,340 41.07%
XEEER
Trident Trust Company (B.V.1.) Limited Trustee of a trust 1,434,421,637 - 44.56%
(Note 1)
BREFEBV.VERRA (A1) ERZ XA
Trustee of a trust - 1,322,317,340 41.07%
BEREZEFEA
Gang Rui International Investment (HK) Beneficial owner 811,738,927 - 25.21%
Limited (Note 2)
BB E (BB AR AR (Mit2) EnBEA
Wish Diligence Limited (Note 2) Interest in Controlled Corporation 811,738,927 - 25.21%
ZHRBDR(H722) RmEE B
Fair Development Holdings Limited (Note 2) Interest in Controlled Corporation 811,738,927 - 25.21%

V)

Fair Development Holdings Limited(#7:22) S#uiE 2 B

Note 1. Wintime Company Limited is interested in 1,434,421,537 shares and
1,322,317,340 underlying shares pursuant to convertible bonds in
the principal amount of HK$1,057,853,872 issued by the Company
at conversion price of HK$0.80 per share on 17 August 2018 and
31 December 2021. Wintime Company Limited is wholly-owned
by Widewealth Company Limited, the holding vehicle incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands used by Trident Trust Company (B.V.l.)
Limited, the trustee of a discretionary trust, namely St. Heliers
Trust, of which Mr. Wei Chunxian is the settlor and a beneficiary.
Accordingly, each of Widewealth Company Limited and Mr. Wei
Chunxian is deemed to be interested in the shares and underlying
shares held by Wintime Company Limited under the SFO.

GR LIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

K15E1 - Wintime Company Limited 72 A8 A 7] £ —

- N\EFENAT+EER=ZZE=—F+=H
=+t —HBEREBRESROBOBILATEITA
& #8%81,057,853,872/8 ;L Z Al R EH
1,434,421,537 f% I% 19 & 1,322,317,340 fi%
ARG R %A= o Wintime Company
Limited F Widewealth Company Limited & &
%A - M Widewealth Company Limited 18
FEFEB.V.L)ER QR (2 {5 7ESt. Heliers
TrustZ ZEEA) R B R Z B ST AR/
PERE T B - 224058 554 /St Heliers Trusti)
HERTARZHEA - Alt - RIEFHFK
HIE &) - Widewealth Company Limited &
BRADE St £ F B R AR Wintime Company
Limited BT 15 8 #) AR 17 K #8817 o 8 5 18

e
m ©



Note 2: 811,738,927 shares are held by Gang Rui International Investment
(HK) Limited. Gang Rui International Investment (HK) Limited
is owned as to 90% and 10% by Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (3t B8 = thE 22 AR A 7)) and
Future Glow Ventures Inc. respectively. Future Glow Ventures Inc.
is wholly-owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian. Beijing Guorui Real Estate
Development Co. Limited* (b RE$ EithZEFZE AR A 7)) is directly
wholly-owned by Beijing Guorui Holdings Company Limited* (1t 52
$RIERR AR A2 A)), which is in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Qinggquan
Ruiyuan Business Management Co., Ltd.* {t /B RELEEEEIEE
R A &), which is in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Ruilong Business
Management Co., Ltd.* (It REEEEE R GR A F)), which is
in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Guorui Enterprise Management
Group Co., Ltd.* (b B EEIREE AR A 7)), which is in turn
wholly-owned by Beijing Gangrui Enterprise Management
Development Co., Ltd.* QLU EEILER AR A R]), which is
in turn wholly-owned by Beijing Yiyue Business Management Co.,
Ltd.* bR EMEEEE AR A F]), which is in turn wholly-owned
by Well Hero Holdings Ltd (BB HR A &), which is in turn
wholly-owned by Wish Diligence Ltd (££)A R A 7]), which is
ultimately owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian (through Fair Development
Holdings Ltd, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian), Mr.
Sun Zhongmin and an independent third party as to 82%, 9% and
9%, respectively. Each of Wish Diligence Ltd (22 £)74FE A 7)), Fair
Development Holdings Ltd and Mr. Wei Chunxian is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Gang Rui International Investment
(HK) Limited under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company were not aware of any
other person (other than the Directors and the chief executive of
the Company) who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

The English names of Chinese entities marked with “*” are
translations of their Chinese names and are included for identification
purpose only, and should not be regarded as their official English
name. In the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese name prevails.
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On 7 November 2016, the Company conditionally adopted the share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), pursuant to which
the Board may, at its discretion, grant options to any Directors
and any employee of the Company or the Group or any person,
who, in the absolute opinion of the Board, have contributed or will
contribute to the Company or the Group. The purpose of the Share
Option Scheme is to (i) incentivise and reward those who have
contributed or may contribute to the development of the Group;
and (i) attract and retain skilled and experienced personnel and
motivate them to strive for the future development of the Group by
providing them with an opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company thereby linking their interest with that of the Group.
Unless otherwise determined by the Board in the relevant offer
letter to a grantee, there is no minimum period for which any share
option (the “Option(s)”) must be held before it can be exercised and
no performance target which needs to be achieved by a grantee
before the options can be exercised. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the Board will have absolute discretion in determining the
subscription price (subject to the Listing Rules) in respect of any
Option. The Board is of the view that the flexibility given to the Board
will place the Group in a better position to incentivise or reward the
participants and retain human resources that are valuable to the
growth and development of the Group as a whole.

The subscription price shall be such price determined by the Board
in its absolute discretion and notified to the participant in the offer
and shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of a share as
stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of offer of the grant; and (ii) the average closing price
of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of offer of the grant. The consideration payable for
acceptance of the option by each participant is HK$1.00 which shall
be received by the Company within such time as may be specified
in the offer (which shall not be later than 21 days from, and inclusive
of, the date of offer). If the participant does not accept such grant of
option pursuant to the procedures specified in the respective offer
letter or notice within the stipulated time frame, such option shall be
regarded as unaccepted and lapsed.
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Pursuant to Rule 17.03 of the Listing Rules, the total number of
shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme, together with any other
options and awards to be granted under any other share schemes
of the Company must not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the shares
in issue as at the date of approval of the scheme mandate limit.
Pursuant to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, the Board
should not grant any options which would result in the maximum
aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted but yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes adopted
by the Company exceeding, in aggregate, 30% of the shares in issue
from time to time. The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company to
each participant (including both exercised and outstanding options)
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of
shares in issue (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options to
a participant which would result in the shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such
participant (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such further
grant exceeding the Individual Limit shall be subject to approval of
the shareholders in general meeting with such participant and his
close associates (or his associates if such participant is a connected
person) abstaining from voting. An option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time
during a period as the Board may determine which shall not exceed
10 years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early
termination thereof.
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The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years commencing from the date of adoption of the Share Option
Scheme.

Remarks:

1. Pursuant to Rule 17.03A of the Listing Rules, the participants of a
scheme shall only comprise (i) directors and employees of the issuer
or any of its subsidiaries; (ii) directors and employees of the holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the
Company; and (i) persons who provide services to the issuer group
on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course
of business which are in the interests of the long term growth of the
issuer group.

2. Pursuant to Rule 17.03F of the Listing Rules, the vesting period for
options shall not be less than 12 months.

3. Pursuant to Rule 17.04(3) of the Listing Rules, where any grant of
options or awards to an independent non-executive director or a
substantial shareholder of the listed issuer, or any of their respective
associates, would result in the shares issued and to be issued in
respect of all options and awards granted (excluding any options
and awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the scheme) to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant
class of shares in issue, such further grant of options or awards
must be approved by shareholders of the listed issuer in general
meeting in the manner set out in Rule 17.04(4). Pursuant to Rule
17.04(4) of the Listing Rules, the listed issuer must send a circular
to the shareholders. The grantee, his/her associates and all core
connected persons of the listed issuer must abstain from voting in
favour at such general meeting. The listed issuer must comply with
the requirements under Rules 13.40, 13.41 and 13.42.
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On 28 April 2023, 30,000,000 share options were granted to an
employee of the Company under the Share Option Scheme. As at
31 December 2024, the total number of outstanding share options
under the Share Option Scheme is 30,000,000, representing
approximately 0.9% of the total number of issued shares of the
Company. The total number of shares that may be issued in respect
of share options granted under all schemes of the Company during
the Year divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue
for the Year was approximately 0.9%. The total number of share
options available for grant under the scheme mandate of the Share
Option Scheme as at 1 January 2024, 31 December 2024 and 31
March 2025 were 289,937,398, 289,937,398 and 289,937,398,
respectively.

RZEZ=ZFNA=—+/\B ' EREERET
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, no share option was
exercised or cancelled that, as at 1 January 2024, 31 December
2024 and 31 March 2025, the total number of shares available for
issue under the Share Option Scheme (i.e. the 10% limit of shares
to be issued less shares exercised or cancelled under the Share
Option Scheme) were 319,937,398, 319,937,398 and 319,937,398,
respectively, representing 10% of the total number of issued shares
of the Company.

Further details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
28 April 2023 and note 34 to the consolidated financial statements
in this report.

During the Year, the Group entered into certain transactions which
constituted connected transaction and continuing connected
transactions (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, the
details of which are set out below and set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and
confirmed that the continuing connected transactions undertaken
by the Group were entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group; (b) either on normal commercial terms
or better; and (c) in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has also confirmed that nothing has
come to the auditor’s attention that causes it to believe that the
continuing connected transactions (a) have not been approved
by the Board; (b) were not, in all material aspects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group; (c) were not entered into
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions, in all material respects; and (d) have exceeded the
respective caps as aforesaid, where applicable.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
insofar as they are applicable.
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Heat supply and property management services provided by
AOCEAN Property Management to Beijing Guorui Group
During the Year, Jb7URTEY) 2 B 12 H R 2 7] (Beijing AOCEAN
Property Management Company Limited* or “AOCEAN Property
Management”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
provided heat supply and maintenance and property management
services to a total of 1,938 property units of Beijing Guorui Group
(Note 1) with a total floor area of approximately 292,473 square
metres.

The 2021 New Heat Supply Services Agreement and the 2021
New Property Management Agreement all entered into between
AOCEAN Property Management and Beijing Guorui Property (Note 1)
on 2 November 2020 (with details set out below) have expired on
31 December 2023.

In order to continue the provision of services by AOCEAN Property
Management to Beijing Guorui Group, on 29 November 2023,
AOCEAN Property Management and Beijing Guorui Property (for
itself and for and on behalf of Beijing Guorui Group) entered into
the 2024 New Heat Supply Services Agreement and the 2024 New
Property Management Agreement (with details set out below). Such
agreements have been approved by independent shareholders
of the Company on 2 February 2024 and became effective on 1
January 2024.
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2024 New Heat Supply Services Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Nature of

Transactions:

29 November 2023

(1) AOCEAN Property Management
(2) Beijing Guorui Property (for itself and for and on behalf of
the Beijing Guorui Group) (Note 1)

From 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026 (both days
inclusive)

AOCEAN Property Management shall provide to the members
of Beijing Guorui Group heat supply and maintenance
services of heat exchange stations and facilities and pipeline
networks to the vacant units and units occupied by Beijing
Guorui Group of certain property projects developed by
Beijing Guorui Group

The relevant property projects include Fortune Street Phase
One* (B ##7—HR), Fortune Street Phase Two* (I =
&), Fortune Street Phase Three* (31im#1=5), Yigou project*
(58BIEE) and Golden Tower* (£ &% AE) in Chaoyang
District, Beijing; (i) Beijing Guorui Square* (EI$[£35) and
Kingdom Guorui* (F$fe 4 7&) in Daxing District, Beijing; and
(i) Beiing North Garden* (JtfE[&) at Gaobeidian, Chaoyang
District, Beijing

AOCEAN Property Management’s responsibilities include (i)
overseeing the daily operation and provision of repair and
maintenance services of heat exchange station and facilities
and the pipeline network to the vacant units and units
occupied by Beijing Guorui Group of certain property projects
developed by Beijing Guorui Group; and (i) ensuring that
the heat supply complies with governmental guidelines and
standards, etc.
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Fees:

Annual cap:

*

The heat supply service fees charged by AOCEAN Property
Management to vacant residential property units owned
by Beijing Guorui Group is RMB18 per square metre per
heat supply season whereas for commercial property units
occupied by Beijing Guorui Group, the heat supply service
fee is RMB45 (for Chengliu District) and RMB43 (for other
districts) per square metre per heat supply season. AOCEAN
Property Management does not provide heat supply services
to vacant commercial property units owned by Beijing Guorui
Group. The service fees will be payable on an annual basis
by cash

For the three years ending 31 December 2026 are
RMB10,000,000, RMB11,000,000 and RMB12,100,000,
respectively

For identification purpose only

The transaction was announced by the Company in its
announcements dated 29 November 2023, 15 December 2023
and 29 December 2023, and its circular dated 9 January 2024 and
approved by independent shareholders at the general meeting of
the Company held on 2 February 2024.

2024 New Property Management Agreement

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Premises:

Nature of

Transactions:

29 November 2023

(1) AOCEAN Property Management
(2) Beijing Guorui Property (for itself and for and on behalf of
the Beijing Guorui Group) (Note 1)

From 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2026 (both days
inclusive)

Fortune Street Phase One* (8@ —H3), Fortune Street
Phase Two* (81)## — ), Fortune Street Phase Three* (8f
WA =H), Yigou project® (H#EIEE), Golden Tower* (&
RZAJE) and Guorui Business Center* (Bl 755 4) in
Chaoyang District, Beijing; (i) Beijing Guorui Square* (Bl
&%) and Kingdom Guorui* (E§5ie4 &) in Daxing District,
Beijing; (i) Beijing North Garden* (1t {£E) at Gaobeidian,
Chaoyang District, Beijing; (iv) Majugiao Project* (£ 511518 E)
at Tongzhou District, Beijing; and (v) Sanya Project” (=218
B), Yixing Project* (E#18 B), Chengdu Project* (5K #5E B)
and Changzhou Project” (F M E)

AOCEAN Property Management is responsible for (i)
safekeeping of the keys of the vacant units; (i) carrying out
monthly inspections of the vacant units and keeping records
accordingly; (iii) carrying out monthly cleaning of the vacant
units; (iv) inspecting the vacant units during bad weather
conditions; (v) providing security services; and (vi) maintaining
and managing facilities and assets for public use, etc.
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Fees:

Annual cap:

*

Moreover, for particular property units, AOCEAN Property
Management will also provide Initial Clean Up Services after
completion of their construction

The management fee ranges from RMB0.80 to RMB33.60
per square metre per month for different types of property
units, payable on an annual basis by cash

The management fees charged to vacant residential property
units owned by Beijing Guorui Group range from RMB1.25
to RMB6.52. The management fees charged to commercial
property units occupied by Beijing Guorui Group ranges from
RMB2.22 to RMB33.60

For the Initial Clean Up Services, AOCEAN Property
Management charges a fee calculated based on its actually
incurred disbursement plus a margin of 10%

For the three years ending 31 December 2026 are
RMB47,500,000, RMB52,250,000 and RMB57,475,000,
respectively

For identification purpose only

The transaction was announced by the Company in its
announcements dated 29 November 2023, 15 December 2023
and 29 December 2023, and its circular dated 9 January 2024 and
approved by independent shareholders at the general meeting of
the Company held on 2 February 2024.

For details of the 2024 New Heat Supply Services Agreement and
the 2024 New Property Management Agreement, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 29 November 2023,
15 December 2023, 29 December 2023, 9 January 2024 and 2
February 2024 and the circular of the Company dated 9 January

2024.

Note 1. 1t B4 5= b2 B2 A R 2 &) (Beijing Guorui Property Development
Company Limited*, or “Beijing Guorui Property”, which together with
its subsidiaries and associates, as the “Beijing Guorui Group”)), is
wholly-owned by 3t REI${EAR B R A (Beijing Guorui Holdings
Co. Limited*), which in turn is indirectly owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian
and Mr. Sun Zhongmin, the executive Directors, and an independent
third party as to approximately 82%, 9% and 9% respectively,
and is therefore an associate of Mr. Wei Chunxian under the
Listing Rules. Mr. Wei Chunxian, being an executive Director and a
substantial shareholder of the Company, is a connected person of
the Company, and hence Beijing Guorui Property, being an associate
of Mr. Wei Chunxian, is regarded as a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules.
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A summary of the significant related party transactions which were
undertaken in the normal course of business are set out in note 39
to the consolidated financial statements. For those related party
transactions that constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions (as the case may be) (other than those
described in the section above headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions”) under the Listing Rules, these transactions are
exempt from reporting, annual review, announcement and
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified
letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in this
report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The
Company has provided a signed copy of the said letter to the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed otherwise, the related party transactions and
continuing related party transactions as disclosed in note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements do not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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As at the date of this report, based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Company maintained sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules throughout the Year.

In January and February 2025, the Group has obtained
shareholder’s loans from Mr. Wei Chunxian with an aggregate
amount of £16,000,000.

In January and February 2025, in view of the non-compliance of
financial covenant of an interest-bearing bank loan, the Group has
early repaid part of the bank loan of £10,000,000 and placed a
deposit of £10,000,000 in a designated cure account of the bank
for obtaining a consent waiver of non-compliance with aforesaid
financial covenant on 28 March 2025.

On 25 February 2025, following a conversion notice received from a
convertible bondholder for convertible bonds of a principal amount
of HK$16,000,000, the Company allotted and issued 20,000,000
convertible shares to such convertible bondholder at a conversion
price of HK$0.80 per share.

The Company is committed to maintaining the quality of corporate
governance so as to ensure better transparency of the Company,
protection of Shareholders’ and stakeholders’ rights and enhance
Shareholder value. In the opinion of the Board, the Company had
complied with all code provisions set out in the CG Code during the
Year except the deviation of code provision C.1.6 and C.2.1 stated
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 71, 75 to 76.

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C38 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of the
Directors, all of the Directors have complied with, for any part of the
accounting year covered by this report, the required standard set
out in the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” and “Related Party Transactions” of
this report, there were no contracts of significance in relation to
the Company’s business, to which the Company or any of the
Company’s subsidiaries was a party, subsisting at the end of the
Year or at any time during the Year, and in which a Director had,
whether directly or indirectly, a material interest, nor there were
any other contracts of significance (whether or not for the provision
of services) in relation to the Company’s business between the
Company or any of the Company’ s subsidiaries and a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO SUBSCRIBE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than interests in share options of the Company as disclosed
above, and in the share option schemes disclosed in this report,
at no time during the Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
or chief executives, or their spouses or children under the age of
18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debenture of the Company or any other body corporate, and none
of them had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company
or its associated corporations, or had exercised any such right
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors was interested
in any business, which competed or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the Group’s businesses.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERBEE

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contributions
under these schemes is available to reduce the contribution payable
in future years. For details, please refer to, particulars of retirement
benefits schemes of the Group are set out in note 2.4 (headed “Other
employee benefits (pension scheme)”) to the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been
audited by Emst & Young. A resolution for their re-appointment as
the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
were approved by the Board on 31 March 2025.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wei Chunxian
Chairman

Hong Kong
31 March 2025
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Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’'s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY:

Independent auditor’s report
To the members of GR Life Style Company Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of GR
Life Style Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 143 to 277, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In accordance with the accounting

policies of the Group, investment
properties are stated at fair value.
As at 31 December 2024, the
carrying amount of the Group’s
investment properties was

approximately HK$4,466,719,000,

which represented 82% of the
total assets of the Group. The
valuation process is inherently
subjective, and dependent on a
number of estimates. The Group
engaged external professionally
qualified valuers to perform the
valuations for the investment
properties.

Related disclosures are included
in notes 3 and 15 to the financial
statements.

We considered the objectivity,
independence and competence
of the valuation experts.

We assessed the
appropriateness of the
valuation methodology adopted
by the valuers and evaluated
the data used as inputs for

the valuations and performed
market value benchmarking
against comparable properties.

We involved our internal
valuation experts to assist us in
evaluating the assumptions and
methodologies for the valuation
of the investment properties
held by the Group.

We considered the adequacy
of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial
statements in respect of the
fair value measurement of the
investment properties.
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How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

Key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade and lease receivables

As at 31 December 2024, the In relation to the impairment
Group had trade and lease assessment of trade and
receivables of approximately lease receivables, we, with
HK$145,641,000, which mainly the assistance of our internal
arose from the provision of specialists, obtained an
property management services understanding of the credit
and leasing of investment loss provisioning methodology
properties. adopted by the Group and
assessed the reasonableness
of the allowance for the
expected credit losses
estimated by management
with reference to the history of
debtors’ settlement patterns
and ageing analysis of the trade
and lease receivables.

Significant management’s
judgements and estimates on the
amount of expected credit losses
at the reporting date were involved
in determining the recoverability of
these trade and lease receivables
for impairment assessment.

Related disclosures are included
in notes 3 and 21 to the financial
statements.

We tested, on a sample basis,
the ageing analysis of the trade
and lease receivables prepared
by management; circulated
and obtained direct debtor
confirmations; and checked the
settlement status subsequent
to the reporting period.

We also considered the
adequacy of the disclosures
in the consolidated financial
statements in connection with
the impairment of trade and
lease receivables.

GR LIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

TEFREH

BT LIS RE B

FREH

JEWE 5 R T E AR AR E A1

RZZE-_WNF+=A
=t+t—R  BE£EE
IWE 5 RBEERKL
5145,641,00058 7T
HFXTEAEHREED
¥EERBLEEER
BYE -

SR ER A EEZF
FEWE 5 R E RK
By REBRNEEER
AEE B HIABES
SEERSENHE
RftiET o

HE B 45 R 0 B 7%
RMAFFE3 R 21

SIEWE 5 M EE R
REBEFEmE -
EHPARILERE
mET - WM&
B ERERANE
EERBETE I
2EBHABERN
RS2 N EU B 5 I
HERZIN K&K D
#r - FHEEIEE AR
MBI EE B RERE
EE IR o

AP I AR AR 22
EBRENERES R
MERFREDM
DEVESERER
AERE  MEER
SHRESEEIN -
BAMEZERGE
¥R P A R
B 5 M E R
BERRENZEN -



OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
By AR ES
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
By AR ES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

ZBENE T iR S M B R A KR
HREGR)

STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concemn.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
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Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as

a going concern. B o

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content e THBR A SRR THR AR -
of the consolidated financial statements, including the BREAR  SEEEER L‘A)Si,ﬁv?./:.\ 7}
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial BHRERET AL RMIZF KEIE -

statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.
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o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient °

appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a
basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other  H{fHEEEZE E @B B:T2IE T8 E - BHE%L
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant — $f - EKERINEE1E - BERMPINETE
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control [z B H A BE4%E il 89 (1 {a] 8 A BRBA o

that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
By HEREE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. TSANG, Chiu Hang.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

31 March 2025
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE —F —piE+—H=+—H|FFE

2024 2023
—E-mE B
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FET FET
REVENUE WA 5 310,017 352,640
Other income and gains, net Bl A REs - HRE 6 34,999 65,100
Cost of inventories sold BEFERA (912) (844)
Employee benefit expenses BTEMNER (86,742) (73,376)
Depreciation and amortisation T EE M 8 (2,279) (2,539)
Utilities, repairs and maintenance and NHEE - #IERRE
rental expenses RS HAT (111,465) (108,140)
Other operating costs HA SR AR (43,077) (36,944)
Finance costs M%ER 7 (124,549) (129,112)
Other expenses, net HEMBR  F58 (11,687) (7,129
Impairment of trade, lease and EWES  HER
other receivables, net HAaBRFOBE - FEE 8 (1,081) (6,892)
Remeasurement gain upon transfer AETHELEmEEL
of certain properties held for sale to KEMERLZ
investment properties BT EWES 15(c) 4,109 193,412
Fair value loss of investment WEWENTEEIE -
properties, net HEE 15 (934,841) (316,123)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BAIEE 8 (967,508) (69,947)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrigfiEse, (Fx) 11 48,164 (59,360)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR EEERBE (919,344) (129,307)
Attributable to: BB
Shareholders of the Company RAFRRE (918,501) (129,307)
Non-controlling interests IR (843) -
(919,344) (129,307)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE ATRE
TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE EEERER
COMPANY
Basic and diluted (HK cent per share) EARREEE (ZEN) 13
— For loss for the year — AR FEEE (28.71) (4.04)
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #ZE —F —pE+—H=+—HIFFEF

2024 2023
—E-NE —EC-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
k3 FET FET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR rEEEE (919,344) (129,307)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hh2mEWE(E58)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive loss that may LA1£ BfE] A GEEE 77 28 2 R an Y
be reclassified to profit or loss in A 2EESE -
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation BEFIMSEETSEE 2
of foreign operations PE H Z=RE (57,042) (21,598)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) BRI T 8 E DB E B i)
that will not be reclassified to profit or A2 ENS () Eﬁﬁ )
loss in subsequent periods:
Changes in fair value of equity A EAF AR M EEWRZES
investments at fair value through BRI EN N TEE
other comprehensive income 1,930 (2,011)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FEFHMEEES
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX HERBIE (55,112) (23,609)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS rEEREBRERE
FOR THE YEAR (974,456) (152,916)
Attributable to: ERER
Shareholders of the Company iN/NE] S (973,613) (152,916)
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR R A (843) -
(974,456) (152,916)
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371 December 2024 —ZE_—py#FE+—H=+—H

2024 2023
g 11 | 3 ZEZ=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mME - WENEE 14 951 1,529
Investment properties WEYE 15 4,466,719 5,323,355
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 1,063 2,842
Computer software EiSE 17 1,673 961
Equity investment at fair value through 12 AFEE A Bt 2 E IS
other comprehensive income HRERIRE 18 - 18,117
Total non-current assets IEmENE LT 4,470,406 5,346,804
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Properties held for sale HIEHREYE 19 136,574 160,026
Inventories YNy 20 906 914
Trade and lease receivables TEWE 5 N THEER 21 145,641 170,033
Prepayments, deposits and other TARFIE ~ FT2 REM
receivables U IE 22 325,337 191,612
Financial asset at fair value through RAFEFTAEBRA
profit or loss SREE 24 - 11,261
Other tax recoverables Huparlg LR 18 33,301 41,724
Restricted cash IR E 25 118,155 184,693
Cash and cash equivalents B RIESEEY 26 193,151 305,556
Total current assets MEEERT 953,065 1,065,819
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables BB SRR 27 71,016 67,263
Receipts in advance B IE 28 79,985 75,828
Other payables and accruals EmENFRIERE A 29 320,810 245,955
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EAMEK 30 744,707 739,895
Income tax payables FEFRSHEL 28,253 39,489
Other tax payables HAbFETRIR 7,321 10,069
Total current liabilities mENBEARE 1,252,092 1,178,499
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371 December 2024 —ZE—puFE+—H=+—H

2024 2023
—EBoNE B
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
it FET FEIT
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAETFHE (299,027) (112,680)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBER
LIABILITIES 4,171,379 5,234,124
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEME
Bank and other borrowings RITREAE K 30 1,860,779 1,910,933
Liability component of perpetual KA RMHRRIEFHH
convertible bonds AaEn 31 47,838 45,283
Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIEAE 32 130,252 175,616
Total non-current liabilities IEMBNEEEE 2,038,869 2,131,832
Net assets BE T 2,132,510 3,102,292
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to shareholders 7/ BB SR PE{L e 2%
of the Company
Share capital &N 33 3,152,571 3,152,571
Equity component of perpetual KA R EH A
convertible bonds EmE D 31 1,172,244 1,172,244
Reserves B 35 (2,193,006) (1,222,523)
2,131,809 3,102,292
Non-controlling interests JEIEAR RS 701 -
Total equity G L 2,132,510 3,102,292
Wei Chunxian Sun Zhongmin
e B“MAR
Director Director
EFE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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Year ended 31 December 2024 # 7 — & —pyFE+— H=—+—H I F/F

2024 2023
—EoME T4
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Btat FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REFTHELENRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BRIE1R (967,508) (69,947)
Adjustments for: FHEIEE -
Finance costs VEER 7 124,549 129,112
Interest income FBYA 6 (13,096) (7,627)
Write-off of property, plant and equipment MEEE - BB N&RE 8 156 193
Depreciation of property, plant and YE - BEMEREITE
equipment 8 610 880
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {j‘gﬁﬁﬁé BERE 8 1,467 1,530
Amortisation of computer software B 5 8 202 129
Remeasurement gain upon transfer ETHIEHEMEERIKE
of certain properties held for sale to MEE 2 BT ERER
investment properties 15(c) (4,109) (198,412)
Fair value loss of investment properties, REYENTERE
net FEE 15 934,841 316,123
Financial guarantee income B IS HERIRA 6 (10,080) (11,109
Impairment of trade and W E 5 R ERFRE
lease receivables 8 376 6,892
Impairment of other receivables HAh eI RE 8 705 -
Share option expense BT 8 3,130 6,579
Gain on early termination of lease contract ~ RRTAIFTAE & 42 Was 6 (33) -
Gains on derecognition of financial BRI SHPN AT 2R
liabilities at amortised costs SRIBE 2 WE 6 - (28,924)
Loss on remeasurement of financial BT EVBEREOERE
guarantee contracts 8 7,645 338
Operating profit before working capital LBESEBHAINLLERT
changes 78,855 150,757
Increase in inventories FEEmn (10) (73)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and i Hﬁl 2 5 R EERR
lease receivables m (38 h0) 20,980 (43,584)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, ?E\H?KIE Bl K H b FEIGR
deposits and other receivables R, (38 h0) (12,783) 28,656
Decrease in other tax recoverables HAth AT B R TR 7,659 7,939
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables FERTE SREFIE 11, CRi ) 4,029 (23,672)
Increase in receipts in advance TR GRIEIE N 5,163 2,919
Increase in other payables and accruals HAb B R R TR & FE N 3,917 10,739
Increase/(decrease) in other tax payables HAab B M, Crld) (2,562) 1,875
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net I:? EE s 2R (15,217) (5,736)
Cash generated from operations ERIR S 90,031 129,820
PRC corporate income tax paid BRI ERETH (2,438) (2,120)
UK income tax paid BN EBATER (7,318) (5,132
Net cash flows from operating activities KEEBASReRERE 80,275 122,568
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z - =

—mES—A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k3 FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHEENRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received BFE 13,096 7,627
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEBEYWE  WENMREEE
equipment (210) (637)
Additions to investment properties NBEREWE (101,008) (114,192)
Additions to computer software BEBINEMT (937) (428)
Purchase of principal-protected investment  BEE1Z A F(EzH ABRARA
deposits at fair value through profit or loss WEFNR - (11,053)
Redemption of principal-protected investment & B3 A F(EEH A B 25 IR AN
deposits at fair value through profit or loss % & 172k 20,047 11,053
Purchases of equity investment designated BB 18T A P EFAHM S
at fair value through other comprehensive MR RIS E
income - (20,128)
Proceed from disposal of equity investment  HEFTEZR AL BEFTA
designated at fair value through other EWJEEH&@E’WE
comprehensive income HE WP 11,179 -
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash X R HIIR &R / (%) 65,784 (180,846)
Net cash used in investing activities WEEEFFAMNREREFE 7,951 (308,504)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHELENRSRE
ACTIVITIES
Capital contribution from non-controlling M B~ B FEIE R R 2
equity holders of subsidiaries FHEARITE 1,544 -
Repayments of bank loans ERIRITER (17,168) (17,242)
New loan from a former AIESIEHIE RN
director-controlled entity HER 38,030 -
New loans from financial institutions CRIEBIREMNITER - 322,327
Repayment of loans from financial institution &8 & Bl iki% 2 B (5,758) (5,571)
New loan from a related party A IR E R 21,731 -
Repayment of loans from related parties BEBEH I ZER (54,329) -
Net decrease in balances with H b BARE 7 YA RRR R R
other related parties (46,034) (47,421)
Interest paid for bank and other borrowings B8R 17 R E A E &8 (135,464) (114,212)
Principal portion of lease payments MENRZEEZIHD (1,679) (1,516)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing MEEBE (AR
activities REmE S (199,127) 136,365
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERREEEYRD RHE
EQUIVALENTS (110,901) (49,571)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FYRE MRS EED
of year 305,556 349,182
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net  [E i B) 5 2 %58 (1,504) 5,945
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRASRAEEEY
END OF YEAR 26 193,151 305,556
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GR Life Style Company Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong and the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The registered office and the principal place of business
of the Company is located at Unit 1802, 18/F, Ruttonjee
House, Ruttonjee Centre, 11 Duddell Street, Central, Hong
Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
were involved in the following principal activities:

- property development and investment in the United
Kingdom (the “UK”), the United States of America (the
“USA”) and the mainland (“Mainland China”) of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”); and

- provision of property management services in
Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2024, the immediate holding company
of the Company is Wintime Company Limited (“Wintime”),
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
ultimate holding company of the Company is Widewealth
Company Limited (“Widewealth”), which is incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands with limited liability.
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Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, which
are all indirectly held by the Company, as at 31 December

RZZE-_WNE+_—_A=+—H  KAF
FENBRARIMBEARFEERFE)N

2024 are as follows: BT -
Place of incorporation/ Issued ordinary Percentage of
registration share capital/ equity attributable
Company name and operations registered capital to the Company  Principal activities
B/ ERA BRTZERET/ KAREL
ARER S-Sk aEX EEA TELEER
East Pacific Properties LLC Delaware, USA United States 100%  Property investment
ERE dollars (‘US$") WERE
23,250,000
23,250,000% 7T
(IE7))
GR Properties USA Inc. Delaware, USA USS$1 100%  Property development
FERE iES and investment
MEFRREE
Washington Motor LP Nevada, USA US$12,000,000 100%  Property development
FEINEE 12,000,000% ¢ and investment
NEERRRE
Talented Chief Limited British Virgin Islands/UK US$50,000 100%  Property investment
RERUAE/HE 50,0007 NERE
LTREBRREERERAR PRC/Mainland China Renminbi (‘RMB’) 100%  Property investment
(HtrB8ERREER]) YN S 1,000,000 MERE
(“Beiing Wangangtong ARBE(ARE])
Technology Development”)’ 1,000,000
ISR EEEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB1,960,000 99.9%  Sale of properties and
(TS mRHE ) FE /B AR AR 1,960,000 property investment
(*Kaipeng Technology”)’ MEHERMERE
L RERNEEEER A PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 100%  Provision of property
RE/ R EARE AR#50,000,0007 management services
RENEERRY
# These subsidiaries are registered as limited liability # ZZEMB AR REP B EE T

companies under PRC Law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment properties,
equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial asset at fair value through profit or loss
which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current
liabilities of HK$299,027,000, which includes an interest-
bearing bank borrowing of HK$700,404,000 classified
as current liability due to non-compliance of a financial
covenant. In assessing the Group’s ability to operate as a
going concern, a cash flow projection covering a period of
not less than twelve months from 31 December 2024 has
been prepared by the management, which, inter alia, takes
into account the operating performance of the Group and
the following:

- Subsequent to the reporting period, as required by
the bank as remedial action for non-compliance
of the financial covenant, the Group has made an
early partial repayment of bank loan of £10,000,000
(equivalent to HK$98,014,000) in January 2025
and placed another £10,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$98,014,000) deposit in a cure account
designated by the bank in March 2025. Consent of
waiver of non-compliance of the financial covenant
has been received by the Group in March 2025.
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- Subsequent to the reporting period, the Group has
obtained shareholder loans from Mr. Wei Chunxian
(“Mr. Wei”, the Chairman and the shareholder of the
Company) with an aggregate amount of £16,000,000
(equivalent to HK$157,823,000) for the early partial
repayment of the aforesaid bank loan and placement
of a deposit in the designated cure account.

- The Group has obtained a shareholder loan facility
from Gang Rui International Investment (HK)
Limited (“Gang Rui”) of HK$200,000,000, of which
$109,248,000 remains unutilised by the Group as at
31 December 2024.

The directors believe that, taking into account of the above
factors, the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet
its financial obligations and commitments as and when they
fall due for a period of not less than twelve months from 31
December 2024. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on the going concern basis
which assumes, inter alia, the realisation of assets and
satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business.
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The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

() the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the shareholders of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-
group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND
PREPARATION (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained
and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
accumulated losses, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group has directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16
BAMBHREERE 165 (BFTAE)
Amendments to HKAS 1

2.1

2.2

2R RHER (&)

RFENERER DAZESHN=IAT
R -RAZHEAE - AAKESEHN
AHEERBDAZEHIREET - MEA
AR ER IR HIR T A B SR
BERRaRHZE -

INRA LB R E LM E A R RIS -
HiR LHEREREE(RERE)ME
18~ (EfAI SRR B o K P 3 R ED R85
WHERKARIEN N FEREBR T
REBMELNRE - NEEZFIRER S
Hib 2 ER B D B S EH 7
BEF B RETEE - RERMEEAR
SEERHEEREEXAGBMTEEM
[@ o

BB R R B

AEBRANFEMEHRR ERRAAT
RIEFT BB RS 2R -

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
ERMEONHEERE

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

(the “2020 Amendments”)

BASFTERE15R(EETA)
Amendments to HKAS 1

WRESE B RBAIFRE (| —F_FFEFIA])

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

(the “2022 Amendments”)

BAEFERE 1R (EETA)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

BAGFERE7H KRB BERELER
ENGHACEHP)
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

@)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate occurring
from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.2
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TXIHEIERT BBV oS R M
ERiEZ
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AR BHEERE 165 (BT
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FIERARIRRE » ARERE 7 — 7
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MM EAED - ARAKEEE
REMBRBHBHRESEAE16
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The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer settlement
and that a right to defer must exist at the end of
the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement. The amendments also
clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity
instruments, and that only if a conversion option in a
convertible liability is itself accounted for as an equity
instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the reporting
period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions
of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and
concluded that the classification of its liabilities as
current or non-current remained unchanged upon
initial application of the amendments. Accordingly,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements.
The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and
exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have
supplier finance arrangements, the amendments
did not have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements. The Group intends to apply these
new and revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become
effective.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.3 EBRfifERRERHEEMR
HREER

REBW RRZEMEHRERPEAAT
SR B E AR LRI MEETE R
FIisERE R - NREBRNZEH] K
RAE T & 78 B 15 S o5 Y R A 2R B R %
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HKFRS 18
BN HRE 185
HKFRS 19

ARV B REENE195%
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

ARV BREERNFIR R EAY BG4
FTHRUERTA)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

BN MEERNEOR R B BN MEAEL
ENCACCHIRS)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements?

Rz 25 R 17 EEe

Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures®

FHERHZFTETHINE L F] - 7

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments?

T/ T AN EEGE (1E5]K)?

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity?
K RANHE B R BEIREE 7B S 792

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture*

BBV BREEANF105F L EBSHER
FE285 (EFTA)

REZHRB LN F2E LR B EE L &7 &

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’
BEGTERIE215R (BRI A) wh= Tt

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

- Volume 11
BB IR BRI S R F R
—F11%

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

BAMBREENFER - BEVHRELAETHR - FBUH
WEERNEN - BBMBREENF10RREEGR

R

FTHR(ERIA)?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

! RZZB-_RF AR z&M%R

2025 /4R [E HAR AR 2

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 RZBZRF—-—RB—HAk &R
2026 /4R [E HAR AR 2

8 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 8 RZT-+F—A—HBx2%&MAR
January 2027 WFE s HR AR

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for 4 WA EEFER GBI EREE - AT
adoption REHEM
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Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below:

@

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have
been brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited
changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the statement of profit or
loss, including specified totals and subtotals. Entities
are required to classify all income and expenses
within the statement of profit or loss into one of
the five categories: operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations and to
present two new defined subtotals. It also requires
disclosures about management-defined performance
measures in a single note and introduces enhanced
requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information
in both the primary financial statements and the
notes. Some requirements previously included in
HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors,
which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation
of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the
issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable,
amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS
34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are
minor consequential amendments to other HKFRSs.
HKFRS 18 and the consequential amendments
to other HKFRSs are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier
application permitted. Retrospective application is
required. The Group is currently analysing the new
requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS
18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s
financial statements.
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HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply
reduced disclosure requirements while still applying
the recognition, measurement and presentation
requirements in other HKFRSs. To be eligible, at
the end of the reporting period, an entity must be
a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements, cannot have public
accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or
intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial
statements available for public use which comply
with HKFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As
the Company is a listed company, it is not eligible to
elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some of the Company’s
subsidiaries are considering the application of HKFRS
19 in their specified financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
date on which a financial asset or financial liability
is derecognised and introduce an accounting
policy option to derecognise a financial liability that
is settled through an electronic payment system
before the settlement date if specified criteria are
met. The amendments clarify how to assess the
contractual cash flow characteristics of financial
assets with environmental, social and governance
and other similar contingent features. Moreover,
the amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying financial assets with non-recourse
features and contractually linked instruments. The
amendments also include additional disclosures
for investments in equity instruments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial instruments with contingent features. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
an adjustment to opening retained profits (or other
component of equity) at the initial application date.
Prior periods are not required to be restated and
can only be restated without the use of hindsight.
Earlier application of either all the amendments at
the same time or only the amendments related to
the classification of financial assets is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

©)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts
Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity clarify
the application of the “own-use” requirements for
in-scope contracts and amend the designation
requirements for a hedged item in a cash flow
hedging relationship for in-scope contracts. The
amendments also include additional disclosures that
enable users of financial statements to understand the
effects these contracts have on an entity’s financial
performance and future cash flows. The amendments
relating to the own-use exception shall be applied
retrospectively. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use
of hindsight. The amendments relating to the hedge
accounting shall be applied prospectively to new
hedging relationships designated on or after the date
of initial application. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 shall
be applied at the same time. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

©)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address
an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction
is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to
be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA. However,
the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity
shall assess whether a currency is exchangeable
into another currency and how it shall estimate a
spot exchange rate at a measurement date when
exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of
financial statements to understand the impact of a
currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application
is permitted. When applying the amendments, an
entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments
shall be recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or to the cumulative
amount of translation differences accumulated in a
separate component of equity, where appropriate, at
the date of initial application. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 EBRfERRENBHEFEM
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B®EER (])
STANDARDS (continued)

(@  Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Q@  BBYBIHEER S ER . F
Standards — Volume 11 set out amendments JEHHE — FE11BRNE B HR
to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying LXERIE1E - BEUBMEE
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, A7 R (R EREBMBEREE
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments AIE7RABENTIES]) - BEMH
that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as WMELERIFEIN - HEYBHRE
follows: ERE10 R BB FTERIFET

REREE] - EAEANAEE

ZZEERT BT ¢
. HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: o BB RELEAETIR
The amendments have updated certain T T A HE: %S5
wording in paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and EEIEE B BMBRE
paragraphs IG1, IG14 and 1G20B of the ER|FE7HEBIBELE
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for R BB EERET
the purpose of simplification or achieving SRAVIESIEIGT ~ IG14 K&
consistency with other paragraphs in the IG20BER Hy 5 THaEE + A
standard and/or with the concepts and 1l 3 ERAE Y A L i BR 3
terminology used in other standards. In % sE A A A PR B
addition, the amendments clarify that the SNAMTEEEREE o 1t
Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does N REFBEERERE
not necessarily illustrate all the requirements BTSSR E TR
in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor S| ARV BB ISR
does it create additional requirements. Earlier ERAFETRBEREZ
application is permitted. The amendments are FRBIE » IPARMNIEREE
not expected to have any significant impact IMNRTE  RFFIREER -
on the Group’s financial statements. ZEBFIATEER TG E AR

B TS IRRE LA
BATE -

. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The o BB S RELERF TR
amendments clarify that when a lessee has THTA  ZEEES
determined that a lease liability has been EAMBARBEE BT B
extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, HHRAFORETHESR
the lessee is required to apply paragraph BEEALILER - A AZERE
3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting BaEBMBHREERZFE
gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition, $RE3.83.3  WNiEHE
the amendments have updated certain FRRE SR P EE A AT U
wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and SLETE o ILON - SREIER]
Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential BB AABM B S 4R
confusion. Earlier application is permitted. FOEE5.1.3R NEBE
The amendments are not expected to have F& SR 45 AE Bl S Q8 BT 8F A
any significant impact on the Group’s financial & TR UEREE
statements. BB o NETIRFIEA - %

FEABHIEHARE
BB REETAE

B/ R
o
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

@

(continued)

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements:
The amendments clarify that the relationship
described in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10
is just one example of various relationships
that might exist between the investor and
other parties acting as de facto agents of the
investor, which removes the inconsistency
with the requirement in paragraph B73 of
HKFRS 10. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The
amendments replace the term “cost method”
with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of HKAS 7
following the prior deletion of the definition
of “cost method”. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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The Group measures investment properties, equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i 3% SRR B aE

371 December 2024 —ZE—py#FE+—H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 BEXEHBE(E)
(continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured ERBHRRANTESBBELAFENRE
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised EENKAE HRBHATESE=EE
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based MEEAEEERNREEBRGABL
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value Tt A EBIRANETHLE

measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) F—ERX — EREREEXAGRE
in active markets for identical assets or SERWIE (R
liabilities B HR(E

Level2 - based on valuation techniques for which FERX — EREQATFEFEMS
the lowest level input that is significant to EREEEENRERE
the fair value measurement is observable, R ANME T E ok B
either directly or indirectly AT A E R

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which F-ERX — EREQATEF=EmMS
the lowest level input that is significant BEEEZEENRERE
to the fair value measurement is REABE T TR BRN
unobservable H{E AT

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial MEBERNPERRERNEEMS - K

statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines SEREHREARER(REQFER

whether transfers have occurred between levels in the EEEMEAAEEEENRERBAE
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest ANB)EF T ESE - DURTEREAHIE
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as FEERAMESERER -

a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Where an indication of impairment exists, or when equity
investment testing for an asset is required (other than
investment properties, deferred tax assets, properties
held for sale, inventories and financial assets), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of
the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i 3% SRR B aE

31 December 2024 —ZE—piE+—-F=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 BEXEHBE(E)
(continued)

A party is considered to be related to the Group if: ETHIERT » Bl— R AEAER
LR
(@  the party is a person or a close member of that @  EASEZEABERTRE
person’s family and that person R B BN EMEREE - RZE
A
0] has control or joint control over the Group; () HASEE TSR
PRl
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or (ii) HAEBEHRENTE
57
(i)  is a member of the key management (i)  RAKESAERATH
personnel of the Group or of a holding FREIEABRKE

company of the Group;

or 54
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following (b) IMRERNATEMIBE - AIEE
conditions applies: S E R E AR E
0] the entity and the Group are members of the 0] ZERBNAEBRR—%
same group; EHKE
(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of (i) F—EBRBES—EE(
the other entity (or of a holding company, ERS—EBEBONERA
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other IR IEAEEAEES )
entity); NE) M E P ENEE
=E
(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of (i) ZEBMAEEE MR
the same third party; F-AMEEDE
(v)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity vy FE-EBBRF=Fm&%
and the other entity is an associate of the third rEWES—HEEEZE
entity; = 3
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(b) (continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a holding company of the entity); and

(vii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to a holding company
of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:
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FEYE - BFERRBRAEREER
HENGEFHERFRABIRERAE
HigE - sTENEZT2FHOT ¢

Building Over the shorter of the lease term and 2.5%
5 THEHR2.5%HEE &

Leasehold improvements

HEMEKE

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 10% to 33.3%
Bl KEMPAER 10%%33.3%
Motor vehicles 20%

B 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the period the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Over the shorter of the lease terms and 33.3%
FHEHI K 33.3%ME R E

WRYE  BELRERENSEHDA
BERRERER  AESHOHEAESD
foaz R B BORCAS - BIRE B0 BEEaTR
e - REEMBRFEEER - FHER
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Investment properties include both completed investment
properties and investment properties under construction.

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation. Completed investment properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Investment properties under construction or development
for future use as investment properties are classified as
investment properties under construction. Such properties
under construction are measured at cost, including
transaction costs, and subsequent to initial recognition, are
stated at fair value at the end of the reporting period when
the fair value can be determined reliably.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the
period of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from inventories (i.e., properties held for sale)
to investment properties, any difference between the fair
value of the property at the date of change in use and its
previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Computer software acquired separately is measured on initial
recognition at cost. The useful lives of computer software are
assessed to be finite.

Computer software is subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the computer software may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
computer software is reviewed at least at each financial year
end. The estimated annual rate of amortisation of computer
software is 10%.
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The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component and non-lease component, the Group
adopts the practical expedient not to separate a non-
lease component and to account for the lease component
and the associated non-lease component (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a single
lease component.

(@ Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
the straight-line basis over the following depreciation
periods, which are the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
ME T
Office premises
MAEYIEE
Motor vehicle

A
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Group as a lessee (continued)

@)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests
in leasehold land held as inventories, they are
subsequently measured at the lower of cost and
net realisable value in accordance with the Group’s
policy for “inventories”. When a right-of-use asset
meets the definition of investment property, it is
included in investment properties. The corresponding
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, and
subsequently measured at fair value, in accordance
with the Group’s policy for “investment properties”.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (continued)
In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the interest rate implicit in the lease
or, where that rate cannot be readily determined,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in bank and
other borrowings.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income
is accounted for on the straight-line basis over the lease
term and is included in revenue in profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.
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Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade and lease receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value
plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade and lease receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

(@ Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Subsequent measurement (continued)

(b)

©

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to
classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income when they meet the definition
of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, except when the
Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of
part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case,
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are not subject
to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the statement of financial position at
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.
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The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

(a)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition and considers reasonable and
supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
looking information. The Group considers that there
has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are 90 days past
due. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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(a)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade and lease receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 -

Stage2 -

Stage3 -

Financial instruments for which
credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which
credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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(b) Simplified approach

For trade and lease receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are all classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at amortised cost, which are recognised
initially at fair value and net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.
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Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract
is recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted
for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee contracts at the
higher of: (i) the ECLs allowance determined in accordance
with the policy as set out in “Investments and other financial
assets”; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

The component of perpetual convertible bonds that exhibits
characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in
the consolidated statement of financial position, net of
transaction costs. On issuance of perpetual convertible
bonds, the fair value of the liability component is determined
using a market rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond;
and this amount is carried as a financial liability at amortised
cost. The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the
equity component of the perpetual convertible bonds that
is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net
of transaction costs. The carrying amount of the equity
component of the perpetual convertible bonds is not
remeasured in subsequent years. Transaction costs are
apportioned between the liability and equity components of
the perpetual convertible bonds based on the allocation of
proceeds to the liability and equity components when the
instruments are initially recognised.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Properties held for sale are intended to be held for sale and
are classified as current assets.

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the estimated selling price based on prevailing
market conditions less estimated costs to be incurred in
marketing and selling the properties.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents is the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value and held for purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate
asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.
The expense relating to a provision is presented in the
statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

@) Provision of property management and other services
In respect of property management services, the
Group’s property management fee is charged
on a lump sum basis. The Group acts as the
principal and is primarily responsible for providing
the property management services to the property
owners, accordingly the Group recognises property
management fee received or receivable from property
owners as its revenue and all related property
management costs as its cost of services. Revenue
from the provision of property management and other
services is recognised over time when the services
are rendered.

(b) Restaurant operation
Revenue from restaurant operation is recognised at
the point in time when catering services have been
provided to customers.

Revenue from other sources
Revenue from rental income is recognised on a time
proportion basis over the lease terms.
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Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of
the related goods or services to the customer).

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors of the Company) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a Black-Scholes model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in the share option reserve in equity, over the
period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The
charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.
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Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date
fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but
without an associated service requirement, are considered
to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the
date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.
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The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Upon the exercise of share options, the resulting shares
issued are recorded by the Company as additional share
capital. In addition, at the time when the share options
are exercised, the amount previously recognised in the
share option reserve will be transferred to the share capital
account.

Options which are cancelled prior to their exercise date or
lapse are deleted from the register of outstanding options.
When the share options are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in the share option
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses as a
movement in reserves.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions vest fully once made and
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

If the Group receives information after the reporting period,
but prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about
conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period, it
will assess whether the information affects the amounts that
it recognises in its financial statements. The Group will adjust
the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect
any adjusting events after the reporting period and update
the disclosures that relate to those conditions in light of the
new information. For non-adjusting events after the reporting
period, the Group will not change the amounts recognised
in its financial statements, but will disclose the nature of
the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their financial
effects, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be
made, if applicable.

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.
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Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries established
in Mainland China and overseas are currencies other than
HKS. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into HK$
at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at
the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences
are attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of
a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange
fluctuation reserve relating to that particular foreign operation
is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of certain subsidiaries established in Mainland
China and overseas are translated into HK$ at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of these entities which arise throughout
the year are translated into HK$ at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions, that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the financial statements and have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are set out
below:

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade and lease receivables, by applying ECL rates to
different ageing groups of trade and lease receivables. The
ECL rate of each ageing group is determined by the Group
based on the average of historical incurred credit loss
experience on each ageing group in the past years and,
where material, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors and the economic environment.

The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may not be representative of
customers’ actual default in the future and significant
management estimates are required in the estimates. When
the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from
the original estimates, such differences will impact on the
carrying amounts of trade and lease receivables and the
amount of ECLs provided or reversed in the periods in which
such estimates have been changed. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade and lease receivables is
disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.

GR LIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

REAEENMBEHRREREEEEL
BRERA  FX  BEEMEENRS
SRR AN R - AETANE
o WEHRABBRE - BEZER
RGN HETE 1 A BE B BATREZA Y
AREZFEEELRBENREEEL
EAHBOER -

TXHINEP B RR T ERNSRERE
EXFENUANABH TS5 FEE
EMEERAEEXNEAFHENEAR
REVEAHE - EETARE

AEEFERBEREAEREESLE
ERFNEMEEER - AR
R W E 5 LA E R ARE A RIE R
BHEEERE - SEKEKARNER
FEFRXAAEERBBEELFEME
FRECHEFBEELNEREBBRLERNT
BEEE  TESEEAFREEHA
HEMMEEERREERRELH

B, o
=

AEBERBEEEBRLR RGBSR
BRI EEANKREPARNERED
B BT SEFELERERM
it ERRABRAERITAREFR LM
SRR - HEEEKZERRA D
REHHHEEKE S MEERKNERE
ELEREEERNBEENROESE -
ERASEERE S LHERKNEDR
EEEBRNERNI B RRM E21 AR

= o



The fair values of the Group’s investment properties are
assessed by management based on property valuations
performed by independent professionally qualified valuers.
The assumptions adopted in the property valuations are
based on information of annual rental income and property
market price per square metre, supported by (i) the terms
of any existing leases and other contracts; and (i) (when
possible) external evidence such as current market rents and
recent prices for similar properties in the same location and
condition.

Further details of the fair value estimation of the investment
properties, including the key assumptions used for fair value
measurement and a sensitivity analysis, are set out in note
15 to the financial statements.

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong,
Mainland China, the USA and the UK. The Group carefully
evaluates tax implications of its transactions in accordance
with prevailing tax regulations and makes tax provision
accordingly. However, judgement is required in determining
the Group’s provision for income taxes as there are many
transactions and calculations, of which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain, during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, the
differences will impact on the income tax and deferred tax
provision in the periods in which the determination is made.
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In addition, the Group has investment properties located in
the PRC, the USA and the UK which are measured at fair
value. Investment property is property held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation or both. In considering whether the
presumption in HKAS 12 Income Taxes that an investment
property measured at fair value will be recovered through
sale is rebutted in determining deferred tax, the Group has
developed certain criteria in making that judgement, such
as whether an investment property is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time or through sale. The presumption is rebutted only
in the circumstance that there is sufficient evidence such
as a historical transaction, future development plan and
management’s intention to demonstrate that the investment
property is held with the objective to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits over time, rather than through
sale. Continuous assessments on the presumption will be
made by management at each reporting date.

The financial guarantee contracts have been recognised and
measured as detailed in “Financial guarantee contracts” in
note 2.4 to the financial statements. The estimation of fair
value of the Group’s financial guarantee contracts involved
assessment of ECLs which is a significant estimate and the
amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and forecast economic conditions. The Group classifies the
credit exposure of the financial guarantee contracts as stage
1. Further details are included in note 29(b) to the financial
statements.
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For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on the nature of their products and
services and has two reportable operating segments as
follows:

(@) the property development and investment segment
engages in property development and investment in
the UK, the USA and Mainland China; and

(b) the property management segment engages in the
provision of property management and other services
for office buildings, residential properties and car
parks in Mainland China.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/
loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax
except that head office and corporate income and expenses
are excluded from this measurement.
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Segment assets and segment liabilities exclude unallocated *’W@’%EW&%EET\@%?E&H
head office and corporate assets and liabilities as these E/Aﬂﬁﬁf{ﬁ P ERZTAEMR
assets and liabilities are managed on a group basis. FEERMEEEE -
Property development
and investment Property management Total
NERERRE NEER ait
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

ZECmE -T-=F ZBCIME -E-=F ZECME -SC-CF
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000
THT FET THAT FET FHET FET

Segment revenue (note §) Rslka(Hits) 140,201 148,018 169,816 204622 310,017 352,640
Segment results e (936,788  (99330)  (10,269) 81105  (947,057)  (68.225)
Reconciliation: #k -
Other unallocated income and EthR A BN R

gains 4,937 22,033
Corporate and other unallocated ~ ARIREMANTER

expenses (25,388) (23,759)
Loss before tax HAlsE (967,508) (69,947)
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Property development
and investment Property management Total
NERBRRE NEER &t
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECME CTCCF ZBCRE —To-F ZBCRE CToCF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE7n AT TEn FET A7 FEr
Segment assets RREE 5,030,749 6,034,028 346,425 280,373  5377,174 6,314,401
Reconcilation: HE:
Corporate and other unallocated AR REMADEEE -
assets:
- Property, plant and equipment  —#1% - iR k& 8 320
- Right-of-use assets ~FRREE 2 1,362
- Equity investment at fair value ~ — AT (B A
through other comprehensive Hih2 A
income ERiRE - 18,117
- Prepayments, deposits and -BATE FTe Rk
other receivables Eth B 26,568 2,220
- Other tax recoverable — At EHIE 4 -
— Cash and cash equivalents -BERBEEEY 19,675 76,203
Total assets BEE 5423411 6,412,623
Segment liabilities RREE 2,899,233 2,937,821 223,257 232,560 3,122,490 3,170,381
Reconciliation: %
Corporate and other unallocated ~ ARIREMENEEE :
liabilties:
- Other payables and accruals - AR
BRER 29,881 4,133
-Dueto ashareholder included ~ —JENREFE(RE
in bank and other borrowings BT REMEZR) 90,752 89,129
- Lease liabilties included in -BERR(BEREN
bank and other borrowings REMESS) - 1,405
~ Liability component of —XAMRRESRD
perpetual convertible bonds BEHD 47,838 45,283
Total liabilties Bak 3,200,961 3,310,331
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Property development
and investment Property management
NERRERRE NEER
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

ZZCME -E--F ZEBZME —F--F ZECME —S--F
HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
FET AT FET FET FET FEr

Other segment information: AR -
Depreciation and amortisation FEREH

- Operating segments 2R 523 594 719 671 1,242 1,265
- Amount unallocated ~AAREE 1,037 1,274
2,279 2,539
Remeasurement gain upon BTHIELENZESR
transfer of certain properties REMEGZER
held for sale to investment srele
properties 4,109 193,412 - - 4,109 193,412
Fair value loss of investment RENELATEES
properties, net i 934,841 316,123 - - 934,841 316,123
Impairment of trade, lease and ElE S HEREM
other receivables, net R - 38 452 461 629 6,431 1,081 6,892
Loss on remeasurement of B ERBERED
financial guarantee contracts i 7,645 338 - - 7,645 338
Capltal expenditure* BRREY 131524 133174 1,147 1240 132671 134414
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant * EARAYBREAEDE  BEEK
and equipment, investment properties, right-of-use assets e REAYE FCRARAEREN
and computer software. o
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(a) Revenue from external customers
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(a) FKENIBEFGIKA

2024 2023

il 1123 —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$000

FET FET

Mainland China alEipN 226,700 273,013
The UK = 57,779 52,850
The USA =35 25,538 26,777
310,017 352,640

The revenue information
locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

above is based on the

WABRMRIBEE P S -

(b) FiBHEE

2024 2023

—EomE B4

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Mainland China Hp B R e 2,586,867 3,304,789
The UK HE 868,405 1,023,819
The USA EH 1,015,127 998,591
Hong Kong &5 7 1,488
4,470,406 5,328,687

The non-current asset information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments and deferred tax assets.

During each of the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, there was no single external customer which
contributed 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for

each of these years.
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Disaggregated revenue information of the Group is as AEFBNWRADFERINT :
follows:
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-ZE-_MF+-A=+—HLEFE
Property
development
and Property
investment management Total
MERRE
Segments R kEE MEESE =5
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
Types of goods or services ERSRKES
Rendering of property management and  $2{t#) %% 18 &
other services H A iR - 168,895 168,895
Revenue from restaurant operation BELERMBIA - 921 921
Total revenue from contracts BEPEHM AL
with customers - 169,816 169,816
Revenue from another source HibRKA
— Gross rental income from investment  — R E IR B Y ELLEE
property operating leases e WA B 140,201 - 140,201
Total revenue NE 140,201 169,816 310,017
Timing of revenue recognition A TR
Services transferred over time B e PR e A2 AR 75 - 168,895 168,895
Services transferred at a point in time ~~ FERS R 288 7% PR 74 - 921 921
Total revenue from contracts BRAHBALEE
with customers - 169,816 169,816
Revenue from another source H AR A
— Gross rental income from investment — & G B KL
property operating leases HEMHSWALS 140,201 - 140,201
Total revenue N L 140,201 169,816 310,017
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Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-—E-_=F+-A=+—HLEE
Property
development
and Property
investment management Total
YR
Segments W K& MEER &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET TFET FET
Types of goods or services EmSRKESE
Rendering of property management and 22 EE N
other services H RS - 203,412 203,412
Revenue from restaurant operation BELEFHRA - 1,210 1,210
Total revenue from contracts BEAH#HW AL
with customers - 204,622 204,622
Revenue from another source HAFRBA
- Gross rental income from investment  — R BIREWEL L
property operating leases HEMNHSWALE 148,018 - 148,018
Total revenue LN 148,018 204,622 352,640
Timing of revenue recognition U A B R B
Services transferred over time FER MR - 208,412 203,412
Services transferred at a point in time 8 e Rl 2H A RS PR 75 - 1,210 1,210
Total revenue from contracts BEAHW A E5E
with customers - 204,622 204,622
Revenue from another source HbHREWA
- Gross rental income from investment  — R EIRE M ELL
property operating leases HENHS WAL 148,018 - 148,018
Total revenue LN 148,018 204,622 352,640
All revenue from contracts with customers during the year HEZZT-_WMER_ZT_=F+=A
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 was generated in —t+—HIEFENABREFALHKAY
Mainland China. RARBIRREEA -
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Notes:

(a)

(b)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were included
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting
period:

Hii -

(a)

TRINRR AR S H R R A U A
S8 AFFABRSHINANEE

2024 2023

—E-MEF —EZ=F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FrET

Property management services MEEIR RS 39,222 37,016

No revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December
2024 related to performance obligations satisfied or partially
satisfied in previous periods (2023: Nil).

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations in
contracts with customers is summarised below:

Provision of property management and other services
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment in advance is normally required.

Restaurant operation

The performance obligation is satisfied when the catering
services have been provided to customers. The Group’s
trading terms with its customers are mainly on cash and
credit card settlement. The credit period is generally less
than one month.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
HKFRS 15 to its revenue from the provision of property
management and other services for not disclosing the
remaining performance obligations under the Group’s
existing contracts as the Group recognises revenue from
the satisfaction of the performance obligation in the amount
to which the Group has a right to consideration from a
customer that corresponds directly with the value to the
customer of the entity’s performance completed to date.
In addition, for all other contracts in which the performance
obligations are expected to be recognised as revenue
with an original expected duration of one year or less, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed as permitted under HKFRS 15.

GR LIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

(b)

REBE-_ZT-_NF+-A=+—H
IEFE - TAREREEANAHERE
TRIDBITHRBAETABO
MNMIZEZ=F: ) -

BREE
BFAREEREFPANANENE
ERERBAAT

FEHRYFETERAMIRT
EHETEZRERBHERER
7 BRARFERENK -

BREEE
BEHEEIRELERNETFRHEE SRR
BRERT - AEERZFIRN
ReRERFHEETRARS - 8
H—MA—EANRT -

FEBERBERVBREERSE
1A EBER 2 - R M
MEEER R MRS 2 WEART
BREAEEREANTZHRTRELY
B - AEBEERNRVBRETE
MEEMEL  TASEAEEER
FERSRE MRELEEZAR
LTERBENEFEZEFPEBERRR
oo utHh 0 SIBHMBTEESER
RERBEMFHRR—FRANKEZ
PEHEMAEHNNE @ REEVBR
SEAFSKAAF - DEEZE
RERITANZZDEITRE -



An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains,
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net is as

AEEREFELEEBOHEMBBAR

follows: Was  FELTT ¢
2024 2023
—E-E —EC-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
gz FAET FET
Other income Hg A
Bank interest income HRITHLEWA 7,883 4,956
Interest income from loan FEUEFF B U
receivables 22(a) 5,213 2,653
Interest income from principal- REZEAFERTA
protected investment BaRRAEE
deposits at fair value through FREF BUA
profit or loss - 18
Government grants* BT A 5,024 6,485
Financial guarantee income B RS HEIRIRA 29(b) 10,080 11,109
Others Htt 6,766 5,502
34,966 30,723
Other gains, net Hhlezs > F58
Foreign exchange gain, net NEURES - SFEE - 5,453
Gain on early termination of AR IEHEED
lease contract 2z 16(c) 33 -
Gains on derecognition of R W RIR 30(d)),
financial liabilities at AT ERIER  30(e)i),
amortised costs BEz K= 31(d) - 28,924
- 34,377
34,999 65,100

The amount mainly represents government subsidies,

value-added tax refund and other tax refunds. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these

grants.

ZBAE BRI - BER R
HAMEER - EEGHMEHED
REMR MG HEAEM -
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An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows:

AEBWMBERONMT -

2024 2023
—E-NE —E=F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
WiaE FET FET
Interest on loans from banks  #R1T R & BB IR AtEY
and financial institutions BFIE 159,576 134,366
Interest on a loan from AR RIRERERE R
a shareholder of the B S
Company 30(c) 1,623 1,624
Interest on loans from BRI ERREMHN
director-controlled entities, BFRHFE - FEE
net* 30(d) (2,153) 2,017
Imputed interest on a loan EFIEHIERREED
from director-controlled EFHEER S
entity 30(d) 825 922
Interest on loans from former Al 2 E42 | ZEL 1R (LAY
director-controlled entities, BHEHFE - JFEE
nett 30() (9,503) 4,469
Imputed interest on a loan RTE BT HIE SRR
from a former director- EFHEERE
controlled entity 30(e) 1,902 2,124
Interest on perpetual KA RAE ST S
convertible bonds 31 - 376
Imputed interest on perpetual 7k A AR fE 5 1Y
convertible bonds HEEF S 31 2,555 1,851
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 16(0) 240 345
Total financial costs BB R 155,065 148,094
Less: Amount capitalised in B RTEEEMER
investment property B FIR
under construction (30,516) (18,982)
124,549 129,112
* Included in this amount during the year is (i) interest on * FRAMSEOE  (\FEEEHEE

T RERFIE2,499,0008 (= F

T4 :2,017,000/87T) i NMFOBR()
HekE g B EFEEAREE

-7 B EE A Y U A 4,652,000/ 7T
T F ) o

=

loans from director-controlled entities of HK$2,499,000
(2023:HK$2,017,000); and net of (i) income derived from
the waiver of relevant interest payables accrued in current
and prior years of HK$4,652,000 (2023: Nil).

# Included in this amount during the year is (i) interest on loans #
from former director-controlled entities of HK$4,405,000
(2023:HK$4,469,000); and net of (i) income derived from
the waiver of relevant interest payables accrued in current
and prior years of HK$13,908,000 (2023: Nil).

FRMSFABIE - ()AIESIT T
R E KT 84,405,000 JT

— T = 4F 4,469,000 7T )
KN BRERBRENXBEFE
2 HEEESAEmMEEN KA
13,908,000/ T( =T == 4 : #&) -
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AEENBBEBRENR,(ER) T3

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting): I8
2024 2023
—E-NE T4
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
izt FET FEIT
Cost of inventories sold EEFERR 912 844
Depreciation of property, WE - RENMREITE
plant and equipment 14 610 880
Depreciation of right-of-use FREESEITE
assets 16(a) 1,467 1,530
Amortisation of computer E s 3
software 17 202 129
Write-off of property, plant MEEMZE - B KRR
and equipment 14 156 193
Employee benefit expenses EERANER (B
(including directors’ EEHM(FEE9)) -
remuneration (note 9)):
Salaries, allowances and e RRANEY
benefits in kind Mz 84,962 71,871
Equity-settled share option IARRREAE A
expense IERR R 34 3,130 6,579
Pension scheme RIRESFTBIHER
contributions 1,780 1,505
89,872 79,955
Impairment of trade and lease  EURE 5 K
receivables FAERIRE 21(p) 376 6,892
Impairment of other H At R GRIRRE
receivables 22(b) 705 -
1,081 6,892
Auditor’s remuneration ZERRT N & 2,100 2,250
Foreign exchange differences, [ }{ Z 58 %48
net 773 (5,453)
Loss on remeasurement ST EPEER
of financial guarantee & HEE
contracts 29(b) 7,645 338
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Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to BIEBZAES LMK ETWHR
The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock 81~ FBCAAHEN ) E383(1)(@)
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(@), (b), (c) and o)~ OROIEARCARI(FEEER
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of BEOBODF 2R BENARNFEEER
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Ban R -

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Group
KEH
2024 2023
—E-NE —Eo=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Fees e 1,340 1,340
Other emoluments: H b EREN -
Salaries, allowances and e R EYF R
benefits in kind - _
Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEIERR 54 54
Subtotal IINEF 54 54
Total &5t 1,394 1,394
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An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a named

basis, is as follows:

31 December 2024

—EFEopmFE+—A=4+—H

EEFMAR/EE) DT

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind contributions remuneration
O omeEBA R4S
ok ENFR BE S B0 b
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FE FET FE FET
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_E_ME+=A
=t-HLEFE
Executive directors: HITEE
Mr. Wei Chunxian (“Mr. Wei”) s A ([3EE]) 480 - 18 498
Mr. Sun Zhongmin (‘Mr. Sun”) HMREE(HREE] 500 - 18 518
Ms. Li Bing* EN o - - - -
980 - 36 1,016
Independent non-executive directors: BV HHTEE :
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric gty 120 - 6 126
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien HEEL+ 120 - 6 126
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming iyl Sta 120 - 6 126
360 - 18 378
Total A3t 1,340 - 54 1,394
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-E-=F1+-A
=t-HLEE
Executive directors: HITEE
Mr. Wei BrE 480 - 18 498
Mr. Sun BhE 500 - 18 518
Ms. Li Bing TEut+ - - - -
930 - 36 1,016
Independent non-executive directors: BUHHTEE :
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERELAE 120 - 6 126
Ms. To Tsz Wan Vivien HEEZL 120 - 6 126
Mr. Leung Louis Ho Ming REE R E 120 - 6 126
360 - 18 378
Total At 1,340 - 54 1,394

from 11 December 2024.

Resigned as executive director of the Company with effect

© EREARARTES  YA-T

—pEt = At B
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i 3% SR B 5E

31 December 2024 —ZE—piE+—H=+—H

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 9. EFEHM(E)
(continued)
Note: There was no arrangement under which a director waived Miat - FANEE R RESREERE A
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2023: TR T _=F &) -
Nil).
10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. hfIEE#HER
The five highest paid employees during the year no director FA - ANESHEETTREES
included (2023: two). Details of the remuneration of the five (ZEZ=F WA) - FRAK(ZF
(2023: three) non-directors, highest paid employees for the ZEF ZR)FEENESFEEL
year are as follows: SMEEBLT ¢
2024 2023
—E_NE TEC=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and e RRMEYN&®
benefits in kind 5,277 3,965
Equity-settled share option expense A& 45 & &4 B IR 2 3,130 6,579
Pension scheme contributions RIKEET IR 85 90
8,492 10,634
The number of the non-director highest paid employees HNBEAR A THEANNIEEER S EHE
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as BEMAELT :
follows:

Number of employees

EEAH
2024 2023
—E-NE TEC=F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T 2 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0018TE
1,500,000/ 7T 2 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 LE
4,500,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 7,500,001 702
8,000,0007 7T - 1
5 3
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No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as MAREE - BRAERN EEEERR

the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in EAEENERT RS - Ay - WE

Hong Kong during the year (2023: Nil). TEBNEFRTIEEHE(ZE_=4F
&)

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated Hihih H O ERFORF 2 HRIBERIES

at the rates of tax prevailing in jurisdictions in which the BRIRITEARE - RBRIED - A& H

Group operates, based on the prevailing legislation, BB REEENIRITHRERAE -

interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

An analysis of the Group’s income tax charge/(credit) is as REEMRSHER, ()9O T :
follows:

2024 2023

—EC-NE —E-=F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET FET

Current — Mainland China HH — A B A BE (5,655) 8,195
Current — UK B A — B

— Charge for the year —AFEER 3,897 10,112

— Overprovision in prior years — B FEBRERE (1,290) -

Current — USA & H— £ 60 -

Withholding tax — PRC P EITEHIRE 2,125 -

Deferred (note 32) IRIE(H15#32) (47,301) 41,053

Total tax charge/(credit) for the year ERHEBEER,(3K%R)
4EEE (48,164) 59,360

FHH 2024 BBEFERATF
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A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable to
profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory tax rates for the
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of
its subsidiaries operate to the tax expense/(credit) at the
effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable tax
rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates,

are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024

HIRGERR AR R REKRZEHE AT
BEMEMNREEERNBADERN,
(BR)HEERERAEHNHRAER,
(%) HREEREGFEHNOHASR
A/ (%) B EER - SARERT (R
EERE)MERBEERNT

BE-Z_NF+-A=+—HLEFE

Hong Kong Mainland China Overseas Total
R EN B At
HK$'000 %  HKS$'000 %  HK$000 %  HKS$'000 %
FEn % A7 % T % &7 %
Profit/(loss) before tax BEER/ (58) (19,025) (660,693) (287,790) (967,508)
Tax expense at the statutory FEEREHENHEER
fax rate (3,139) 165  (164458) %0 (13415 %5 (241,012 20
Income not subject to tax EBMTHBA (2,221) 1.7 (5,313) 0.8 (5,923) 21 (13,457) 14
Expenses not deductible for tax TAENRENER 2,365 (124) 113,146 (i) 132 (25.6) 189,283 (19.6)
Effect of withholding tax on RN B Al AR
distributable profits from a Bifmye
subsidiary in the PRC - - 2,125 (03 - - 2,125 (02
Adjustment in respect of current bigcredzilaiol
tax of previous periods BB AR - - - - (1,200) 04 (1,200) 0.1
Tax losses utlised from previous REATERE
period - - (4,851) 07 - - (4,851) 05
Tax losses not recognised AEAAEE 2,995 (15.7) 7,604 (12) 10,349 36 21,038 22)
Tax expense/(credit) at the Group's  RAEEEEHEHEH
effective tax rate WEER/(£2) - - (51,657) 7.8 3,493 (12)  (48,164) 5.0
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12.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i 3% SRR B aE

31 December 2024 —ZE—piE+—-F=+—H

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 1. Fif8IR(ESR) BAE)
(continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—HLEFE
Hong Kong Mainland China Overseas Total
&5 REARE ) At
HK$000 % HK$000 % HK$000 % HKS000 %
FET % FET % FHET % TET %

Profit/{loss) before tax TR/ (58) (1,788 218,676 (286,835) (69,947)
Tax expense/(credit) at the statutory  REEHEEH)

tax rate HEER/(B2) (295) 165 54,672 50 (72573 %53 (1819) 2.0
Income not subject to tax BEMTRBA (3,636) >100 (3512) (16) (3418) 12 (10,566) 15.1
Expenses not deductivle for tax AR B 3,031 (>100) 1,180 05 82199 87 87310 (>100)
Adjustment in respect of current SBERNDE

tax of previous periods G gkt - - - - 349 0.1) 349 (05
Tax losses utiised from previous BABITEER

period - - (7,547) (35 - - (7,547) 108
Taxlosses not recognised AERHEEE - - 304 0.1 7,706 27) 8,010 (115
Tax expense at the Group's BASEEREEN

effective tax rate HEER - - 45,007 206 14,263 60 59,360 (849
DIVIDEND 12. B2

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

BEERYTEEARBEE T _NF+=
A=Z+—BLHEEERNEHRE(ZZ
TF )
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The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based
on the loss for the year attributable to shareholders of the
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
no adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amount presented in respect of a dilution as the impact of
perpetual convertible bonds and share options outstanding
had no diluting effect on the basic loss per share amounts
presented.

The calculations of the basic and diluted loss per share
amounts are based on:

SRERFIESHEREAA T RED
5 PR IR B BT SRR IR
EHEISH -

MEBE_ZT-_MFR_FT_=F+=AH
—tT—HIEFEMS @ ARERITER
KAR ARG S RIEREN T EEME
MHEREE B ESEER - i
EREINEREARNEBESEELEH
BEmAE -

BREAREEBEERBEUTES
H o

2024 2023

—E-ME —E=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAETT FET
Loss for the year attributable to RETEFRERLES
shareholders of the Company, pi=LERE sl Op NN
used in the basic and diluted loss IR (AN FE 1A

per share calculation (918,501) (129,307)

Number of ordinary shares

ZRREE
2024 0023
—B-MF —E-—F

Rt ESRERNEE

Weighted average number of

ordinary shares in issued during BB {E AR AEE
the year, used in the basic and BEITL B
diluted loss per share calculation A9 2L

GR LIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HENE &R #£EX
£ WAERE Jat:d Ch
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEr FAT FEr
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-_ZE_&E
TZA=t-ALEE
At 1 January 2024: RZT-mE—-RA—-A:
Cost XA 1,281 6,810 2,287 10,378
Accumulated deprecation 2EE (971) (5,705) 2,173) (8,849)
Net carrying amount REFE 310 1,105 114 1,529
Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 1 January 2024 RZZE-M¥—H[—H 310 1,105 114 1,529
Additions NE - 210 - 210
Depreciation provided during the year (note 8)  AFETRITE (#7:28) (169) (441) - (610)
Write-off sy (141) 1) (14) (156)
Exchange realignment [ - (20) @ (22)
At 31 December 2024 e
+-A=+-H - 853 98 951
At 31 December 2024: R-E-mE
+-A=+-R:
Cost A 641 6,885 1,958 9,484
Accumulated depreciation 2EE (641) (6,032 (1,860) (8,533)
Net carrying amount FEFE - 853 98 951

FHH 2024 EHEFRRAT
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31 December 2024 —ZE—piE+—H=+—H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. W% - BE R (E&)

(continued)
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HEMX KR REW \
B BAERE & A3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-8-=%
TZAZt-HLEE
At 1 January 2023: R-B-=—£E-f-7:
Cost B 1,281 6,639 2,339 10,259
Accumulated depreciation oiTE (752) (5,192) (2,204) (8,168)
Net carrying amount REEE 529 1,447 115 2,091
Net carrying amount: EEHE -
At1 January 2023 RZE==F—-f—-H 529 1,447 115 2,091
Additions w2 - 537 - 537
Depreciation provided during the year (note 8) - 74 sHg4r & (f:28) (219) (661) - (880)
Write-off i - (199) - (193)
Exchange realignment [ E - (25) (1) (26)
At 31 December 2023 RZZB-=%F
+=-A=1+-H 310 1,105 114 1,529
At 31 December 2023 RZE=Z=
+=ZA=1-H
Cost A 1,281 6,310 2,287 10,378
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE 971) (5,705) (2,173) (8,849)
Net carrying amount EmEE 310 1,105 114 1,529
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—E oA =+—H

Under
Completed construction
(note (a)) (note (b)) Total
2R EESP &%
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FETT FAETT F#ETT
(note (a)) (note (b))
(Ki5ta@) (K152 b))
Carrying amount as at R-ZE-_=F—H—H
1 January 2023 FERHEE 4,518,793 416,464 4,985,257
Additions NE - 133,174 133,174
Net loss from fair value adjustments A E1{H 5 4 1 F E5 18 (265,937) (50,186) (316,123)
Transfer from properties held ERARBIEREYE
for sale (note (c)) (Kt (c)) 571,426 - 571,426
Exchange realignment B 7, 82 (644) 265 (879)
Carrying amount as at N-E-=4F
31 December 2023 and +ZA=+—H8xK
1 January 2024 —E_ME—A—H
KIERE(E 4,823,638 499,717 5,323,355
Additions NE - 131,524 131,524
Net loss from fair value N EFABEED
adjustments FE 1R (842,322) (92,519) (934,841)
Transfer from properties held EEAHELEME
for sale (note (c)) (M) 24,443 - 24,443
Exchange realignment P H (74,652) (3,110) (77,762)
Carrying amount as at RZTE_MF+_H
31 December 2024 =+—H®EREE 3,931,107 535,612 4,466,719
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Notes:

The Group’s completed investment properties as at 31
December 2024 represented a commercial building located
in London, the UK; a commercial and residential complex
located in Santa Monica, the County of Los Angeles, State
of California, the USA (the “US Complex”); and a commercial
building located in Beijing, the PRC, which are leased to
third parties under operating leases, further summary details
of which are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.

The Group’s investment property under construction as at
31 December 2024 and 2023 represented a parcel of land
located in Culver City, the USA (the “Culver City project”).

During the year, the use of certain units in the properties
held for sale has been changed upon the inception of
operating leases with external third parties. As a result, the
leased portion of the properties held for sale was transferred
to completed investment properties and a remeasurement
gain of HK$4,109,000 (2023: HK$193,412,000) was
recognised in profit or loss during the year.

Each year, the Group’s senior management decides which
external valuers to be appointed for the external valuations
of the Group’s properties. Selection criteria include market
knowledge, independence and whether professional
standards are maintained.

The Group’s senior management has ongoing discussions
with the valuers on the valuation assumptions and results
when the valuations are performed. The Group’s investment
properties were revalued on 31 December 2024 based
on valuations performed by Knight Frank LLC, Vincorn
Consulting and Appraisal Limited and Cushman & Wakefield
Western, Inc., independent professionally qualified valuers
(2023: Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited and
Cushman & Wakefield Western, Inc.).
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Notes: (continued)

©)

Mat (%)

(continued) (@) (&)
Fair value hierarchy disclosure ATEERIEE
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, fair value measurements RZB_MER_Z_=F+_A
of all of the Group’s investment properties are using =t+—H XEEMBREVEDN
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 as defined in HKFRS ATFEAEHFERERTIHRE
13). During the year, there was no transfer into or out of ANE(E=ER)(EEREBUBR
Level 3 (2023: Nil). HERE135) - RAFE -« HEE
ASEHE=ZERNAFEAE(Z
T=F )
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and T ARREERIREYEBEMR
the key inputs to the valuation of the Group’s investment ARHERNTREZHABEONE
properties:
Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs Range of input
fRE R EXRTABRBAE BAEEE
2024 2023
et Sl 2 s
Completed investment properties
BERRENE
A commercial building Income capitalisation () Equivalent yield 5.90% 5.50%
in UK (i) Unit market £65-£85 per £68-£90 per
rent per month square foot of per square foot of
gross floor area gross floor area
RREREEEF WABAR % () HEKEE 5.90% 5.50%
(i) BRAENLTSEE SYFREBEEE BT HFRAEERE
65%EE85 R 68225 90 5
The US Complex Income capitalisation () Capitalisation rate 4.50% 4.75%
(i) Unit market rent US$66-US$72 US$66-US$78
per month per square foot of per square foot of
gross floor areaand  gross floor area and
US$5,300-US$6,000  US$5,600-US$6,000
per unit of bedroom  per unit of bedroom
or townhouse or townhouse
ZEGAME WABAR{ % ) EeE 4.50% 4.75%
(i) BRAENTSEE SYFREBEEE BSYHFRAEERE
66ETET2ETLR B6ETLET8ETL R
BENUBRER BERAEL
BHEES00ETE  HHHET5,600%LE
6,0005 7T 6,000 7T
FiR 2024 BEAHEERROAE



371 December 2024 —ZE—puFE+—H=+—H

Notes: (continued)

©)
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Hist : (&)
(continued) () (&)
Fair value hierarchy disclosure (continued) NP ERRIKE(E)
Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs Range of input
R E R EXFUBEEHAE WAEEE
2024 2023
—EBomE —Eo=F
A commercial building Direct comparison ()  Sales comparison RMB28,700 - RMB35,600 -
in the PRC RMB28,900 RMB43,600
per square metre per square metre
for retail and for retail and
RMB33,700 - RMB 44,700 -
RMB44,000 RMB53,000
per square metre per square metre
for office for office
R BN EEET HEEXEE i HEXR ZEEBTAK ZEBETAK
AR#28,7000F AR#35,60072
AR#28,9007T K AR #43,6007T K
BAEBFHK RREGEHA
AR¥33,7000E AR#44,7007T2
AEK#44,0007 AR#53,0007T
Investment property under construction
EEPREME
The Culver City project Direct comparison ()  Sales comparison US$660 US$660
per square foot per square foot
of land area of land area
RERBWIER HEENEE i HEXR BRPARAZEERE STHIREEREDE
6603 7T 6603 7T



15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

©)

(continued)

Fair value hierarchy disclosure (continued)

The investment properties of the Group were valued using
the income capitalisation approach and direct comparison
approach. The income capitalisation approach is applied
based on net rental income that can be derived from
existing tenancies with due allowance for the reversionary
potential of the properties.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated rental
value in isolation would result in a significant increase/
(decrease) in the fair value of the investment properties. A
significant increase/(decrease) in the equivalent yield and
capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significant
decrease/(increase) in the fair value of the investment
properties. Generally, a change in the assumption made for
the estimated rental value is accompanied by a directionally
similar change in the rental value and an opposite change in
the equivalent yield and the capitalisation rate.

The direct comparison approach is applied based on
market price by referencing comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant markets. Market price is one of
the key inputs, taking into account the time, location and
individual factors, such as frontage and size, between the
comparables and the property.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the market size used
would result in a significant increase/(decrease) in the fair
value of the investment properties.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s investment
properties were all to secure financial guarantee contracts
(note 29(b)), banking facilities granted to the Group (note
30a)) and loans from financial institutions (note 30(b)).

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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15. BEHME(E)
Bzt - (&)

@

(&)

DPEEREE(E)
AEBEMRENERBRAELR L
ENRBEERLBORETHE - AR
ABRMOEBDERASEREAR
ERFHESBA - TZRFREH
MEREREN -

BEMAESEBBNE LA (T
) e BEREMERNFEKNREL
TR - SEWERRERL
EEPARE LS (TR SEHR
EMEATFERETRE (L) -
—f&mE - stEFESEEMER
ROEHEHEHSEEMERT M
B SIAL FER R T REREEX
BRI REES o

BELEOENERIREMISER
Y2ERET S EMAT L BRIEER
ZET - MHERRTEBAELZ
—YEt RATLL R MR E 2
- E R ERRRNERE LR -

P AT 35 AR 1 KR 32 b, Ot 4>)
EEHREVENRAFEARL
T/ (TR o

R-ZE-NFEE T -_=F+_A
=+—H AEEEMRAEWEE
RETAREENIBEERE L (5T
29(b)) * RITELE (FI3E30(@)) K2R &
SRR 2 B (I3E30(0)) 2 &R ©
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The Group leases its investment properties (note 15)
consisting of a commercial property in the UK, one residential
and commercial property in the USA and one commercial
property in the PRC to third parties and related parties
in which two directors of the Company have beneficial
interests, under operating lease arrangements for terms
ranging between 1 and 15 years (2023: 1 and 15 years).
The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay
security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the contract terms. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was HK$140,201,000 (2023:
HK$148,018,000), details of which are included in note 5 to
the financial statements.

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

AEERBEEMELHRE =5 A
UNSIER: 5/ ¥ oh gt Fad:0)ez) i
FAEBREME(KHFE15) (BEEERN
—BEEAYE  EEEN—BEEERD
AMEREHREN—IEFAYE) - #
ERAIFEF(ZT_=F 1%
166 )T E - ZEHEMBKR—MREK
AR HRES - WAl LARIEAS IR
THAERS - AEERAFEERD
LU A A140,201,0008 L (— T - =
F 1 148,018,000/87T) © EFiBst AR
TERERMIFES ©

R-ZE-_WNFE+—_A=1+—H K&EE
BIEREEFEETN AT RELEME
€ RARREAREWE R AR ITIREE N
NN

2024 2023

—E-MEF ZT=F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FEr

Within one year —F R 134,705 133,263
After one year but within two years —FRERFA 90,422 87,735
After two years but within three years MFBREB=FA 64,131 50,694
After three years but within four years —FRENFR 53,614 41,049
After four years but within five years MERERFA 47,893 34,909
After five years AFi% 171,335 153,499
Total &5t 562,100 501,149

The Group’s operating lease receivables as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 are disclosed in note 21 to the financial
statements.

GR LIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

AEFRR_ZE-_MFR T -_=F+—
A=+ — /LR ERE RN 7%
MRMIFT21 R PE -



371 December 2024 —ZE—py#FE+—H=+—H

The Group has lease arrangements as a lessee for office
premises for use in its operations. Leases of office premises
have lease terms between 1 and 3 years. Generally, the
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
assets outside the Group. All the lease contracts do not
include any extension and termination options and variable
lease payments.

(a)

REBERABA  BEANEEKE
EMMAEYEZBERY - PAE

XZHENHERR1EIF - — KM
5 ARENARAAKEAINALTE R
ROHEMEEE - MEHESNEHTE
SEEREA R EEEN

=+
Moo

Right-of-use assets (a) HEESE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use RERZFAEEERAENRAN
assets and the movements during the year are as FREEBHMT :
follows:
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
As at 1 January n—A—H 2,842 4,094
Additions N - 275
Depreciation provided during the year ~ REEHEITE
(note 8) (#1:28) (1,467) (1,530)
Gain on early termination of lease RAKRIEAES 2 W
contract (302) -
Exchange realignment b 5 R (10) 3
As at 31 December R+-—A=+—8H 1,063 2,842

FHH 2024 BBEFERATF
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(b) Lease liabilities
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under
bank and other borrowings) and the movements
during the year are as follows:

(b) HERRF

HERBEZRAE(RRERTR
HA B RAFEEZHMT

2024 2023

—EomE “E-=F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Carrying amount at 1 January n—A—BHEBE 3,086 4,323

New leases HHE - 275
Accretion of interest recognised AF G B R B 12 1E

during the year 240 345

Payments 5K (1,679) (1,861)
Gain on early termination of lease 2RI ILTAESH

contract & (335) -

Exchange realignment P& 5 S (11) 4

At 31 December (note 30) »t+ZA=+—H

(H1530) 1,301 3,086

Portion classified as current liabilities D $EARE & BHZH (439) (1,633)

Non-current portion JEENERED 5 862 1,453

HEaEmR e DM IRERE
TEIRERMIFE42 -

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 42 to the financial statements.

(c)  Other lease information (c) HMHEEEZH
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to B EB BN IERNERN SR
leases are as follows: LU
2024 2023
“EINE —Eo=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEABEFE 240 345
Gain on early termination of lease RAKRIEHEERDZ
contract s (33) -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 1,467 1,530
Total amount recognised in RIERAERFUA
profit or loss Fak] 1,674 1,875

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note
36(c) to the financial statements.
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31 December 2024 —ZE—piE+—-F=+—H

17. COMPUTER SOFTWARE 17. EEEE4
2024 2023
—EClmE TR
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET FET
At 1 January: W—H—8:
Cost 7R 1,709 1,490
Accumulated amortisation RET# (748) (811)
Net carrying amount BREFHE 961 679
Net carrying amount: AREVFE :
At 1 January wn—HA—H 961 679
Additions NE 937 428
Amortisation provided during the year REFHREHEA78)

(hote 8) (202) (129)
Exchange realignment fE 5 % (29) (17)
At 31 December Rt+=—A=+—8H 1,673 961

At 31 December: R+-—A=+—8:
Cost D@ 2,606 1,709
Accumulated amortisation Rt (933) (748)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,673 961

18.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 18.
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME

As at 31 December 2023, equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income of the Group
represented the listed equity investment which was
designated as financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income as the management considered the
investment was not held for trading purpose.

The Group has disposed of the equity investment during the

year.

BAFEEARMEZEKR

R RE

NZZBE_=F+_A=1+—0 " ~x&H
BAFESAEMEERSOESIEE
BETERZEE  AREEEBRAZE
BEWIFEE SRS MWIETARA
FEFARMBEEBSHEMEE -

FA - ARBEDHERRRE -
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31 December 2024 —ZE—piE+—H=+—H

19. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 19. HEHEDME
Properties held for sale of the Group as at 31 December AREBR - ZE-_NER T -_=F+—
2024 and 2023 represented a certain portion of a A=+ —B e EWERMNFE
commercial building located in Beijing, the PRC. b RE— EEERFHOE D -
As at 31 December 2024, the properties held for sale were RZEBE-_WNFE+=-—A=1+—8  &%£H
pledged to secure a financial guarantee contract (note 29(b)) IR ELEMEFEAR TAEERNE
and a banking facility granted to the Group (note 30(a)). EYERA # (5E29(0)) K $R1TREE (Bt
#£30(a)) Z FELR
20. INVENTORIES 20. &
2024 2023
—E_ME —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Operating items for restaurant operations — EEBAL & A4S Z 18 B 1 26
Repair and maintenance parts HE RAREZ S 905 888
906 914
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2024 2023

“EomE —Fo=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FEr

Trade receivables EUNE Z R 115,846 154,163
Lease receivables JEUFR S ERN 64,873 51,260
Total gross trade and lease receivables  JEUE 5 R IE EEF A% 180,719 205,423
Less: Impairment (note (b)) o EE(M D) (35,078) (35,390)
145,641 170,033

Notes:

Trade and lease receivables are non-interest bearing and
arise from the provision of property management services,
leasing of investment properties. Tenants of the Group’s
managed properties are required to pay a calendar year’s
property management service fees annually in advance.

The Group’s credit terms of its trade and lease receivables
are negotiated with and entered into under normal
commercial terms with tenants of the properties managed
by the Group and tenants of investment properties.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

Included in the Group’s trade and lease receivables as at
31 December 2024 are amounts of HK$54,554,000 (2023:
HK$94,957,000) in total due from companies controlled by
two directors of the Company, which are repayable within
60 days. Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun, both being the directors
of the Company, have beneficial interests in these related
parties.

As at 31 December 2024, certain lease receivables of
HK$61,324,000 (2023: HK$48,031,000) in total were
pledged to secure a banking facility granted to the Group
and a loan from a financial institution for refinancing of a
commercial building in London, the UK (note 30(a)) and
financing the development of the US Complex (note 30(b)).

Hiaz -

EUE 5 MM ERARIL A S KRR
RHUMEEERY  HEREME
REL HFPHEAAEEEREZY
X ABFEN—AERFZMEE
IR ER

AEEEKE S LEERFINEES
GREBAASETENYERP
RIREYEE PR — RE % IGREE
PIET S o AR E I Ml % FERER T
BEMER R EAMERER -

AEER T -_WEF+_A=+—
AMEKRE S RASRRBIEREK
RARIMBEFESN AR ZKIE
& 54,554,000 L( =T == :
94,957,000 L) + WEHERBORAIE
B o BRAENREEGRANRE
B)RZEMY A B iERS

k>

RZEZMOF+_A=+—H " %
A 561,824,000 L (ZF =
F : 48,031,000/ 7T ) H9 % T FE UL
ERRECEIFEAAEE LALLM
H—EHEEFHRE (HE30@)
REREBRGAEMEMEBE (M
30(0)) MERRITHE k& RMKEE
SRR o
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31 December 2024 —ZE—piE+—H=+—H

21. TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES 21. BRRSRERERE)
(continued)
Notes: (continued) Hiet - (&
(b) An ageing analysis of the trade and lease receivables, based (b) BEZAMZEWE S REERR
on the invoice date and net of impairment, is as follows: (WHOBRIBME) 2 BRER AT 2O T -
2024 2023
—ZT-MmE —TC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAETT FET
Less than 1 year PR—F 104,334 102,899
1 year to 2 years —FEWF 15,159 34,263
2 years to 3 years EE=F 26,148 32,871
145,641 170,033
An ageing analysis of the trade and lease receivables, based RBE AR EWE S REERR
on the due date and net of impairment, is as follows: (WHOBRIBE) Z BRER DT 2O T -
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current & HA 86,833 89,592
Past due: B -
Less than 1 year DA —F 33,185 47,612
1 year to 2 years —EWF 24,040 32,138
2 years to 3 years ME=F 1,583 691
145,641 170,033
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31 December 2024 —ZE—piE+—-F=+—H

TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES 21. BESRIESIRM: (&)
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

)

(continued) (o)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of

Bet - (4)

(#)

RAFE  BRESREERTR

trade and lease receivables during the year are as follows: BEERENESNT
2024 2023
—EBCmF 3
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January w—A—8 35,390 29,146
Impairment recognised, net BHERRE  FE 376 6,892
Exchange realignment 0 5 (688) (648)
At 31 December Rt+=—A=+—8 35,078 35,390

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on the average
of historical incurred credit loss experience on each
ageing group of trade and lease receivables. Generally,
trade and lease receivables are written off if they are not
considered recoverable by the Group and are not subject to
enforcement activity.

K& S B R AR A ERETR
B Uit EHEBEEES - &
BERDERERE S REERRH
ERRENELEELEEEBRRE
BEFHEREE - —RME - B
B RMEERFERAERR ST
AT YR FT T A S - B BARR
PRRHIFATTIEED -
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31 December 2024 —ZE—piE+—H=+—H

21. TRADE AND LEASE RECEIVABLES 21. BEESRESIRMR(E)
(continued)
Notes: (continued) Bt - (&
(o) (continued) (b) (%8)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade and lease receivables using
a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2024

BRAEBEFAREGEEAENRE
KWE S RAERERNEERRKRER
AR

R-ZB-WFE+=A=+—H

Ageing based on due date
EAZIH A B RR

Less than 1to 2to Over
Current 1 year 2years 3years 3years Total
B8 PR-F —-EmE ME=F B CH

Expected credit loss rate BHEEREX 0.97% 10.94% 19.83% 66.81% 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BRE4(E(FET) 87,685 37,262 29,088 4,770 21,014 180,719
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) TEHEEER(FAT) 852 4,077 5,948 3,187 21,014 35,078

As at 31 December 2023

R=-B-=%+=A=+—H

Ageing based on due date
by lilakalok o

Less than 1to 210 Over
Current 1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
24 DR —EWE ME=F =FHE aif

Expected credit loss rate HEREEFEX 0.23% 11.87% 15.12% 86.92% 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) SRE4(E(FET) 89,803 54,026 37,862 5,281 18,451 205,423
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) EHEEER(FAT) 211 6,414 5,724 4,590 18,451 35,390

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22.

RTRIA ST K H i E

RECEIVABLES ]
2024 2023
—E-ME T
Notes HK$°000 HK$000
Mzt FET FET
Prepayments TERTSRIA 5,201 11,452
Deposits and other receivables & M A EEE 16,567 24,940
Loan receivables U E SR @ 59,470 23,055
Due from related parties FE S A B 5 SRR 23 245,005 132,374

Total prepayment, deposits and TBRRIE - fTe k&

other receivables Hib e RIE A5 326,243 191,821
Less: Impairment B OR(E (b) (906) (209)
325,337 191,612
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PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22. Ffi&i1E - :T& RHEMEL
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(@)

Included in the loan receivables of the Group as at
31 December 2024 was an aggregate amount of
HK$58,564,000 (2023: HK$22,846,000) due from
independent third parties engaged in e-commerce under the
factoring business of the Group carried in the PRC. These
receivables bear interest at fixed rates ranging from 0.5%
to 2.2% per 45 days (2023: 0.5% to 2.2% per 45 days or
8.4% per annum) and are repayable within 45 days (2023:
45 days to 1 year). Each of these receivables is secured
by an asset (a receivable) owed by its debtor (e-commerce
platform). Subsequent to the reporting period, all loan
receivables was repaid by the borrowers.

During the year, interest income of HK$5,213,000 (2023:
HK$2,653,000) was recognised in profit or loss in respect of
these loan receivables (note 6).

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
other receivables is as follows:

®IR
Bt -

@)

AEBR - _WNF+_-_A=+—
ANERERBEAEERPH
KENRBEBETERKEEE
BEGSHNBYF - TREAH
58,564,000 L (=T = = & :
22,846,000 7T) © 2 FEMFIEL
EEF RN FEF45K05%E2.2%
(ZE_=F : B45K05%=E2.2%
HEFF84%)FHE + WHRISKR(Z
T-=F A5RFE1F)REE - %
SREBFBEHUEEEA(ETF
B)FTREE E (FEIGRIE) 1R
RARE R (ERACEEME
FEMERK o

FR - RREEREZTNBREARE
RHBEU 5,213,000 T (ZE ==
F 1 2,653,000/ 7T ) (FIFE6) °

HEW R ERBREESIT -

2024 2023

—EIE —EC=HF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

At 1 January w—A—AH 209 209
Impairment recognised B#ERRIE 705 -
Exchange realignment b 34 S (8) -
At 31 December w+=—A=+—8 906 209
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The balances with related parties are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

Amounts due from related parties, disclosed pursuant
to section 383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 3 of the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation,
are as follows:

HEM WS RERR 25 HAER

RIEEBCR THER ) 383(1)(d)
BRCARI(BEESHEER)
FO)EE 3 BN F5 Y i LK A U5 3K
TEANT -

Maximum At Maximum
amount 31 December amount
At outstanding 2023and  outstanding At
31December  duringthe 1 January during the 1 January
2024  current year 2024 prior year 2023
R=B==%
1 t=A
ZE-MF =+-BR B
=R XEERS -Z-OF FEER RIT-=F
Company name INGES =t-B #EESEH -B-B KEELE —A—-AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A7 A7 A7 TAT TET
Director-controlled related ~ EZ 124t B 5+
parties*
Winluck Global Limited Winluck Global Limited 355 355 355 355 355
IREHrEEREE FREHAREEEE
BRAR BRAR 227,448 227,448 119,140 119,140 80,259
IREEEEERAR FREEEEERAT
(‘Beiiing Guolong’) (HLREE]) - 5,004 5,004 5,004 3,515
Silky Apex Limited Siky Apex Limited
(“Silky Apex’) (ISiky Apex]) 35 35 35 35 35
Gang Rui International Investment & Bl & (B75)ERAF
(HK) Limited (“Gang Rul")™* (&) 360 360 360 360 360
Guorui Property Development HEMERE 8,694 8,694 6 6 8
IRHBAREER IRHBEARBER
BRAR BRAR 1,698 2,048 2,048 2,048 1,770
Others Eft R 6,415 6,415 5,426 20,826 20,826
245,005 132,374 107,128

Two directors of the Company, namely Mr. Wei and
Mr. Sun, have beneficial interests in these related
parties.

* Gang Rui is a shareholder of the company who
holds a 25.49% shareholding in the company as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.

GR LIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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23.

24,

BALANCE WITH RELATED PARTIES
(continued)

There were no recent history of default and past due
amounts for the amounts due from related parties,
and therefore, as at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

The balances as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
mainly represented short-term advances from (i)
related parties in which Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun have
beneficial interests and (i) Gang Rui. These balances
are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms
of repayment.

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

As at 31 December 2023, financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss represented a principal-protected investment
deposit made with a creditworthy bank in the PRC which
has provided banking facilities to the Group. It is mandatorily
classified as a financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss as its contractual cash flows are not solely payments of
principal and interest.

The fair value of a principal-protected investment deposit
is determined with reference to market observable inputs
currently available for investments with similar terms and
credit risk. The carrying amounts of principal-protected
investment deposits are the same as their fair values.

The Group has redeemed the investment deposit during the
year.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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23.

24.

ERBHERGE)

3T BB A PR MK R RS T SRR O %
BEES - At R-T_UEF
M-—T-_=F+_A=t—H"
EREREFERR

b_\— = —P—IIE'E&— = ——E'E—'——
A=Z+—Hz&E#EBE()EEL
A RIRSEER B R

FROESZEMBH - H5E
HARRR  mEARETHEE
IR -

BRATFHEARSHEME

&

W-EZ=Ft=A=1—H BAF

B8 AR AN BERN S TE

EARAKBRUBTREN —REE

Eﬁ?E’JEP Ifﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ’ﬂ%$&§ﬁm °
HENRERTMERINAS KFE
I&t?ﬁ%lJEE;’%EﬁE’&$TE5+;E’Ji@E§
E o

REKEFZNREETIZLRBEAEFEL
BERREERREIZE B RIATEREIE
MHRAMEEN  REAREFRHIR
AE{EEE N FERER -

FA - AEEREOREFK
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31 December 2024

—FEopmE+—A=+—H

2024 2023
—B-NE —TC=F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
HiaF FET FET
Restricted cash for a bank loan RITEFNZRFIRS @) 14,996 8,496
Restricted cash for aloan froma & REEEZTNZRES ()
financial institution Re 103,159 176,197
118,155 184,693
Notes: Hat -
@) The restricted cash represents a deposit placed in a (@) ZRBBSEFRRIEERITHEF
designated bank as part of the security given to secure a FoERAEEES—RRITER
general banking facility granted to the Group (note 30(a)). #)— &9 IR (7E30(0)) °
(b) The restricted cash represents cash drawn under a (b) ZRHIER & BB IEEEE TR
construction loan which can only be used to pay relevant Re HETARIMNFRIHBMNIE
costs of the Culver City project. B 8RR o
2024 2023
=E-AF —T=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET T
Total cash and bank balances Re RBITHBBE 311,306 490,249
Less: Restricted cash (note 25) o XIRGIR S (AE25) (118,155) (184,693)
Cash and cash equivalents WENIRSEEY 193,151 305,556
Notes: Hiat -
E) At 31 December 2024, the cash and bank balances of the (@ R-ZZT-_WME+-_A=+—H8 'K
Group denominated in RMB amounted to HK$45,110,000 FEBARKSENSE @ RRITLH
(2023: HK$111,292,000). The RMB is not freely convertible #R3E45,110,0008 L (Z T =4 :
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s 111,292,000/87T) - BEARE D
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration gEERHEMEE BB  BEERE
of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange F B AR ) SN SR R 1) R A EE -
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB EERMNEEIRRE - NEEF L
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct BBAREETINEEBENIRITEA
foreign exchange business. REHBKEMES -
(b) Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily (b) RITFFRRIET B IRITIF BROM 5t

bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and the average
credit period is 60 days.

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as

371 December 2024 —ZE—py#FE+—H=+—H

ENE ZERFTEE - B FHEEBRR
ABBOK °

REZEZAH  RNREHKR - AKEE
NEZEARORESITIT -

follows:

2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$000
T T/87T

Within 3 months =EAR 28,655 29,808

4 to 6 months M7~ EA 12,387 10,639

7 to 12 months +Z=+—{@AB 25,010 22,657

Over 1 year —F Pk 4,964 4,159

71,016 67,263

2024 2023

ik —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$000

FET T/E7T

Contract liabilities BHERE 42,932 39,222
Other receipts in advance Huv gl ziia 37,053 36,606
79,985 75,828

Notes: Hiat -

(a) The Group’s receipts in advance represented (i) (@) R 2 B Hy 78 YR R IE FE () R FEL P URER Y
prepayments of property management fees received from YIEERBIANTIE + Mi)AAER
tenants; and (i) rentals received in advance from tenants of M EEREBERNES -
the Group’s investment properties.

(b) The Group’s contract liabilities as at 1 January 2023 (o) REBR -_ZE-—=F—F—HHA

amounted to HK$37,016,000.

The increase in contract liabilities in 2024 and 2023 was
mainly due to the increase in property management fees
received in advance during the year.

%8 1&537,016,000/8 7T °
SHBER-_S-_NER-_T_-=

FRMDEIZHRFRNBELDEE
IRE R ANPTEL o
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371 December 2024 —ZE—puFE+—H=+—H

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

20. HfufEfFRRARER

2024 2023

—E-mE —E=F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

HiaF FET FEIT

Other payables HiER RN (a) 92,885 88,084

Accrued staff costs fEETE TR 6,339 7,506

Other accruals EmERER 4,476 6,071

Financial guarantee contracts ISR E L (b) 20,334 12,989

Due to a shareholder FER— R AR R IE 23(b) 1,408 1,428

Due to related parties FETREESE 5 718 23(b) 195,368 129,877

320,810 245,955

Notes: Kt -

(@) The Group’s other payables as at 31 December 2024 and (a) R-E-_WNER-_T-_=F+=A

2023 included, inter alia, the following:

0] amounts of HK$8,630,000 (2023: HK$15,982,000)
in total payables to water, heating and electricity
suppliers in respect of public utility fees collected
from tenants on behalf of public utility suppliers; and

(ii) refundable decoration deposits and property
management service fee deposits of
HK$19,411,000 (2023: HK$21,821,000) in total
received from tenants of a commercial building and
residential properties managed by the Group;
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29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

®)

The financial guarantee contracts represent guarantees
given by two subsidiaries of the Group to banks in the PRC
in connection with facilities granted to 1t RE LI EE
AR~ 7 (“BCEG Road and Bridge Construction Group
Co., Ltd.” or “BCEG”, an independent third party which is
a general property development contractor of the Group)
and Beijing Zhonghe Hongrun Technology Co., Ltd (“Beijing
Zhonghe Hongrun”, a related company which is indirectly
owned by Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun) and details of which are as

follows:

M

a guarantee given by Kaipeng Technology, an
indirect 99.9% owned subsidiary of the Company,
to a bank in the PRC in connection with a facility
granted to BCEG pursuant to a guarantee
agreement between Kaipeng Technology and
BCEG during the year ended 31 December 2022.
The banking facility of BCEG granted by the bank
was RMB800,000,000 and RMB750,000,000
was utilised by BCEG as at 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB770,000,000). Kaipeng Technology
provided a guarantee in favour of BCEG by
pledging its properties to the bank (notes 15(e) and
19). In return, Kaipeng Technology shall receive
from BCEG a guarantee fee of 1% per annum
of the actual drawdown amount by BCEG under
the banking facility. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over
the guarantee. Further details are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 15 March 2022
and circular dated 25 April 2022; and

)
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20. HtEMHRRRRER (&)

Mat (%)

S 75 42 AR 45 7K SR I P ) PI J8 2 B )
R BERRITIREMNER - HERE
ERETRBEEARAF (MR
BIRGEEEGRAR IR RE
TITHRBEE] ERBYFE=7 I
RAREN—ROEERABEZ
) RIAERPAEERZER QA
(THERPMIBE ] - BmBREE RASE
ERREEA MBI AR BRHBE
B AREFISET

7N A B 4 MR 5 99.9% 1 i /Y Y /B
AEE AR R B — M IRTIRE
MER - HEAIREIRESEE
REE-_T-__F+=ZA=+—H
IFFERI AR R RETRE
EERERRAEEORESH - it
REIEBEEES —BRITRH
/)8R 17 B8 & A A K ¥ 800,000,000
TR ZE_MNFE+_A=+—H
HItREIRBEECHAARE
750,000,000 L( ZE =4 : AR
#770,000,0007T ) © gl AARHE LA #%
HEYEERPZETH AR - Bk
REIEBER A AREER
(FIsE15() K Fi7E19) o fERREITHR -
IR Mt FE TEB SR E K
R REIRBEERRITERE
TEERRDNSEI%RHTEERE -
REBWERZFHREBER A TMIE
oSk (E AR - EZFEEH
RARRBAPEA-_TE-_—_F=A
+RAEMAEREBHA-ZT =
MAZ+HRBR@E : &
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31 December 2024 —ZE—piE+—H=+—H

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. RfthiEFRZREFAEERAGR)
(continued)
Notes: (continued) Hiat - (&
(b) (continued) (o) €
(i) a guarantee given by Beijing Wangangtong (i) IEREBBRBRERMAE—HER
Technology Development to a bank in the PRC TIRHEMNER  EHERIEREIR
in connection with a facility granted to BCEG BEEBREE-_ZTE-__F+=-H4
pursuant to a guarantee agreement between =+ HIEFERIIREBRER
Beijing Wangangtong Technology Development BENMMREIBRBEERERZ
and BCEG during the year ended 31 December ERAMEER - REIKRGSE
2022. The banking facility of BCEG granted by the EES-—HMRTREMNRITRER
bank was RMB300,000,000 and the amount of AR %300,000,0007T - R=ZZT ==
RMB269,973,000 was utilised by BCEG as at 31 FH+ZA=Z+—ALFZBRIRES
December 2023. Beijing Wangangtong Technology B EBA AR269,973,0007T © °©
Development provided a guarantee in favour of ItREFBERIBEERUAUAT AKX
BCEG by (a) pledging its properties to the bank ITRBIRBEEAX S ARME
(note 15(e)); (b) pledging its rights to receive rental R (@ EYEE IR TZEBIT(HE
income and corresponding lease receivables arising 15(e)) ¢ (D) EWEI B E R HEEE
from the pledged properties to the bank; and (c) ZHEWARBAEKEERE
providing a joint liability guarantee for the repayment HEFERFZIRT Mot REZE
by BCEG. In return, Beijing Wangangtong ITEREBEEE EFIRBEESS(TE
Technology Development shall receive from BCEG R ERRR bt REFBERI
a guarantee fee of 1% per annum of the actual B#mitRETREEBREUL R
drawdown amount by BCEG under the banking BIRBEENBETERETER
facility. The Group does not hold any collateral or RMEFEI%NFEERERE - ~EE
other credit enhancements over the guarantee. WEMZEARERA AT RK
Further details are set out in the Company’s Hib{z gL - EZFBEHRAR
announcement dated 7 October 2022. AAPA T+ AEEHR
*o
During the year, BCEG has fully repaid the relevant FAIIREIRBEEE2EE
bank loan and the guarantee has been released BEBRITER  WWERERSER
since then. f o
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29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

®)

(continued)

(i)

a guarantee given by Beijing Wangangtong
Technology Development to a bank in the PRC in
connection with a facility granted to Beijing Zhonghe
Hongrun pursuant to a guarantee agreement
between Beijing Wangangtong Technology
Development and Beijing Zhonghe Hongrun during
the year ended 31 December 2024. The banking
facility of Beijing Zhonghe Hongrun granted by the
bank was RMB130,000,000 and the amount of
RMB130,000,000 was utilised by Beijing Zhonghe
Hongrun as at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
Beijing Wangangtong Technology Development
provided a guarantee in favour of Beijing Zhonghe
Hongrun by (a) pledging its properties to the bank
(note 15(e)); (b) pledging its rights to receive rental
income and corresponding lease receivables arising
from the pledged properties to the bank. In return,
Beijing Wangangtong Technology Development shall
receive from Beijing Zhonghe Hongrun a guarantee
fee of 1% per annum of the actual drawdown
amount by A A& under the banking facility.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over the guarantee. Further
details are set out in the Company announcements
dated 7 November 2024, 18 November 2024 and 6
December 2024.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i 3% SRR B aE

31 December 2024 —ZE—piE+—-F=+—H

20. HtEMHRRRRER (&)

Mat (%)
(o) (%)

(iii ERESBRRRERERTE
—RRITIREMER - 8|
REBE_T-_WNF+=A
=+ —BILEFEREILRS
7S mEHE B R At AR A
2z R BRI R
BHETHRESR - bR
RS BRI TR B A RTT
B & A A K ¥ 130,000,000
T RZEZWFE+ZA
=+—BiRPBHEED
A AER#130,000,0007t (=
TZ=F8) kRES
BRBERNUA T AR
RIS EAS S AREE
R @BEYEERTZR
17(MI5E15(e)) + ()& EURER
BEHERYMEEE ZBSRA
K R I e U 7R RRE 2 R
B FZIRT o EREIR
EREBBRRBRERKRL
R RS B YL R AR
HRRITERIE TERRE
CEINNFEERE - K
EETERZSERFEE
AR R sk E At (5 AL AR -
ELERN AT AR
—ENF+—AER =
TMF+—A+NBRZ
TN F+=ZASNABHA

& o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i 3% SR B 5E

31 December 2024 —ZE—piE+—H=+—H

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(0)

(continued)

The Group recognised financial guarantee income of
HK$10,080,000 in profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$11,109,000) (note 6).

The Group does not provide financial guarantees except
for the above. All guarantees are approved by the board of
directors of the Company.

The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher
of the ECLs allowance and the amount initially recognised
less the cumulative amount of income recognised. The ECLs
allowance is measured by estimating the cash shortfalls,
which are based on the expected payments to reimburse
the holders (i.e., the banks) for a credit loss that it incurs less
any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the
debtor (i.e., BCEG and Beijing Zhonghe Hongrun). During
the year ended 31 December 2024, an ECLs allowance of
HK$7,645,000 (2023: HK$338,000) was provided (note 8).

The credit exposure of the financial guarantee contracts
is classified as stage 1. During the year, there were no
transfers between stages (2023: Nil).
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20. HtEFHRRRRER (&)

Wyt - (&

o)

(&

AEBREBEE-_ZE-_MFE+=A
ST -HBLEFEBTBERRA
10,080,000 /& 7t ( = & = = 4
11,109,000/ 7t ) R R 18 2 (P 3
6) °

BERBRIN  REBELTRHES
BRER - MEERBEARRES
RHRUAE ©

IS ERENIRBHEEBREE
BAA RO R D RN 5T
WAS&BzENREEE - BH
FEEEREBERBMAFRSENE
2 MRESEHRABIERBESRRZHE
ABVERIT) S A EEEEERE
BEEREANEETEBREERA R
TRBEIRBEERIERPNB
) BSEMEE 2 RIBED -
REBEEZT_NF+_A=+—
BIEFE  BifRBHEEBE
B 7,645,000 L (Z T =4 :
338,000/ 7t) (FizE8) °

B ERENNEERBRESEA
F—H-FR BHRzELEER
(ZE==F:8|) -



31 December 2024 —Z&

—EomE+—/A=1+—H

2024 2023
—ECNE —ET-=F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Mz FET FErT
Bank loans, secured ER(EEA) (@ 1,523,803 1,572,637
Other loans: HuEH%
Loans from financial institutions, secured 4 B EIRMHER(BEF) (b) 560,115 568,788
Loan from a financial institution, unsecured & B EIR A E R (EIKR) (b) 182,896 162,126
Loan from a shareholder of the Company, ~ ANQE]—&IRERENER
unsecured (€::2500) () 90,752 89,129
Loans from director-controlled entities, ESRHIERREHRNER
unsecured (mER) (d) 42,408 77,637
Loans from former director-controlled RIEEEHIERRENER ©)
entities, unsecured (fmIE ) 204,211 177,425
1,080,382 1,075,105
Lease liabilities HEAaE 16(b) 1,301 3,086
Total bank and other borrowings RIThEMERET 2,605,486 2,650,828
Analysed into: DHTIE -
Bank loans repayable: FEBERITER -
Within one year or on demand —FRNYIRER 716,602 732,881
In the second year FF 16,198 16,520
In the third to fifth years, inclusive B-ZFENF(BEEREMF) 48,594 49,559
Beyond five years hFk 742,409 773,677
1,523,803 1,572,637
Other loans repayable: HibJEEEER :
Within one year —FR 27,666 5,381
In the second year E_F 514,705 284,128
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE-EFEAF(BEBEMT) 538,011 245,936
Beyond five years hFi& - 539,660
1,080,382 1,075,105
Lease liabilities repayable: EEEREaE
Within one year —&FR 439 1,633
In the second year BF 519 586
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E-ZENF(BEEEWNT) 343 867
1,301 3,086
Total bank and other borrowings RITREMEREE 2,605,486 2,650,828
Portion classified as current liabilities DEARDARENED (744,707) (739,895)
Non-current portion FEREE S 1,860,779 1,910,933
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i 3% SR B 5E

31 December 2024

—FEopmE+—A=+—H

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes:

(@)

The Group’s bank loans as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
were obtained for operation and financing the purchase and
construction of the Group’s investment properties. The bank
loans bear interests at floating rates with effective interest
rates ranging from 5% to 7.3% per annum (2023: 5% to
7.3% per annum). The bank loans are secured by certain
investment properties (note 15(e)), properties held for sale
(note 19) and lease receivables (note 21(a)) of the Group.

Included in the interest-bearing bank borrowings was a
bank loan of HK$700,404,000, which includes a financial
covenant stipulated in the facility agreement relating to
the valuation of an investment property and the valuation
is subject to regular reviews by the bank. Based on the
fair value of the investment property as included in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group did not comply
with the aforesaid financial covenant. Consent waiver of
non-compliance with aforesaid financial covenant has been
received by the Group on 28 March 2025. The Group has
classified the aforesaid bank loan as current liability due to
the non-compliance of financial covenant.

The expected repayment dates of the aforesaid bank loan,
with reference to schedule of repayments set out in the
facility agreement, are as follows:

30. MITRHEMER(E)

Hii -

(@)

REBR_T_NFERZT=F
TZAZ+—BZRITERAE
ERABEREEAEENREY
EMER - ZFROTERREFE
BRI RN FE5%E7.3%H)F ) B R 5T
B(ZZ==F  §F5%%7.3%) °
ZERTERBAEEETHREY
(M5 15()) ~ #FHIEL EWE (H
FE19) R E YR TR S IR FRIEI T (M 5E
21(@@)) °

AT ESRITE B IE—5700,404,000
BITEORITER - HP R ERER
EFTATRAREEE M EGEABOY
R - B EZERERTE D
Bz o ARG EMBRERMBIE
MERNNTE  AEEKRGEET L
M RE - AEEER=ZT=-Hh
F=ZAZ+N\BYE LB
BREORBEHRE - ARERVH
Ltk AEEDB ERRITERSD
BARBAE -

BEEMABRFNERSHE
% BRIRTTIERAOEEERE B
T

2024 2023

—E-MF —E-=F

HK$°000 HK$ 000

FHET FrEr

Within one year —F R 7,841 8,008
In the second year FEoF 692,563 8,008
In the third to fifth years FoFRERF - 705,131
700,404 721,147
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(@)

(continued)

In addition, there is a banking facility that required the
Group to maintain a minimum amount of RMB10 million in
specific bank accounts including a bank deposit classified
as restricted cash of HK$14,996,000 (note 25) as at 31
December 2024 (2023: including a principal-protected
investment deposit classified as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss (note 24) and a bank deposit classified
as restricted cash of HK$8,496,000 (note 25)). This banking
facility is also guaranteed by Mr. Wei and his spouse and 1t
REH R AR AR (“Beijing Guorui Holdings Company
Limited”, a related company which is indirectly owned by
Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun).

The details of loans from financial institutions are as follows:

i) a loan of US$30,156,000 (2023: US$30,845,000)
for financing the operation of US Complex, bears
an interest at a fixed rate of 3.65% per annum,
repayable in 2029, and secured by an investment
property (note 15(e)) and lease receivables (note
21(a)) over the US Complex.

(i) a loan of US$42,000,000 (2023: US$42,000,000)
for financing the construction of the Culver City
project, bears an interest at a floating rate with an
effective interest rate of 8.7% per annum (2023:
9.3%), repayable in 2026, guaranteed by, and
secured by an investment property (note 15(e)) and
rights to future lease receivables over the Culver
City project.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i 3% SRR B aE

31 December 2024 —ZE—piE+—-F=+—H

30. SBTRHEMBIRE)

Bt ()
@) (4&)

o RZFEZNFE+ A =+—
B —ERTHEZRAEEER
BFERITESFERERERIEA
R¥1,0008 70 ' BESEAEZRI
IR & 8 8R 7717 3014,996,0007% 7T (M
H25)(ZZEZ=F : piENEAR
ANFEEFABROEE ENRAN
BEFR(M3E24) RDEHZRH
IR MR 1717 3X8,496,000/8 7T (i 5%
25)) o IRITRME AL ERA
BB A KA RIS IR B R A B (&
—HEM AR BBREERKEEE
FMEER)ER -

(b) SRMBRENEFRFBOT

[0} & 730,156,000 % T (= &
— =% :30,845,000%7T)
AR AEBGEMENEE
REES  ZEFRETF
M*E3.65%F & HRZF
“NAFEE TA—EEE
M (MfsE15() REBREGZE
) 2 1 FH & E Wk OE (BT o
21(a)) fEHE IR -

(i) & 742,000,000 % T (=&
— =4 :42,000,000%7T)
ARARBHBMIEE HER
RIEES  ZERIZZEHF
KB BRFRERST%

—EZ=F:93%)  BR
ZEZRFEE  ARED
¥ (MisE15(e)) KRB HIA
B R 2R A0 & e YRR ) R
FERRIEER o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i 3% SR B 5E

371 December 2024 —ZE—puFE+—H=+—H

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

()

(continued)

(iii) a loan of US$16,000,000 for financing the
construction of the Culver City project, which is
unsecured, bear an interest at a fixed rate of 12.5%
per annum and is repayable in 2026.

The secured loan from a financial institution of
US$42,000,000 with maturity date of 5 April 2026 is subject
to a covenant that requires GR Property USA LLC, the
immediate holding company of the borrower which acts
as the guarantor, to maintain a minimum consolidated net
worth (consolidated total assets less consolidated total
liabilities) of US$45,000,000 and minimum liquid assets
(unrestricted cash on hand and cash equivalents less
current liabilities) of US$4,500,000. The covenant is tested
annually at 31 December. The net worth and liquid assets
are US$45,481,000 and US$5,004,000 as at 31 December
2024 (2023: US$45,114,000 and US$8,810,000). The
Group considers there is no indication that it will have
difficulties in complying with this covenant.

Pursuant to a shareholder’s loan agreement dated
1 January 2019 entered into between the Company
and Gang Rui, Gang Rui granted a shareholder’s loan
facility of HK$200,000,000 to the Company, of which
HK$90,752,000 (2023: HK$89,129,000) had been utilised as
at 31 December 2024.

The shareholder’s loan is unsecured, bears interest at
a fixed rate of 2% per annum, and is repayable by 31
December 2027. The balance was classified as a non-
current liability as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, interest paid and
payable to Gang Rui in respect of the shareholder’s loan of
HK$1,623,000 (2023: HK$1,624,000) was recognised as
finance costs for the year (note 7).

This related party transaction constitutes an exempted
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

244 GR LIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

30. MITRHEMER(E)

Hist - (&)

o)

(i B 316,000,000 70 AR A
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© o ZEXSEER  ZE
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ZETRNFER -

© B 12 £ 19 42,000,000 70 B
HHER(BHEA T - NFMN
ARB)X—BRFEMHAR %
# E SR GR Property USA LLC (#£F
ERANERAZEIERAR) 4
B&EGEFE(GEBEERE
A #8 8 {&)45,000,000E 7T Mk &K
NRBEE(FEERIIES RS
ZEYRIRE) & 54,500,000 7T ©
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

©)

The loans from director-controlled entities as at 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023 were advanced
from related parties in which Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun have
beneficial interests, details of which are as follows:

(i)

A loan of RMB21,700,000 which is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable in 2028.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
maturity date of the loan was extended from 2023
to 2028, which resulted in a modification of existing
financial liability by derecognising the original
liability and recognising a new one, and the gain of
RMB4,035,000 (equivalent to HK$4,459,000) was
recognised in profit or loss.

In addition, imputed interest on the loan of
HK$825,000 (2023: HK$922,000) was recognised
as finance costs during the year (note 7).

A loan of RMB20,000,000 which is unsecured,
carried an interest at floating rate with effective
interest rate of 4.0% per annum and repayable in
2025.

During the year, interest paid and payable of this
loan of HK$509,000 (2023: Nil) was recognised as
finance costs for the year (note 7).

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024 —ZE_—piFE+—-A=+—H

30. SBTRHEMBIRE)

Mat (%)

@) RZEZMOF+_A=+—AKk=
T=F+ZA=+—RH BEFE
FIERREENERERBREERRE
SEEBE SRR FIRHM

& FHET

0] B %A R ¥ 21,700,000 7T
REER  RERERZT
ZNEEE -

HE-_ZT=-_=F+=A4
=+—BIEFE  EXRIH
AR-Z-_—FERE-F
ZN\E - BEUERRIEER
REBBERERTAEME
HEBELRERE  MkE
AR #4,035,0007T (HHER
4,459,000/ 7T ) E R Bz

0N

o - BRI EEF B
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922,000 7T ) B MR B ARF
EBER (7)o
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31 December 2024 —ZE_—p&F{+—-H=+—H

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iii) As as 31 December 2023, loans with an aggregate
amount of RMB50,000,000 which were unsecured,
carried on interest at floating rates with effective
interest rates of 3.7% per annual and repayable in
2025. These loans have been fully repaid during the
year.

During the year , interest paid and payable of these
loans of HK$1,990,000 (2023: HK$2,017,000), was
recognised as finance costs for the year (note 7).

In addition, during the year, waiver of interest
payable of HK$4,652,000 has been granted by
the lender. The relevant loan interest and waiver
have been presented on a net basis in the “Finance
costs” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

This related party transaction constitutes an exempted
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

(e) The details of loans from former-director-controlled entities
are as follows:

(i) a loan of RMB110,780,000 obtained from an entity
formerly controlled by Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun with
beneficial interests before 2019 for financing the
daily operation and new investments of the Group
in the PRC, which is unsecured, bear an interest at
a floating rate with an effective interest rate of 3.65%
per annum and is repayable in 2028.

During the year, interest paid and payable of the
loan of HK$4,405,000 (2023: HK$4,469,000), was
recognised as finance costs for the year (note 7).

In addition, during the year, waiver of interest
payable of HK$13,908,000 has been granted by
the lender. The relevant loan interest and waiver
have been presented on a net basis in the “Finance
costs” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i 3% SRR B aE

31 December 2024 —ZE_—pF{+—-H=+—H

30. SBTRHEMBIRE)

Mat (%)

(continued) ©) (%)

(i) a loan of RMB50,000,000 obtained from an entity (i) ML ERREER
formerly controlled by Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun with —jlfﬁﬁlﬁ?ﬁﬁ BEaiEm E’]H
beneficial interests before 2019 for financing the THERERNSHNERARE
daily operation of the Group in the PRC, which is 50,000,0007E ARAAEAE
unsecured, interest free and repayable in 2028. Iﬁ"qﬂ BB EEERHEE

CRERAEER 28
&//\B/\_ T )\FEE -
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Hz—_Z2-_=-F+=-A
maturity date of the loan was extended from 2023 =+—RHIEFE - BEREH
to 2028, which resulted in a modification of existing AR E_=ZFERE_ZF
financial liability by derecognising the original ZN\F o BEEIBKIFER
liability and recognising a new one, and the gain of RAEBERERTAEME
RMB9,297,000 (equivalent to HK$10,275,000) was NEESLBMEE mMikzs
recognised in profit or loss. AR ¥9,297,0007T (15 E 7
10,275,000 7T ) B R 18 &
PR o
In addition, imputed interest on the loan of oy ERHEHEER B
HK$1,902,000 (2023: HK$2,124,000) was 1,902,000 L (=T = =
recognised as finance costs during the year (note 7). £ 1 2,124,00058 70 ) B HER
RAEEVIBER (MW7) °

(i) a loan of RMB35,000,000 obtained from an entity (iii ML E KRR EER
formerly controlled by Mr. Wei and Mr. Sun with —jlfﬁﬁlﬁ?ﬁﬁ BaiEm E’]HJ
beneficial interests before 2019 for financing the THERNSHNERARE
daily operation of the Group in the PRC, which is 35,000,0007z ARAEXE
unsecured, interest free and repayable in 2027. Iﬁ"qﬂ BB EEERHEE

CHRERAEER . 28
/AB’\_ T FEE -
The Group’s secured bank and other loans are secured by ) NEENAEBRITREMBERTD
the following assets: BT EEFEER
2024 2023
—EomE —TE-=F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Hiat FET FET

Investment properties REME 15(e) 4,466,719 5,323,355

Properties held for sale BiEHEE 19 136,574 160,026

Lease receivables FEUH &R 21(a) 61,324 48,031

Financial asset at fair value through BAFET AR

profit or loss TREE 24 - 11,261

Restricted cash SRFIRSE 25 14,996 8,496
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31 December 2024 —ZE—piE+—H=+—H

30.

31.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(9) The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

30. MITRHEMER(E)

Wyt - (&

(©) REBEIRTT R E A8 A0 AR E (B A
THIEHEHE -

Carrying amount

REE

2024 2023

—E_-NE =

HK$°000 HK$’000

FET FET

£ HgE 700,404 716,361
Uss$ Vi 743,011 730,914
RMB AR 1,070,019 1,111,338
HK$ eow 92,052 92,215
2,605,486 2,650,828

PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The Company had two batches of perpetual convertible
bonds outstanding during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, the summary information of which is set out

31. KATERES
B2 -_WFER-_ZTE-_=F+=A4
= +—HIFE  NAREA WAL ARE
BRPOKA MR ES - ARSI E R E

as follows: AT :
Batch one Batch two
£t Eit
Issuance date ZEITHHE 17 August 2018 31 December 2021
—“E-N\ENATLE —E-—F+-_A=+—H
Maturity date Z|HIH No maturity date No maturity date
eS| Eallpils)
Original principal amount RIA SR HK$1,102,993,200 HK$77,066,000
1,102,993,2007 7T 77,066,000/ 7T
Coupon rate ZHEFE 1% per annum and will 1% per annum and will cease
cease to bear any to bear any coupon after the
coupon after the fifth fifth anniversary of the date
anniversary of the date of  of issue
issue
BF1%WHNETRE  SF1% 0N ETEE
BRBPFRIRIASE FERRFREIAE
(EREE SN (FREIESS
Conversion price per RATFREBEK  0.80 0.80
ordinary share of the ZABECETT)

Company (HK$)
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ERERIEMS - ZFRKAABRKES

DRBERY RERED - E— IS

These perpetual convertible bonds were bifurcated into a
liability component and an equity component for accounting
purposes, as further described in the accounting policy RSB 5T 2.4 P& [ K A AT AR (&
for “Perpetual convertible bonds” set out in note 2.4 to FIMesrBEBL o TRMARESE
the financial statements. The following tables summarise TECNER_E_=F+-_A=1+—
the movements in the principal amounts, the number BItFEARRB KA ES 2 AE
of conversion rights outstanding, the liability and equity BRI HBREEB UL B ERE
components of the Company’s perpetual convertible bonds mapo 2 &
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

Batch one Batch two Total
F—#t HEoHt et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T FET FHET
(note (a)) (note (b))

(H1it(a)) (B3 (b))

At 1 January 2023,
31 December 2023,
1 January 2024 and
31 December 2024

R-ZE-_=F—H—H8 -
—T-=%+—-H
=—t+—H ZZ_F
—A—BR-ZT_NF

+—-—A=+—H 1,090,993 77,066 1,168,059
Batch one Batch two Total
it EHE st

(note (a)) (note (b))

(K17t (a) (K17 (b))

At 1 January 2023,
31 December 2023,
1 January 2024 and
31 December 2024

RZZE-_=F—HF—A8 -
—E-=-F+=HA
=+—H ZZTZ-[mF
—A—HBEk-ZTF
+=—A=+—H

1,363,741,500 96,332,500 1,460,074,000
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Batch one Batch two Total
£t EH et
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
(note (a)) (note (b))
(Hfit(a) (Hiz#b))
At 1 January 2023 HR_ZE-_=F—HF—H 53,789 3,456 57,245
Modification of payment &R SR HARS
period (13,069) (1,120) (14,189)
Interest expense (note 7) MBS (Ht7) 328 48 376
Imputed interest expense EERN SR (HE7)
(note 7) 1,749 102 1,851
At 31 December 2023 and 1 WRZ-ZE_=%+_H
January 2024 =t+—BHEk-ZT_OF
—H—H 42,797 2,486 45,283
Imputed interest expense HENERZ(HZ7)
(note 7) 2,415 140 2,555
At 31 December 2024 MNZZE
+=-A=+—8 45,212 2,626 47,838
Batch one Batch two Total
£—it EHt st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FEIT FEIT FHET
(note (a)) (note (b))
(Hiit(a) (H15b))
At 1 January 2023, R-—ZE-_=F—HF—H
31 December 2023, —E-_=F+=-H
1 January 2024 and =+—H - ZZT_F
31 December 2024 —A—BRZZEZlF
+=—A=+—H 1,078,217 94,027 1,172,244
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31.

PERPETUAL CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(continued)
Notes:

() Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement entered
into with Winluck Global and Silky Apex Limited (the
“Vendors”) on 30 May 2018, the Company issued a total
of 451,576,000 ordinary shares and a batch of perpetual
convertible bonds to the Vendors on 17 August 2018
as partial consideration for the acquisition of a 95%
equity interest in Wise Expert Investment Limited (“Wise
Expert”). Further details of the acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 30 May 2018 and 17
August 2018, and a circular dated 20 July 2018.

For accounting purposes, the fair value of the perpetual
convertible bonds issued as consideration for the acquisition
of Wise Expert as at the date of completion of the
acquisition amounted to HK$1,130,568,000.

Further details of the terms of these perpetual convertible
bonds are set out in the Company’s circular dated 20 July
2018.

(b) Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement entered
into with the Vendors on 30 May 2018, the Company
further issued a batch of perpetual convertible bonds to
the Vendors on 31 December 2021 as consideration for
the acquisition of a remaining 5% equity interest in Wise
Expert. Further details of the acquisition are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 31 December 2021, and
a circular dated 20 July 2018.

For accounting purposes, the fair value of the perpetual
convertible bonds issued as consideration for the acquisition
of Wise Expert as at the date of completion of the
acquisition amounted to HK$97,296,000.

Further details of the terms of these perpetual convertible
bonds are set out in the Company’s circular dated 20 July
2018.

(c) The conversion of the perpetual convertible bonds is subject
to, amongst others, the condition that any conversion will
not result in the public float of the Company’s shares being
less than 25% of the total issued shares of the Company.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31. KARMEKRSG(E)

MEE

(@)

1R ¥ % 1 3R Bk £2 Silky Apex Limited
TEFDR=ZE—/\FHEA=1+H
FVZEEHRE  ARRRZE
—NENA+LtBREFETAEHE
451,576,000% & 38 ik S —#Ek A 7]
HBRES - ERIIER Wise Expert
Investment Limited ([ Wise Expert ] )
B95% A1 2 S R1E - BRZK
BEHEZ2E-SFBEARALAA
HAE-_T-N\FRA=ZTHR=-ZT
—NNFENATtRZAMHRBEHA
—E-NFLAZ+BHZEX-

e EEME Nl WEA
HA 4 /& Uk BE Wise Expert 2 X &
BIIKARBRBRER 2 AFEA
1,130,568,000/ T °

B B S K A AR BB Z R0
—FSHBERARAAHMNAS-F
—NFELAZTBZEHA -

BERZZE—N\FRA=+HHE
FRIMHEEmZ  AArARE
——F+ A=t —HWEBEAHE—
FETT R ATBRBKRES - 1F
AU BE A Wise Expertfs T 5% % HE 89
RE - FRANBEENEZFER
RARBEYHA-ZT-_—F+_=A
=+—HHAMERAHAZZT—N
FHAZTHAEBK -

REFEOME - KRB EETK
HE - EAUREEWise Expert ) K (E
MEEITH KA RRESNQFE
97,296,000/ 7T °

B B5% S K A AR BB Z R0
—FSHBERARFAAHNAS-F
—NFELAZTBZEHA -

HIPOK A RREFAZ(HFE
B ER TS EH AR B RRD K
ABEHRELRADR D EITRG
HRERO5% B R IFFTHRBR ©
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Notes: (continued)

(d) On 28 March 2023, the due date of accumulated coupon
payment was extended from 5 years to 10 years, which
resulted in a modification of existing financial liability by
derecognising the original liability and recognising a new
one, and the gain of HK$14,190,000 was recognised in
profit or loss.

Net deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the

Hiet - (&)

(d) RZZZ=F=A=+/)/\H (5
B) ZEEXNHAAFERETF
BREBRUIERRAREEERER
FEEERELRAGEETER M
I % 14,190,0007% 7T B A 18 25 1

o8

RERE BN RERHEERIAE E

consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: RAEZErnT
2024 2023
—ENF —ET-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE - -
Deferred tax liabilities FEFIBAEE (130,252) (175,616)
(130,252) (175,616)

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) of the
Group are as follows:

LATEZIKE EIRERERE(BE)N

SR

Arising from revaluation of
investment properties

EEEREVESMR
2024 2023
—E-NE —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FHET
At 1 January »n—HA—H (175,616) (145,908)
Net deferred tax charged/(credited) ~ ZAREERBzRE
to profit or loss during the year (Bt A BRIER B E 58
(note 11) (KiaE11) 47,301 (41,053)
Exchange realignment e H (1,937) 11,345
At 31 December R+—A=+—A8 (130,252) (175,616)
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Notes:

At 31 December 2024, deferred tax assets have not
been recognised in respect of unutilised tax losses of
HK$334,942,000 (2023: HK$314,618,000) as they have
arisen in the Company and certain subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not probable
that taxable profits will be available against which such tax
losses can be utilised. Out of this amount, tax losses of
HK$377,503,000 (2023: HK$366,126,000) will expire in one
to five years.

Pursuant to income tax laws of the PRC, the UK and the
USA, withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in these countries. Lower withholding tax
rates may be applied if there is a tax treaty between these
countries and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The
Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends
declared by the subsidiaries established in these countries.

The withholding tax rates applicable to the Group are as
follows:

Entities established in Mainland China
Entities established in the UK
Entities established in the USA

At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the Mainland
China, the UK and the USA (2023: Nil). In the opinion of
the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries in the Mainland China for
which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
HK$103,317,000 (2023: HK$74,880,000) in aggregate as
at 31 December 2024.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

31 December 2024

MEE

R BEIABERK S &Y
MEBRTHNE R
MEBERINE R

—E oA =+—H

R_Z_MF+-_A=+—H " H
RBEEBEBEOARQRIRETHEBR
RIBEIE—BREE - mMA/MrET
RAREEAARIEHEE AR IEER
B FERBUEF - B b3 R 3h R F A
i 18 &5 18 334,942,000 % 7T (= &
— =4 : 314,618,000/ 7T ) FERIE
RFRIBEE - T%eBET  RIEE
18377,503,0008 L (=T == 4F :
366,126,000/ T) HER—EHF
NEIE

RHE - ZERXBEMREHE -
RZEERKIININEREDER
MR EE T RS RS AR
B o fin ik F B R M IME A EH) A
FEERFARBGYN - AWER
BUEMBEINHRE - At - AEEA
HRZERRKILAME AR
IREAR SN TR o

FARAEENENHRENT -

MWER 5%-10%

20%
30%

R-ZT-_mE+-_A=+—08 " #&
EORTERBARE « B REBKL
BEMIEMBIR AL E N B R AR
P (o] 23 £ ) FE TR N B RE R T (W I
L%ﬁlﬁ(_f*—i m) - EF
CERTRRR C ZEMB A
ETK?:T@E%AMt%%ﬁ% cHRZE
—HE+ZA=Z+—H  HEAER
BERIE A GNP B RENB
AARENERZRBTEAHA
103,317,000 L (=T = = F :
74,880,000/%87T) °

AR B AR
.

# e B TS T
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2024 2023
—E-E —E=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHE :
3,199,373,986 ordinary shares 3,199,373,986/%
Rl 3,152,571 3,152,571
A summary of a movement in the Company’s share capital HE_Z-_MEFR-_T-_=-F+=A
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 is as =+ —RALEE  AARRAHEEH
follows: T
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
28T
BHONEE [N
HK$°000
FET
At 1 January 2023, Rn-ZE—=F—H—H-
31 December 2023, —E-_=F+—-H
1 January 2024 and =+—8 - ZZ=-mF
31 December 2024 —B—BRZZTmF
+=-—A=+—H 3,199,373,986 3,152,571
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the BN RRBEIRER 2 AR EZ T E
share options issued under the scheme are included in note BEITH B IR BE S 1B S BT IS TR i & E
34 to the financial statements. 34 -
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The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed
on 7 November 2016 (the “Adoption Date”) for the primary
purpose of (i) incentivising and rewarding those who
have contributed or may contribute to the development
of the Group; and (ii) attracting and retaining skilled and
experienced personnel (“Eligible Participants”) and motivating
them to strive for the future development of the Group by
providing them with an opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company thereby linking their interest with
that of the Group. The Share Option Scheme will remain in
force for a period of ten years commencing on the Adoption
Date and shall expire on 6 November 2026, subject to
early termination provisions contained in the Share Option
Scheme. The board of directors of the Company may grant
options to Eligible Participants to subscribe for shares in the
Company subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted at any time under the Share Option Scheme is
not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company
in issue at the Adoption Date, without prior approval from
the Company’s shareholders. Further, the total maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time. Options
granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director, or to any of their respective associates,
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any time and with an aggregate value (based on the
closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange at the date
of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

371 December 2024 —ZE—py#FE+—H=+—H

RER-_ZF—R"FE+—ALB(RAA
H1))BBHRES - AR B BEER
ZI([BRETE D EERA 85

BBRHESAAREERDNKE
(i) 35 Bh & 228 2 ¥t Sk m] BE 3 AN ok [ ) 3
BRIEHBERBAL © R(i)R5| REBEH
REEAZENAB(AERZEE )
UEHBRERNEENRKERE
M- femis SRl AR EA s
A i - BAERT BN B RMA
Bt THERAER > XHR_FRF
T—ARAER  EZRRERET S
NS IR IE G - EBRRERT 8 1%
HTOBRT » ARREZR/AREER
SEERBBRIEAZBEARBRN, o

EABARRIRESEHMAENBZRT
AR 9 B AR 5T 81 AT AE A W5 9% 1 1 B AR
BB B0 B BT S HBB AR R IRA
B EID ZITADE10% » S4b - BT
FEREBERETEI ARG bR
AE R IR H B AR ITE R 22 R ITE
IR AT RE R ITR R D R e A TS
FRIBA QN BN 2 BEBITAIRAS0% © fin
B—ZEBREIIB T IFITE Fk(T
A ES AN AR L ERENTE
AEZE R AR L BHI12(8 B HEE5
AR EUERIRFER B 1 TH50.1% K 48
BEABZAE L ERELNEH
RMERMMARTRGRTEBEE)
B 185,000,0007 7T + HAEERBRE KX
g FESIREALE
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The following share options were outstanding under the

RAFEE - BT 8IE T HARTTED

Share Option Scheme during the year: BN
2024 2024 2023 2023
ZE-ME “BIRE e g3 ZEC=F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price Number of  exercise price Number of
(HKS per share) options  (HK$ per share) options
I EF
T8 1B
(Bk#Er) BREZE (BRET) RS B
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET

At 1 January R—A—H 0.922 30,000,000 - -

Granted during the year (note (a)) ML (M) - - 0.922 30,000,000

At 31 December Rt=ZA=+—8 0.922 30,000,000 0922 30,000,000

Note: Bfat -

@ 30,000,000 share options were granted to a employee of (@) 30,000,000 7 f& B% # 2 1R 1% 8 iR
the Company with 1 year vesting period on 28 April 2023 BFER T =FNHA=+N\H
under the Share Option Scheme with an original exercise RTARE—%EE  BHESHA—
price of HK$0.922 per share. The fair value of the share F - RITRERSTR0.922FTT &
options granted during the year ended 31 December 2023 E-T-=F+RA=+—HIF
was HK$9,709,000 (HK$0.3236 each), HK$3,130,000 was 4% B IR 2 A {8 489,709,000
recognised as a share option expense in profit or loss during T (F190.32367%7T) 3,130,000
the year (2023: HK$6,579,000). PEITE R F N ER A MR ER

F(ZZT==% : 6,579,000/7T) °
The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted FARBz AEEEEREZ A
during the year was estimated as at the date of grant using FEIAEL B BRFER = XEER
the Binimial Tree model, taking into account the terms 8 - W R R 2 R
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The &M - NRYILATAER A A
following table lists the inputs to the model used: e
2023
—E-=F
Dividend yield (%) A% B a2 (%) 0%
Expected volatility (%) TE B 18 (%) 52.63%
Risk-free interest rate (%) 42 [ B ) 2R (%) 3.21%
Expected life of options (year) FEARETRERF HA(5F) 3
Forfeiture rate LIS 0%
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(@)

(continued)

The expected life of the options is the time to maturity of
the options granted under the Share Option Scheme. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Company had
30,000,000 share options outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme with weighted average exercise price of
HK$0.922 per share. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure of
the Company, result in the issue of 30,000,000 additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital
of HK$27,660,000 before any issue expenses and without
taking into account any transfer of the share option reserve
to the share capital account.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
share options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme
represented approximately 0.9% of the Company’s shares
in issue as at that date.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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34. MEEx#ERIRI(HE)

@)

(&)

BRERRF A AREERES
REBRE 2SI - BEDR
fERER T ELIKEE R ARKBER
BRE > MARBEFT—ERER
R

AEATERBEINALMERH
BhEnSE -

R-ZBE-_MER-_T-_=F+_"A#
=+—08  ARAIRIEERETS
75 30,000,000 i A 17 150 s A e -
I 1T (E /B AR0.9228 T -
BEADBMBEITRAER - BH
TEMARITEERESESRARAR
%8 9% 77 30,000,000 A% 3 38 A% K 28
AN AN 27,660,0007% 7T (A $0BR AE 7]
B1TH S BN AT M A A B B R
EY ZN

RILEZ ST BREAY - B
SRR TR ARITENBRBEARR
AR % A B ETARD490.9% -
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The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current year and the prior
year are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

Capital reserve mainly arose from (i) deemed
contributions from non-controlling shareholders of the
Company as a result of certain liabilities of the Group
being waived by two shareholders of the Company in
prior year; and (i) the difference between the amount
by which the non-controlling interests acquired and
the cost of acquisition (fair value of consideration
paid).

Merger reserve represented the difference between
(i) the amounts at which the assets and liabilities
are recorded under a business combination under
common control, net of any reserves of the acquired
entities; and (ii) the cost of acquisition (fair value of
consideration paid).

The PRC statutory reserve is the reserve set aside
in accordance with the PRC Companies Law as
applicable to the Group’s subsidiaries established in
Mainland China. None of the Group’s PRC statutory
reserve as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was
distributable in the form of cash dividends.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
i 3% SRR B aE

31 December 2024 —ZE—piE+—-F=+—H

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 36.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HaRaRERME

During the year, as disclosed in note 15(c) to the
financial statements, the Group transferred certain
properties from properties held for sale to investment
properties upon inception of operating leases
arrangement.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, as
disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements, the
Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities of HK$275,000 in respect of lease
arrangements for office premises.

During the year, as disclosed in notes 30(d)(iii) and
30(e)(), waiver of certain interest payables has been
granted by the lenders.

Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other
major non-cash transactions of investing and
financing activities during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

RAFE - B mERMITE15()
FrigeE - AEBNEERELHE
FIRR S T ERFELED
EEBEREYE -

HE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—H
IEFE - AR M 16ATH
B OAEERBAEMENEE

THRIERSEINERAREER
FHEAE275,000/8 7T °

AN E - 2 B 5 30(d)(ii) &
30(e)()PrEE - ERADHRE
ETRNAME -

bR LI FT R FRE AN - NEENE
EZTNFRZTE=FF=
A=+—HBIEFEWEELAMNE
é&ﬂﬁé@@ EITHEZE IR
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Balances with

related Bank and
parties and other
a shareholder* borrowings
BEIR—& RITR
[ E HAhE
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TFET
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=F—H—H 35,279 2,328,510
Changes from financing cash flows R &R &%= & (47,421) 183,786
Interest expense FEFRX - 145,867
Modification of financial liabilities TREEEFT
(notes 30(d)(i), 30(e)(ii) (B13£30(a)() ~ 30(e)(ii)) - (14,734)
New lease (note 16) SHREE16) - 275
Exchange realignment b 5 AR 11,073 7,124
At 31 December 2023 and R -=F
1 January 2024 +=—A=+—HK
—EUF—H—H (1,069) 2,650,828
Changes from financing cash flows B &IR &R EEE) (46,034) (154,637)
Interest expense AERY - 152,510
Early termination of lease contract HEADRAKRIE
(note 16) (K15t 16) - (335)
Exchange realignment ME 5 (1,126) (42,880)
At 31 December 2024 R _PUF
+=—A=+—H (48,229) 2,605,486

Due to related parties and a shareholder are

included in other payables and accruals in note 29

to the financial statements.
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36.

37.

38.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 36. FEH&NERMEE)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(continued)
The total cash outflow for leases within financing SFAREEGZARSRERA
activities included in the consolidated statement of BEHANBEER SR &%
cash flows is HK$1,679,000 during the year (2023: 1,679,000 L (ZE =4 :
HK$1,861,000) (note 16(b)). 1,861,000 7T) (M5t 16(0)) ©
CONTINGENT LIABILITY 37. BRAR
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any R-ZZE-_WMF+-_A=+—8 ' &%
significant contingent liabilities (2023: Nil). EmREMEARREE (T _=4F:
7)o
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 38. BEXKIE
The Group had the following capital commitments as at the RBEER - AEBEL AT E A K
end of the reporting period: B
2024 2023
—E-E TE=4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Contracted, but not provided for: BERTAVERETIR A -
Construction in progress for WEMERREEE
an investment property 59,439 70,301
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The Group had the following material transactions
with related parties during the year:

REBHEARTEHEUNTEAR
5

2024 2023
b 2 T
Company name Nature of transactions Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
NRER XHME Wizt FET 8T
Directors - controlled
entities:
EEEHIER
Guorui Property Property management fee income (i) 17,979 25,814
Development
B850 55 1 = e 3 MEEBEWA
Heat supply and maintenance fee (i) 321 1,763
income
iR REBBRA
Car park management fee income (i) 322 2,843
FESERBRA
Service fee (iif - 77
PR %
Beijing Guolong Property management fee income (i) 776 1,621
bR MEEBEIA
Heat supply and maintenance fee (i) 666 1,466
income
IR LB ERA
Gang Rui Interest paid and payable 7, 30(c) 1,623 1,624
g B REMHE
IREH/ N EER Interest paid and payable 7,30(d)i) 509 -
YN B RERFE
Rental income (il - 767
MaBA
Vendors Interest paid and payable 7,31 2,555 2,227
(as defined in note 31(a))
E7 (EERME31() B RERFE
Beijing Zhonghe Hongrun Financial guarantee income 29(b)(i) 95 -
bR A 6 I ERIEA
Interest paid and payable 30(dfii) 1,990 2,017
B RERFE
ERBBEBM B ER Rental income (il - 868

BRRA

HEBA

GR LIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024




39. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(continued)

(continued)

Notes:

M

(i)

(i)

The Group provides property management services
to landlords of certain properties managed by the
Group, in which two directors of the Company
have beneficial interests. In return, the Group
receives property management service fees, heat
supply and maintenance service fees and car park
management service fees which were charged at
rates mutually agreed between the Group and the
landlords. During the year, the total fees received
by the Group from landlords in respect of these
services amounted to HK$20,064,000 (2023:
HK$33,407,000). These related party transactions
constitute continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, rental
income was charged to these related parties for
the lease of office premises at RMB1,480,000
(equivalent to HK$1,635,000) on a mutually agreed
basis, which, in the opinion of the directors,
approximated to market rates. This related party
transaction constitutes an exempted continuing
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, service
fee was charged to this related party for the
provision of rental related services at RMB66,000
(equivalent to HK$77,000) on a mutually agreed
basis, which, in the opinion of the directors,
approximated to market rates. This related party
transaction constitutes an exempted continuing
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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=+—BLFE  HelA
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39. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(continued)

Save as disclosed above and the balances detailed
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had
no other material outstanding balances with related
parties as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Key management personnel of the Group are
directors of the Company, whose emoluments are
included in note 9 to the financial statements.

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

Other than equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss as disclosed at notes 18 and 24 to the
financial statements, all financial assets and liabilities of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were financial
assets and financial liabilities stated at amortised cost,
respectively.
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The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments as
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 approximated to their fair
values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and lease
receivables, trade payables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables and other
assets, due to related parties, financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals and the current portion of bank
and other borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of the
Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2024 and
2023 were assessed to be insignificant. The fair value of the
liability portion of the perpetual convertible bonds is estimated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using an
equivalent market interest rate for a similar convertible bond
with consideration of the Group’s own non-performance risk.
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41. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2023

4. EMIANLIFERLFE
Bi#& (&)

TRERAKESRIANATFHENE
B -

BAVEFENEE
R-ZBZ=5+"A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ATEHERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
NG IR BATUER  EATTEE
BB BAE BAE
€] (B=H) (E=H) @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FET FET
Equity investment at fair value A FEFF AR M2 E KRN
through other comprehensive &R 4
income 18,117 - - 18,117
Aprincipal-protected investment  RAFET ABERARAZE
deposit at fair value through PEE N
profit or loss - 11,261 - 11,261

The details of the valuation technique and the inputs used
in the fair value measurement of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss have been disclosed in note 24 to the
financial statement.

During the year, there was no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2023: Nil).
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42,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and bank balances, equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income, financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss, bank and other borrowings and
perpetual convertible bonds. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade and lease receivables, deposits and other receivables,
trade payables, other payables, receipts in advance and
amounts due from/(to) related parties.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below:

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rates. Since HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group
does not have significant foreign exchange risk in respect of
its operations in the USA. However, owing to its significant
investments and operations in Mainland China and the UK,
the Group’s financial position and operating performance
can be affected significantly by movements in the RMB/HK$
and £/HK$ exchange rates.
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TRAANRE P REMEHREFT
g MARBREFERHRSIEA
MREIRBRT » NREEBADEN (EE
BARBREETENSRTE)HK

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the RMB and £ exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (arising from RMB

and £ denominated financial instruments). YRR ©
Increase/

(decrease) (Increase)/ (Increase)/
in foreign decrease decrease
exchange in loss in loss

rate before tax before tax
SN RE = BATE R HADE A
EH(TR)  (8Mm), "W g,/ #m
2024 2023
—EC-NE B
% HK$’000 HK$'000
% FET FET
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-—E-mE
+ZA=+—-HLEE
If HK$ weakens against RMB WEBTHARBEE 5 (14,871) (43,077)
If HK$ strengthens against RMB HEBTHAREHE (5) 14,871 43,077
If HK$ weakens against £ WEBTH AT E 5 (28,048) (31,134)
If HK$ strengthens against £ HEBTHLESEE (5) 28,048 31,134

ERREREAREER X5 )7 sEREE
BITRENMEEERE W KEE W
BIZEEMEL - AEBBREKRE
RGYTETR G RHEERPETE
REE - BERRBRERE I -
AEETEREMERE S LHEERRZ
A YO & BE DA RE AR 54N AU B 2 BE AT HR
REBEEERE - AEETFEEKXR
S {EAERARE®E -

Credit risk arises from the potential failure of the Group’s
counterparties to meet their obligations under property
management service agreements and rental agreements.
Credit risk exposure is minimised by undertaking transactions
with a large number of counterparties and conducting credit
reviews on prospective tenants. In addition, the Group
regularly reviews the recoverable amount of trade and lease
receivables to ensure that adequate provision for impairment
losses is made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group has no
significant concentrations of credit risk.
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With respect to credit risk arising from other financial
assets of the Group, which mainly comprise cash and bank
balances and other receivables, the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments.

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December 2024 and
2023. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
of financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the
financial guarantee contracts.

As at 31 December 2024
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AEEEMEREETEBRRE LR
TTREBRREMEWTR - AEEBRRZ
FeREENERARREARRZE T
ER > KRR OSNZEFTANRK
[Ei=0

TRINRENAEEEEERNEEE
ERFTEENEREERR - TEER
MEER (BRIEEMERAEBATE
TR ERASIEDHER T ES) KRR
TECNFER_E=F+A=+—
BRFREBBEDIE - IZPINESEA
SREBENREAENMMBEEREAN
EERERE -

R-EB-_NFE+-A=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
TZEARS
REFSE REREHEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-Ea 1 E=RE fBith% &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fér Fér Fér Fér AT
Trade and lease receivables EWES LEERN - - - 145,641 145,641
Financial assets included in STABRFE i1 REMEY
prepayments, deposits and other  FUBRISRIEE
receivables 320,136 - - - 320,136
Restricted cash TRERS 118,155 - - - 118,155
Cash and cash equivalents, notyet ~ B4 RHESZEN(HkmH)
past due 193,151 - - - 193,151
Guarantees given to banks in R RRTREEERIL RPN
connection with facilities granted EEERRRDRNBENER
to and drawn by BOEG and Beljing ~ SRATIRMAER — WK BE
Zhonghe Hongrun - Not yet past due 950,283 - - - 950,283
1,581,725 - - 145641 1,727,366
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

BA 35 M B% E 12 H IR R B3R
(%)

R-EB-_=F+=ZHA=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
AR %S
FEEB FEEEBEERS
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-& FoRE FlRE BRE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT AT
Trade and lease receivables e E 5 R ERRaT - - - 170,033 170,033
Financial assets included in SABMTE - i REfEY
prepayments, deposits and FENSREE
other receivables 180,160 - - - 180,160
Restricted cash ZRHRS 184,693 - - - 184,693
Cash and cash equivalents, notyet R4 KR ZEN(HABH)
past due 305,556 - - - 305,556
Guarantess given to banks in P RETRBEEER TN
connection with faciliies grantedto B &M 5 ARITIREMER -
and drawn by BCEG - Not yet past (&
due 1,145,343 - - - 1,145,343
1,815,752 - - 170083 1985785

For trade and lease receivables to which the Group applies
the simplified approach for impairment, information is
disclosed in note 21 to the financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables are not past
due and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise amounts due from related parties and other
receivables, financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss and cash and bank balances, arises from default of
the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these instruments.
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In light of the future business expansion of the Group, the
Group ensures that it maintains sufficient cash and credit
lines to meet its liquidity requirements and the estimated
future construction cost of the development of a parcel
of land in Culver City, the USA. The Group’s objective is
to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and
flexibility through cash receipts from the issue of shares, as
well as the strict control over its daily operating expenses.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, proceeds
from a share placement obtained, capital contributed by
shareholders and financing from a shareholder and related
parties by means of cash during the prior year and the
current year to finance certain of the abovementioned
planned development. Accordingly, the Group expects to
have adequate sources of funding to finance the Group’s
operations and manage its liquidity position.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
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ENARBEARREBIDRE - AEBEER
HgRemmR e NEE - heHR
T2 BFRIARIGEERAR - REEHE
128 BT P URER 3R £ A S B,
IRIEHIE BB 5 SARKT RV 0055
BUHRBEENTE  ARFEER
A REEFERAFRERDECEME
FTSF0R ~ BT E K — R BCR M B
TRBREHANETHRESRET L
AMETEIRBREHRES - Bt - AEEE
HiBed RHE S KRARTAEERL
EEBGHTESRERERDESM
DL e

RIEHR - BBERCHTIRAE B
7 AEESFAGERN I BERAR N
T

On demand
or within Over
1year 1-5years 5 years Total
RERY
—FHUR —ZRE BBRBEF &&t
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2024 R-B-NF
+t=A=t+—-H
Trade payables & B 5500R 55,253 15,763 - 71,016
Other payables (excluding financial Hih e (T e3E
guarantee contracts) MBRREL) 289,661 - - 289,661
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER
(excluding lease liabilities) (TBEREEE) 700,404 - - 700,404
Lease liabilities MEaE 577 956 - 1,533
Liability component of perpetual KXARHIRESH
convertible bonds BEBD - - 59,003 59,003
Guarantees given to banks in I RBRIREEER
connection with facilities granted IR AR BERE
to BCEG and Beijing Zhonghe BETN S MR TR M
Hongrun HIHE(R 950,283 - - 950,283
1,996,178 16,719 59,003 2,071,900
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31 December 2024

— =

—EomE+—A=1+—H

On demand
or within Over
1 year 1-5 years 5 years Total
BEK,
—F LA —EREF HBHE =5
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2023 N-B-=F
+=ZB=+-H
Trade payables B SER 63,104 4,159 - 67,263
Other payables (excluding financial Hi AR (I eE
guarantee contracts) BEREEREH) 219,389 - - 219,389
Bank and other borrowings RITREALETR
(excluding lease liabilities) (TBEREEE) 926,731 1,097,807 1,269,665 3,294,203
Lease liabilities HE&ERE 1,875 1,687 - 3,562
Liability component of perpetual KA EFNAE
convertible bonds B - - 59,003 59,003
Guarantees given to banks in T REIREEEE
connection with facilities granted ERBLE M S MRTT
to BCEG REEER 1,145,343 - - 1,145,343
2,356,442 1,103,653 1,328,668 4,788,763

The primary objectives of the Group’ s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 42. MERRTEARRKE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#8)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is AREBEREERRBH RERER o« &
net debt divided by the adjusted capital. The Group’s policy is EREL R IRERFER AR ARG
to maintain a healthy ratio. Net debt includes bank and other KETE o REBMIE S EHISEBEN
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes LR o BB EAaERTREMES
liability component of perpetual convertible bonds and equity WEHLRIELEEY o BRBIEXKA
attributable to shareholders of the Company. The gearing AL (E A B E I D R AN T I8 fE
ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows: 1HREZS - RIBEHIRMEEAGBHL R
T
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$000
TET 7T
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EMBERK 2,605,486 2,650,828
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERIREEEY (193,151) (305,556)
Net debt BERFER 2,412,335 2,345,272

Equity attributable to shareholders A BIARFFE(G#ERS

of the Company 2,131,809 3,102,292
Liability component of perpetual KA ESHH

convertible bonds BEHD 47,838 45,283
Adjusted capital 4RI ELE N 2,179,647 3,147,575
Gearing ratio BEAEE 110.7% 74.5%
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43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD

(i) In January and February 2025, the Group has
obtained shareholder’s loans from Mr. Wei with
an aggregate amount of £16,000,000, which are
unsecured, bears an interest at Sterling Overnight
Index Average (“SONIA”) plus 2.15% per annum, and
repayable in 2027.

(ii) In January and February 2025, in view of the non-
compliance of financial covenant as detailed in note
30(a) to the financial statements, the Group has early
repaid part of the bank loan of £10,000,000 and
placed a deposit of £10,000,000 in a designated
cure account of the bank. Consent waiver of non-
compliance with aforesaid financial covenant has
been received by the Group on 28 March 2025.

(iii) On 25 February 2025, following a conversion notice
received from a convertible bondholder for convertible
bonds of a principal amount of HK$16,000,000,
the Company allotted and issued 20,000,000
convertible shares to such convertible bondholder at
a conversion price of HK$0.80 per share.

44. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS
Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation and disclosures.
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Information about the statement of financial position of the

— = —

=

31 December 2024

HFEF+=H=+—H

BRAARRINIREHROMBAR KA

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BERT
2024 2023
—E-UE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEIT FETL
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB K& 6 321
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 1,166
Interests in subsidiaries RETB R AR 1,125,213 1,125,304
Due from subsidiaries FEURH B N Al B 180,490 180,490
Equity investment at fair value BAVEETAEMEE
through other comprehensive Wan s &
income - 18,117
Total non-current assets EMBNVE EERR 1,305,709 1,325,398
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Loans to subsidiaries REFHBRFINER 456,388 454,284
Due from subsidiaries U B A B FIE 319,026 837,103
Prepayments, deposits and other TERFIE ~ AT R EHA
receivables FEW FkTE 1,897 2,221
Cash and cash equivalents He RESEEY 18,745 76,182
Total current assets MEE EARRE 796,056 1,369,790
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Other payables and accruals EA B R TARE R 2,493 972
Due to a shareholder B — R REFTE 1,354 1,374
Due to a subsidiary FERH B A R FUE 29,859 318
Other borrowings EfbfEmR - 1,123
Total current liabilities mE B EERE 33,706 3,787
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFHE 762,350 1,366,003
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT ¥ EMAERAEEE
LIABILITIES 2,068,059 2,691,401
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2024 2023
—EBoNEF —Eo=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Due to subsidiaries FE B AT FRIA 1,177 30,730
Other borrowings Hub g 90,752 89,274
Liability component of perpetual KA R HRE A
convertible bonds aEHLD 47,838 46,823
Total non-current liabilities JEmEBERRE 139,767 166,827
Net assets BEF5E 1,928,292 2,624 574
EQUITY s
Share capital A&7 3,152,571 3,152,571
Equity component of perpetual KA R HRE A
convertible bonds D 1,172,244 1,172,244
Reserves (note) () (2,396,523) (1,800,241)
Total equity HEmAREE 1,928,292 2,524,574

Wei Chunxian

e

Director

EF
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Sun Zhongmin

BRR

Director

EF



45.

46.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ¥ #RaR Bt 5E

31 December 2024 —ZE—piE+—-F=+—H

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 45. FLATIHHBRARE)

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

MEE . ARRVEEMELT

Share
Capital option Investment  Accumulated
reserve reserve reserve losses Total
EXfHE BRERE RERE 2itER fit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 R-Z-=%5-F-A (625,498) - - (1240249 (1,865,747)
Proft for the year REEET - - - 60,938 60,938
Other comprehensive loss for the year:  AEFE M2 RS :
Change in fair value of equity BATES AR 2K
investment at fair value through EERENATEZY
other comprehensive income - - (2,011) - (2,011)
Total comprehensive income/(oss) AT F2EME /(B4
for the year - - (2,011) 60,938 58,927
Equity-settled share option arrangement b2 AZREEREZ 5
(note 34) (Hi#34) - 6,579 - - 6,579
At 31 December 2023 and R-E-=F+-A=t-ARk
1 January 2024 —E-mE-A-A (625,498) 6,579 011)  (,179311)  (1,800,241)
Loss for the year TEEBR - - - (601,342) (601,342)
Other comprehensive income TEEEMRENE :
for the year:
Change in fair value of equity BATE AR B2 AL
investment at fair value through BERRENATER
other comprehensive income - - 1,930 - 1,930
Total comprehensive income/(loss)  AFE2 AN/ (BE)BEA
for the year B - - 1,930 (601,342) (599,412)
Transfer of investment revaluation HERATEFALML2E
reserve upon disposal of equity WakER Ak ERTE
investment at fair value through EftfiE
other comprehensive income - - 81 (81) -
Equity-settled share option arrangement b IiE AZ R 8 ERE L B
(note 34) (His#54) - 3,130 - - 3,130
A 31 December 2024 RoZ-mE+-A=+-R (625,498) 9,709 - (1,780,734 (2,396,523
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 46. MBEmTAOHL
STATEMENTS

These financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2025.

ZEMBHRERN _E_AF=A=+—
HEEERUEREETIE -
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Location

i B

Use

ke

Lease term

HEHY

Attributable
interest of the
Group

EER
AEBERER

Completed investment properties

EEMRENE

Juxon House

100 St Pauls Churchyard
London, EC4M 8BU

the United Kingdom

Portion of Building

No. 2 of Kingdom Guorui

No. 1 Ronghua South Road
Beijing Economic Technological
Development Area

Beijing

the PRC

FEE R

BRI R

ERER K196

BlfH o« ©TEAE2IIENF S

2300-2320 Wilshire Blvd.
Santa Monica

CA 90403

the USA

Investment properties under construction

EEPRENE

10375 Washington
Redevelopment Site

10375 Washington Boulevard
Culver City, Los Angeles Country
CA 90232

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

EES

Residential/
Commercial
(ERV

Residential/
Commercial

(ER=VSES

GR LIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Long term lease
REIEL

Medium term lease

FEAREAY

Not applicable
NiE R

Not Applicable
NEm

100%

100%

100%

100%



A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and total equity 22 [E38 % A @ BEE &t A O TR N ER
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the  REEZIABRERNESE - BE - BENERS
published annual report and audited financial statements, is set out ~ AETEYMEW T :

below:
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—BomE T oo T ZTTFF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FErT
Revenue g A 310,017 352,640 352,276 331,335 322,026
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR REERR (BE)
THE YEAR (919,344)  (129.307) (320,126) 208,427 680
Attributable to: FEBR
Shareholders of the Company RAFIRE (918,501)  (129,307)  (320,126) 207,625 552
Non-controlling interests FHIEARE S (843) - - 802 128

(919,344)  (129,307)  (320,126) 208,427 680

FHH 2024 EHEFRRAT



2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

—EoNE —To=fF —FTo-fF T4 —T-FF

HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000

FET FET FET FET TET

Total assets BELEHE 5,423,471 6,412,623 6,240,058 6,894,934 6,702,004

Total liabilities BiEEHE (3,290,961) (3,310,331) (2,991,429) (3,031,360) (3,112,688)
NET ASSETS BEEFE 2,132,510 3,102,292 3,248,629 3,863,574 3,589,316

Equity attributable to: FENA TS8R

Shareholders of the Company Z/NET[ 3 2,131,809 3,102,292 3,248,629 3,863,574 3,565,947
Non-controlling interests FEIE R 701 - - - 23,369
TOTAL EQUITY Emat 2,132,510 3,102,292 3,248,629 3,863,574 3,589,316

GR LIFE STYLE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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